
 

 

 
 

 
 

Planning Committee 
Agenda 
 

 
Wyre Borough Council 

Date of Publication: 27 October 2021 
Please ask for : Daphne Courtenage 

Assistant Democratic Services Officer 
Tel: 01253 887476  

 

Planning Committee meeting on Wednesday, 3 November 2021 at 2.00 
pm in the Council Chamber - Civic Centre, Poulton-le-Fylde 
 

1.   Apologies for absence 
 

 

2.   Declarations of interest 
 

 

 Members will disclose any pecuniary and any other significant interests 
they may have in relation to the matters under consideration.  
 

 

3.   Confirmation of minutes 
 

 

 To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the Planning Committee 
meeting held on 06 October 2021 (already circulated by email). 
 

 

4.   Appeals 
 

(Pages 3 - 14) 

 The Schedule of Appeals lodged and decided between 15 September 
2021 – 15 October 2021, is attached. 
 

 

5.   Planning applications 
 

 

 Background Papers:  
In preparing the reports on this agenda the following documents have 
been used:  
 
1. The Wyre Borough Local Plan (2011-2031) 
2. Draft Revised Joint Lancashire Minerals and Waste Local Plan 
3. Joint Lancashire Minerals and Waste Local Plan 
4. Statements of Government Policy/guidance (NPPF, NPPG, 

Ministerial Statements etc.) 
5. Supplementary Planning Guidance and evidence base 

documents specifically referred to in the reports 
6. The application file (as per the number at the head of each 

report) 
7. The forms, plans, committee reports and decisions as 

 

Public Document Pack



 

 

appropriate for the historic applications specifically referred to in 
the reports 

8. Any additional information specifically referred to in each report. 
 

These background documents are available on line, or for inspection 
by a written request to Planning Services, Civic Centre, Breck Road, 
Poulton-le-Fylde, FY6 7PU. 
 
Reports of the Head of Planning Services on planning 
applications to be determined at this meeting: 
 

 (a)   Application A - Former Movern Care Home Centre 
(21/00502/FULMAJ)  
Change of use of former residential care home (Use 
Class C2) to create 29 self-contained residential 
apartments (Use Class C3) with external alterations and 
the provision of associated carpark following the 
demolition of existing bungalow. 
 

(Pages 15 - 32) 

 (b)   Application B - 34-37 High Street Garstang 
(21/00940/FUL)  
Conversion of first floor of supermarket (E) to form five 
residential apartments (C3), with insertion of new 
windows, and repositioning of external staircase and 
enclosure of roof top (resubmission of 21/00113/FUL). 
 

(Pages 33 - 52) 

 (c)   Application C - 43 Hathaway Road Fleetwood 
(21/00881/FUL)  
Application for the retention of first floor balcony, with 
alterations to existing first floor fenestration and 
balustrade. 
 

(Pages 53 - 60) 

6.   Tree Preservation Order 
 

(Pages 61 - 
126) 

 The Corporate Director Environment has submitted a report regarding 
objections to the making of Wyre Council Tree Preservation Order No5 
of 2021: Land to the north east of The Iron Horse Public House, 
Fleetwood Road North, Thornton Cleveleys, FY5 4LH. 
 

 

PLEASE NOTE: 

Transport for members of the committee will leave the Civic Centre, for 

the 4 site visits, at 10.15am. 
 
 



Appeals lodged and decided 
 

Appeals Lodged between – 15th September – 15th October 2021 
 

Application 
Number 

Location Proposal Com/Del 
decision 

Appeal Type Date Lodged 

21/00733/PIP Land At Catterall Lane 
Catterall 
PR3 0PA 

Permission in principle application 
for the erection of one detached 

dwelling (C3) 

Del Written representations 30.09.2021 

21/00041/FUL Land North Of New Lane And West 
Of Rose Cottage 

New Lane 
Eagland Hill 

Pilling 
PR3 6BA 

Erection of two holiday cottages 
(resubmission of 20/00030/FUL) 

Del Written representations 28.09.2021 

20/00092/OUTMAJ Craiglands 
Hillylaid Road 

Thornton Cleveleys 
Lancashire 
FY5 4EB 

Outline application for the demolition 
of existing dwelling and erection of 

33 apartments for over 55's, 
including ancillary accommodation 
and parking with details of access, 

appearance, layout and scale 
included. 

Com Written representations 24.09.2021 

 

Appeals Decided between – 15th September – 15th October 2021 
 

Application 
Number 

Location Proposal Com/Del 
decision 

Decision Date Decided 

20/00771/FUL 178 Victoria Road West 
Thornton Cleveleys 

Lancashire 
FY5 3NE 

Variation of condition 4 on app: 18/00564/FUL on the 
opening times to Monday - Saturday 08.00am - 01.00am 

Sunday and Public holidays 08.00am - 00.00am 
(midnight) 

Del Dismissed 06.10.2021 

20/01176/FULMAJ Caravan Storage Solutions 
At Camberley Farm 

Union Lane 
Out Rawcliffe 

PR3 6SS 

Change of use of land to form extension to existing 
caravan storage yard (B8) (resubmission of 

20/00530/FULMAJ) 

Del Dismissed 15.10.2021 

 

P
age 3

A
genda Item

 4



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 9 September 2021 

by C McDonagh BA (Hons) MA MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State 

Decision date: 6 October 2021 

 
Appeal Ref: APP/U2370/W/21/3275141 

178 Victoria Road West, Thornton-Cleveleys FY5 3NE 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission under section 73 of the Town and 

Country Planning Act 1990 for the development of land without complying with 

conditions subject to which a previous planning permission was granted. 

• The appeal is made by Mr Gokhan Akcay against the decision of Wyre Borough Council. 

• The application Ref 20/00771/FUL, dated 5 August 2020, was refused by notice dated   

2 November 2020. 

• The application sought planning permission for the ‘variation of condition 5 of planning 

consent 16/00314/FUL to Monday to Saturday opening hours 08.00 to 00.00; Sunday, 

Public and Bank Holidays 8.00 to 23.00 with no deliveries on any day after 23.00’ 

without complying with a condition attached to planning permission Ref 18/00564/FUL, 

dated 28 September 2018. 

• The condition in dispute is No4 which states that ‘The uses hereby permitted shall not 

operate outside the hours of - Monday to Saturday opening hours 08.00 to 00.00, 

Sunday, Public and Bank Holidays 08.00 to 23.00.’ 

• The reason given for the condition is ‘In the interests of the amenity of occupiers of 

neighbouring and nearby residential properties in accordance with Policy SP14 of the 

adopted Wyre Borough Local Plan (July 1999).’ 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed.  

Preliminary Matters  

2. During the course of the appeal, the revised National Planning Policy 
Framework (July 2021) (the Framework) was published. Parties were provided 

with an opportunity to comment on the relevance of this, and I have taken any 
subsequent comments received into account in my determination of this 
appeal. 

Main Issue 

3. The main issue is whether the condition is reasonable and necessary in the 

interests of the living conditions of nearby residents, with particular regard to 
noise and disturbance.  

Reasons 

4. The appeal site is a ground floor commercial unit located in a terrace consisting 
of other business uses with residential properties above. Behind the host 

terrace is a residential street, Stanley Avenue, while the area in general 
comprises a mix of commercial and residential uses. The proposal seeks to 

Page 5

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/U2370/W/21/3275141 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

extend the opening hours of the takeaway by 1 hour each night over those 

times approved in planning application 18/00564/FUL.  

5. The variation to opening hours would result in additional noise and disturbance 

to occupiers of nearby residential properties. This would be caused by 
conversational noise of customers and staff, comings and goings, extraction 
equipment and vehicular noise of engines revving and doors opening and 

closing. This would be at a time when residents could reasonably expect a 
degree of peace and quiet.  

6. While I appreciate the result of altering the condition would not result in a long 
extension to opening hours and thus noise later into the night, the Council 
states the existing opening times align with similar establishments in the area. 

Although the appellant advises other takeaways operate to 2am, this appears 
to be contrary to their respective planning permissions. This would be a matter 

for the Council to address rather than in the context of this appeal.  

7. A nearby pub was granted planning permission1 to allow later opening hours 
than those proposed in this appeal. I have no further information on this, 

although this appears to have been granted some time ago prior to the 
adoption of the current development plan. In any event, from my observations 

on the site visit the pub does not appear to have residential properties above 
and as such I would not consider this approval justification to allow the harm I 
have identified. Each proposal is assessed on its own merits.   

8. I have had regard to the submitted noise assessment (Noise Control Solutions 
Limited), which concludes the noise levels associated with the additional hour 

of operation would be acceptable. However, I note that Noise Sensitive 
Receptor Location 1 (NSRL1) was set up some 25m from the source of noise on 
the opposite side of the road. While this shows these properties would likely be 

unaffected by the proposal, I am uncertain as to the noise levels that would be 
experienced by the properties on the first floor of the host terrace which would 

be the closest noise sensitive receptors. There is disagreement between the 
parties as to whether these are inhabited, and I have no convincing evidence 
either way. However, I have considered the noise levels on the basis that these 

units are currently or could be occupied be in the future.  

9. Moreover, NSRL2 was located to the rear of the takeaway close to the 

boundary with No.2 Stanley Avenue. However, the report identifies the ambient 
sound level measurement is dominated by noise from the kitchen extraction 
system from the appellant’s business. This level is given as 55.3dB(A), which 

drops to 46.3dB(A) in residual sound levels when influence from the takeaway 
is removed from the calculation. As such, this 9dB(A) increase is considered to 

be significant for the additional hour that the extraction equipment would be in 
operation.  

10. While mitigation measures are proposed to protect living conditions of nearby 
residents, most of these would be reliant on the considerate conduct of staff. 
Many of these requirements are imprecise and attempted compliance would be 

unlikely. Moreover, there would be no means of regulating noise from 
customers. These measures would therefore be difficult for the Council to 

enforce and regulate and I am unconvinced these would mitigate the harm to 
living conditions the variation to the condition would cause. 

 
1 13/00729/FUL 

Page 6

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/U2370/W/21/3275141 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

11. I therefore conclude that the control on opening hours imposed by condition 4 

is necessary and reasonable to prevent unacceptable harm to the living 
conditions of nearby residents arising from noise and disturbance and ensure 

that the approved scheme complies with policies CDMP1 and CDMP3 of the 
Wyre Borough Local Plan (adopted February 2019). These seek, among other 
aims, to ensure development will be compatible with adjacent existing uses or 

uses proposed in this plan and it would not lead to significant adverse effects 
on amenity. This would also ensure compliance with the aims of the Framework 

in paragraph 130 which seeks to ensure a high standard of amenity for existing 
and future users of development.  

Other Matters  

12. I acknowledge the appellants’ concerns over the Council’s handling of the 
application. These are however administrative matters that need to be 

addressed directly with the Council. I have had regard to the planning merits of 
the scheme in my determination of the appeal. In addition, the additional 
opening hours would be of benefit to the owner and their business, but this 

would not outweigh the harm to occupiers of nearby properties with regards to 
their living conditions. 

 
Conclusion  

13. For the reasons given above I conclude that the conditions are reasonable and 

necessary. Further, they ensure the development would accord with the 
policies I have cited. The appeal should therefore be dismissed. 

 

C McDonagh 

INSPECTOR 

 

 

Page 7

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 

 

Appeal Decision 
Site visit made on 9 September 2021 

by C McDonagh BA (Hons) MA MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State 

Decision date: 15 October 2021 

 

Appeal Ref: APP/U2370/W/21/3275045 
Camberley Farm, Union Lane, Out Rawcliffe PR3 6SS 

• The appeal is made under section 78 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

against a refusal to grant planning permission. 

• The appeal is made by Mrs Harrison against the decision of Wyre Borough Council. 

• The application Ref 20/01176/FULMAJ, dated 24 November 2020, was refused by notice 

dated 30 March 2021. 

• The development proposed is change of use of land to form extension to existing 

caravan storage yard (B8). 
 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed.  

Application for costs 

2. An application for costs was made by Mrs Harrison against Wyre Borough 

Council. This application is the subject of a separate Decision. 

Preliminary Matters  

3. During the course of the appeal, the revised National Planning Policy 
Framework (July 2021) (the Framework) was published. Parties were provided 
with an opportunity to comment on the relevance of this, and I have taken any 

subsequent comments received into account in my determination of this 
appeal. 

Main Issue 

4. The main issue is the effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of 
the area.  

Reasons 

5. The appeal site comprises an agricultural field located to the east of farm 

buildings and an existing caravan storage area at Camberley Farm. The 
surrounding landscape is predominantly flat and open, with long range views 
punctuated by sporadic farm buildings and detached dwellings. This creates a 

tranquil and open character. The proposal seeks to extend the existing caravan 
storage area and earth bund across the field into the appeal site. A woodland 

belt would also be created to screen views of the proposal.  

6. The site is located in a prominent position close to the junction of Union Lane 
and Lancaster Road. This is confirmed within the submitted photomontages 

which clearly show the earth bund and the tops of some caravans in views from 
the local area. At present, the appeal site is open, effectively offsetting some of 

Page 9

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/U2370/W/21/3275045 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

the loss of this field to the existing caravan store. This is particularly evident 

when travelling along both roads bordering the field. The proposed incursion 
into this part of the field would further reduce this open character and by 

extending the bund and increasing the number of caravans and hardstanding, 
would urbanise an area of intrinsic rural character and appearance. This would 
be compounded by the woodland belt, which, while providing some biodiversity 

benefits, would appear visually discordant in the context of the predominantly 
open landscape.  

7. The proposed woodland belt would, however, reduce the visual impact of the 
caravan storage in that it would screen the caravans in views from most 
vantage points. In combination with the bund, it would also screen much of the 

existing area of hardstanding whereby caravans are already stored. However, 
any trees planted would take time to fully develop and may not provide full 

screening during winter months. This would be the time when storage would be 
most in demand. A planning condition is suggested to secure effective 
landscaping measures, while it is also suggested the expansion of the existing 

bund would afford the opportunity to improve its appearance. In any event, 
this would not overcome the visual harm that would be imposed by the 

proposal in the short term and the effect on the character of the area in the 
longer term. Unacceptable landscape harm would therefore be apparent even 
once the proposed boundary planting had matured. 

8. I acknowledge that the proposal would help in the expansion of a rural 
business, and I note the need for the additional storage is not in dispute 

between the parties. The Framework states planning should enable the 
development and diversification of agricultural and other land-based rural 
businesses in paragraph 84(b). However, the support for rural economic 

development in the Framework is not unconditional, or at the expense of 
ensuring that all development integrates appropriately with its surroundings. 

Whilst there would be economic benefits of the scheme, there is no precise 
quantification of these to enable me to balance them relative to the harm. 
There is also no suggestion that the existing business as it stands would be 

adversely affected by the absence of this proposal. As such, whilst I 
acknowledge there would be benefits to the scheme, I accord them only 

moderate weight.  

9. While the Council did not engage a landscape architect in assessing the impacts 
of the proposal, this is invariably a matter of planning judgement by the 

decision maker. The lack of an industry standard Landscape and Visual Impact 
Assessment (LVIA) does not justify granting planning permission on this basis 

alone. I acknowledge the appellant’s LVIA concludes there would be localised 
and minimal harm. However, for the reasons given above, and on balance, I 

conclude that the harm would outweigh any benefits identified.  

10. To conclude, the proposal would harm the character and appearance of the 
area. This would be contrary to policies SP4, CDMP3 and EP8 of the Wyre Local 

Plan (adopted February 2019). These policies state, among other things, that 
development which adversely impacts on the open and rural character of the 

countryside will not be permitted unless it is demonstrated that the harm to the 
open and rural character is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that 
outweigh the harm. The proposal would also be contrary to the design aims of 

the Framework, which seek to ensure through paragraph 130 that development 

Page 10

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Appeal Decision APP/U2370/W/21/3275045 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          3 

is sympathetic to local character and history, including the surrounding built 

environment and landscape setting.  

Conclusion  

11. The proposal would conflict with the development plan taken as a whole. There 
are no material considerations that indicate the decision should be made other 
than in accordance with the development plan. Therefore, for the reasons 

given, I conclude that the appeal should be dismissed.  

C McDonagh   

INSPECTOR 

Page 11

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate 

 
 

 

Costs Decision 
Site visit made on 9 September 2021 

by C McDonagh BA (Hons) MA MRTPI 

an Inspector appointed by the Secretary of State 

Decision date: 15 October 2021 

 
Costs application in relation to Appeal Ref: APP/U2370/W/21/3275045 

Camberley Farm, Union Lane, Out Rawcliffe PR3 6SS 

• The application is made under the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, sections 78, 

322 and Schedule 6, and the Local Government Act 1972, section 250(5). 

• The application is made by Mrs Harrison for a full award of costs against Wyre Borough 

Council. 

• The appeal was against the refusal of planning permission for change of use of land to 

form extension to existing caravan storage yard (B8). 
 

 

Decision 

1. The application for an award of costs is refused. 

Reasons 

2. The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) advises through paragraph 028 that 
costs may be awarded against a party who has behaved unreasonably and 

thereby caused the party applying for costs to incur unnecessary or wasted 
expense in the appeal process. Costs may be awarded to any party regardless 
of the outcome of the appeal. 

3. Paragraph 049 of the PPG provides a non-exhaustive list of examples of 
unreasonable behaviour by local planning authorities. This includes substantive 

matters, such as preventing or delaying development which should clearly be 
permitted, having regard to its accordance with the development plan, national 
policy and any other material considerations, or relying on vague, generalised 

or inaccurate assertions about a proposal’s impact which are unsupported by 
any objective analysis. 

4. The appellant contends that the Council erred in their assessment of the 
proposal, which was not supported by an industry standard assessment and is 

contrary to the conclusions reached in the Landscape and Visual Impact 
Assessment (LVIA) which was commissioned by the appellant. Firstly, there is 
no evidence before me that the Council have ‘disregarded’ the LVIA as the 

appellant contends; it is expressly addressed in paragraph 3.7 of the Council’s 
appeal statement.    

5. Moreover, there is no provision that I am aware of which requires a local 
planning authority to produce countervailing evidence, such as an LVIA, in 
response to a proposal. The onus is on those proposing development to 

substantiate their case.1 Character and appearance or landscape effects is 

 
1 Section 62(3) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended.  

Page 13

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


Costs Decision APP/U2370/W/21/3275045 
 

 
https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate                          2 

invariably a matter of planning judgement, and the decision ultimately reached 

by a Council in respect of a planning application may legitimately differ from 
the views of consultants.  

6. The Council’s concerns surrounding the proposal related to harm to the 
character and appearance of the countryside. Relevant development plan 
policies are referenced in the reason given for refusing permission. In my 

determination of the planning appeal that is the subject of this application, the 
appeal was dismissed due to identified harm to the character and appearance 

of the rural area. Accordingly, I do not find that the Council prevented or 
delayed development that should clearly have been permitted. 

7. The decision-making process of planning applications necessarily involve 

matters of planning judgement. In this case, the reasons for refusal are 
detailed and the relevant policies of the development plan are cited. In 

reaching its decision the Council has had regard to the provisions of the 
development plan, the Framework and relevant material planning 
considerations including the views of consultees. In the appeal decision, I have 

concluded that the proposal is unacceptable for the same reasons as the 
Council. 

8. To conclude, I have carefully considered the points raised by the applicant. 
However, it ultimately amounts to a difference of opinion as to the planning 
merits of the proposal which are addressed in the associated appeal. 

Consequently, I find that unreasonable behaviour as described in the PPG has 
not been demonstrated. I therefore determine that the costs application should 

fail, and no award is made.  

C McDonagh 

INSPECTOR 

 

Page 14

https://www.gov.uk/planning-inspectorate


 
 
Committee Report    Date: 03.11.2021 
 
Item Number   01  

 
Application Number      21/00502/FULMAJ 

 
Proposal Change of use of former residential care home (Use 

Class C2) to create 29 self-contained residential 
apartments (Use Class C3) with external alterations and 
the provision of associated carpark following the 
demolition of existing bungalow 
 

Location Former Movern Care Centre 11 - 13 South Promenade 
Thornton Cleveleys Lancashire FY5 1BZ 
 

Applicant Sinclair Ventures Limited 
 

Correspondence 
Address 

c/o Mr Louis Webb 
Farington House Stanifield Business Park  Stanifield 
Lane  Leyland  PR25 4UA 
 

Recommendation Permit  
 

 

Report of the head of planning services 
  
Case officer - Mr Karl Glover 
 
Site Notice Date: 12/08/2021 
 
Press Notice Date: 15/05/2021 
 
1.0 Introduction  
 
1.1 This application is before members of the Planning Committee at the request of Councillor 
Fail and as previous applications at 31 Coronation Road have previously been considered by the 
Committee. A site visit is recommended to enable members to understand the proposal beyond 
the plans submitted and the photos taken by the Case Officer.  
 
2.0 Site description and location  
  
2.1 The site which forms the subject of this application relates to the former 60 bed Movern 
Care Centre at 11-13 South Promenade and also number 31 Coronation Road in Cleveleys. The 
former care home is located in a prominent corner position on the eastern side of South 
Promenade and on the southern side of Coronation Road. The building has a site area of 
approximately 0.11ha and comprises of a 4 storey white rendered building with a 5th floor set back 
within a mansard roof. The main entrance to the building is on South Promenade via an existing 
porch with two secondary ramped accesses located off Coronation Road. Parking is located along 
the northern elevation off Coronation Road and a small 1m high wall bounds the western 
elevation. To the rear of the building is an alley way which provides access to the rear of the 
properties along Coronation Road and Ellerbeck Road to the south.  
 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5a



2.2 On the eastern side of the alley way is number 31 Coronation Road which comprises of a 
detached bungalow made up of red brick with a hipped concrete tiled roof which forms into a dual 
pitch towards the west and has a white upvc clad box dormer within the southern roof pitch. This 
property has 2 separate points of access and is bound to the east, south and west by a high level 
close boarded timber panel fence. 
 
2.3 The surrounding area is predominantly residential in character. To the north is a 3 storey 
terrace block of residential dwellings which step down to 2 storey along the northern side of 
Coronation Road. Immediately to the south is Grosvenor Court which is an L Shaped building 
comprising of 17 apartments and wraps around to the east along Ellerbeck Road. To the east of 
number 31 Coronation Road is a pitched roof bungalow. In terms of the topography, the levels 
decrease modestly to the east of the site dropping in gradient along Coronation Road. Coronation 
Road is a restricted 20mph speed limit with designated 1 hour on street parking immediately to the 
front of the site and double yellow lines are in situ on both sides of the highway including the side 
street to the west of number 31. Approximately 300m to the north is Cleveleys Town Centre where 
there is an array of shops, carparks and public transport provisions. The site is located within 
Flood Zone 2 but is not affected by any other constraints or designations.  
 
3.0 The proposal   
  
3.1 The application seeks permission for the change of use of the former residential care home 
(Use Class C2) to create 29 self-contained residential apartments (Use Class C3) along with 
external alterations. Number 31 Coronation Road is proposed to be demolished to provide a 24 
space car park for the development. The 29 units will comprise of 19 x 2 bed apartments and 10 x 
1 bed apartments. The main access to the building will be from South Promenade with a 
secondary access from the rear parking area. The building will be served by a lift and 2 staircases. 
The external alterations to accommodate the development comprise of new balconies to the 
promenade facing apartments, external rendering and vertical cedar cladding to the main 
elevations, new white uPVC windows and black aluminium seam cladding to the mansard roof. In 
total the development would provide 32 parking spaces together with 2 cycle stores and a bin 
store at lower ground floor level. New landscaping is proposed along the northern boundary of the 
site. 
 
4.0 Relevant planning history  
 
Planning History relevant to Movern Care Home: 
  
4.1    04/00586/FUL - Erection of Front Porch - Permitted 
 
4.2 07/01224/FUL - Erection of Front Porch - Permitted  
 
4.3 85/01118 - Change of use from residential home to nursing home/rest home for the elderly - 
Permitted 
 
Planning History relevant to 31 Coronation Road: 
 
4.4  20/01070/OUTMAJ - Outline application for the erection of a three storey 35 bedroom 
nursing home (Use Class C2) following the demolition of existing dwellings with access, layout and 
scale applied for (all other matters reserved (re-submission of 19/00902/OUTMAJ) - Refused 
 
4.5 19/00902/OUTMAJ - Outline application for the erection of a four storey 44 bedroom 
nursing home (Use class C2) following demolition of existing dwellings with access, layout and 
scale applied for (all other matters reserved) (re-submission 18/00643/OUTMAJ) - Refused - 
Appeal Dismissed  
 

Page 16



4.6 18/00643/OUTMAJ - Outline application for the erection of a 48 bedroom nursing home 
(Use Class C2) (following the demolition of existing dwellings) with access, layout and scale 
applied for (all other matters reserved) - Refused - Appeal Dismissed 
 
4.7 20/00429/FUL - Change of use of existing bungalow (No 29) into a children's care home 
and works to building including roof lift, single storey rear link extension and addition of pitched 
roof to existing garage - Permitted 
 
4.8 00/00063/FUL - Conversion of 4 flats into 6 flats (No 31a) - Approved  
 
4.9 99/00024/FUL - Conversion of building to 4 self-contained flats, extension and dormer 
window to southern elevation - Approved 
 
5.0 Planning policy  
 
5.1 Adopted Wyre borough local plan  
 
5.1.1 The Wyre Local Plan 2011-2031 (WLP31) was adopted on 28 February 2019 and forms the 
development plan for Wyre. To the extent that development plan policies are material to the 
application, and in accordance with the provisions of section 70(2) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 and section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 the 
decision must be taken in accordance with the development plan unless there are material 
considerations that indicate otherwise.  
 
5.1.2 The following policies contained within the WLP 2031 are of most relevance: 
 

 SP1 - Development Strategy 

 SP2 - Sustainable development 

 SP6 - Viability 

 SP7 - Infrastructure Provision and Developer Contributions 

 SP8-  Health and well-being 

 CDMP1-  Environmental Protection 

 CDMP2 - Flood risk and surface water management 

 CDMP3 - Design 

 CDMP4 - Environmental assets 

 CDMP5 - Historic Environment  

 CDMP6 - Accessibility and transport 

 HP1 - Housing Land Supply 

 HP2 - Housing Mix 

 HP3 - Affordable Housing 

 HP9 - Green Infrastructure in New Residential Developments 
 
5.2 National Planning Policy Framework 2021 
 
5.2.1 The revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published by the Government 
on 20th July 2021. It sets out the planning policies for England and how these should be applied in 
the determination of planning applications and the preparation of development plans. At the heart 
of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development (paragraph 11).  The policies 
in the 2021 NPPF are material considerations which should also be taken into account for the 
purposes of decision taking. 
 
5.2.2 The following sections / policies set out within the NPPF are of most relevance: 
 

 Section 2 - Achieving sustainable development 
Page 17



 Section 5 - Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 

 Section 8 - Promoting healthy and safe communities 

 Section 9 - Promoting sustainable development 

 Section 11 - Making effective use of land 

 Section 12 - Achieving well-designed places 

 Section 14 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change 

 Section 15 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment 
 
5.2.3 In accordance with the National Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) and National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) §74, the council must be able to demonstrate a 5 year housing land 
supply position (with a 5% buffer) when dealing with applications and appeals. The latest available 
evidence on housing delivery is that set out in the council's Housing Implementation Strategy 
(published 30 September 2021) which demonstrates a deliverable housing land supply position of 
6.4 years. The council's position therefore is that it is able to demonstrate a deliverable 5 year 
housing land supply. 
 
5.3 Wyre supplementary planning guidance  
 
5.3.1 The following is of relevance to the determination of this application:- 
 

 Supplementary Planning Guidance 2 - Development and Trees 

 Supplementary Planning Guidance 4 - Spacing Guidelines for New Housing Layouts 
 
5.4 National planning practice guidance 
 
5.5 The conservation of habitats and species regulations (amendment) (EU exit) 2019 
 
5.6 The wildlife and countryside act 1981 (as amended) 
 
6.0 Consultation responses   
  
6.1 Lancashire County Council (highways) 
 
6.1.1  Initially objected on the basis that insufficient parking was proposed and that some spaces 
would be unusable leading to a severe highway impact. Following the submission of revised plans, 
LCC Highways are of the opinion that proposed development will not have a significant impact on 
highway safety, capacity or amenity in the immediate vicinity of the site. 
 
6.2 Lancashire County Council (lead local flood authority) 
 
6.1.2  Objects on the basis that a final Sustainable Drainage Scheme has not been submitted. No 
observations or response received to the Case Officers query (further discussed in paragraph 9.13 
of this report) 
 
6.3 Lancashire County Council (local education authority) 
 
6.3.1  Advised that an education contribution is not required in regards to this development. 
 
6.3 Blackpool teaching hospitals NHS foundation trust 
 
6.3.1 Request a financial contribution of £23,230.00 towards healthcare provisions at the Trust. 
 
6.4 NHS Fylde & Wyre Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
 

Page 18



6.4.1 Advised that to mitigate the impacts upon the delivery of general practice services, a 
financial contribution of £5,972 towards the reconfiguration at Cleveleys Group Practice (2 
surgeries) is required. 
 
6.5 United Utilities 
 
6.5.1 No objections subject to the development following the general principles of the surface 
water drainage hierarchy. 
 
6.6 Natural England 
 
6.6.1 No objections however advised that a Habitats Regulations Screening is required. 
 
6.7 Wyre Borough head of engineering services (drainage) 
 
6.7.1 No objections 
 
6.8 Greater Manchester ecological unit (GMEU) 
 
6.8.1 No objections to the proposal on nature conservation grounds 
 
6.9 Environment Agency 
 
6.9.1 Initially objected on the basis that the submitted FRA was considered unacceptable, 
however following the submission of a revised FRA, the EA are satisfied that the development 
would be safe without exacerbating flood risk elsewhere if the proposed flood risk mitigation 
measures are implemented. 
 
6.10 Lancashire Fire and Rescue Service (LFRS) 
 
6.11 Highlighted the requirements for the proposed access and scheme to satisfy Document B 
Part B5 of Building Regulations and sets out the guidance and turning facilities for Fire Service 
Vehicles. Verbal contact made to highlight the current prohibition notice which has been issued to 
the owners (further discussed in paragraph 9.22 of this report).  
 
6.12 Wyre Borough head of environmental health and community safety (noise & air 
quality) 
 
6.12.1 No objections subject to conditions including an acoustic noise assessment, a construction 
management plan and lighting management plan. 
 
6.13 Wyre Borough head of environmental health and community safety (contamination) 
 
6.13.1 No objections 
 
6.14 Wyre Borough head of public realm and environmental sustainability (public open 
spaces/green infrastructure) 
 
6.14.1 Advised that to mitigate against the development a financial contribution of £59,009 towards 
Green Infrastructure is required with enhancements towards the Jubilee Gardens Masterplan 
being identified.   
 
7.0 Representations  
  

Page 19



7.1 At the time of compiling this report there have been 2 letters of objection received, 3 letters 
which neither support nor object and 3 letters of support for the application.  
 
The primary reasons for objection are: 

 Loss of care home and services for the elderly 

 Proposal will have a depressing effect on the surrounding area 
 
The primary reasons for support are: 

 Clear up an untidy and run down site 

 Redevelopment will enhance the area 
 
Neutral responses which neither support nor object to the application set out the following points: 

 Apartments could be beneficial to the community 

 Development may not be feasible for 29 units 

 Parking may cause an issue 
 
8.0 Contacts with applicant/agent 
 
8.1 Contact has been made with the agent to discuss the following matters in relation to the 
application: 
 

 Financial contributions and viability matters including S106 Agreement details 

 Matters relating to consultation responses 

 Parking provisions 

 Agreement of pre commencement conditions 

 Agreement of extension of time on the application until 3/11/21 
 
9.0  Issues  
  
9.1 The main issues to be considered in the determination of this application are: 
 

 Principle of Development  

 Design and Impacts upon Visual Amenity  

 Impact on Amenity of Neighbouring Properties 

 Flood Risk and Drainage  

 Highway Safety and Parking Provision 

 Infrastructure 

 Ecology/Trees 

 Other Matters 
 
Principle of Development 
 
9.2 The former Movern Care Centre is located in a prominent position fronting South 
Promenade on the corner with Coronation Road and functioned as a residential care home (Use 
Class C2) up until it ceased operating on the 7th December 2020, and has remained vacant since. 
As highlighted within Section 4 of this report a number of planning applications have been 
submitted to expand the care home with new build development on the site to the rear following 
the demolition of the existing bungalows, numbers 29 - 31 Coronation Road. Each of those 
applications has been refused and on 2 occasions subsequently dismissed at appeal. This 
application seeks to change the use of the Movern care home building, with some external 
alterations to provide 29 open market residential apartments including the demolition of number 31 
Coronation Road to accommodate new parking provision for the units.  
 

Page 20



9.3 The application site is located within the settlement boundary and close to the town centre 
of Cleveleys. The proposal would be in accordance with Policy SP1 of the Local Plan which seeks 
to direct new development to within settlement boundaries in line with the settlement hierarchy, of 
which Cleveleys is listed at the top of the hierarchy classified as an Urban Town where 48.6% of 
housing growth is expected during the plan period. In terms of sustainability, Policy SP2 of the 
Local Plan sets out that new development should contribute to the continuation or creation of 
sustainable communities in terms of location and accessibility. Sustainability is also a material 
consideration requirement of the NPPF. The application site is located approximately 100m from 
the defined Cleveleys Town Centre boundary and is in very close proximity to an array of 
community and retail facilities with a good level of connectivity to public transport links, in 
particular Cleveleys bus station and Fleetwood to Blackpool tram network. The site is considered 
to be in a highly sustainable location where the occupants of the units would be able to access 
community facilities and infrastructure by walking, cycling and by various means of public 
transport. Furthermore the reuse of an existing building would also provide sustainability benefits. 
Overall, based on the accessible location of this proposal and that it involves the reuse of a 
building, it is considered to provide residential accommodation that forms sustainable development 
in line with the requirements of Policy SP2.   
 
9.4 Policy SP2 (Criteria 6) requires development proposals to demonstrate how it would 
respond to the challenge of climate change through appropriate design and by making best use of 
resources and assets, including the incorporation of water and energy efficiency measures 
through construction phases and the reuse and recycling in construction both in the selection of 
materials and management of residual waste. The submitted design and access statement 
advises that the conversion will improve the buildings energy efficiency by installing electric 
powered heating to boilers and low voltage LED lighting throughout along with new electric vehicle 
charging points (EVCP) on site. As the provision of EVCP is a requirement of policy CDMP6 these 
will be secured by condition. There are also opportunities for new planting within new landscaped 
areas. It is considered that the proposal provides an adequate response to climate change to meet 
the requirements of Policy SP2.    
 
Design and Impacts upon Visual Amenity  
 
9.5 Paragraph 126 of the NPPF sets out that the creation of high quality, beautiful and 
sustainable buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development process 
should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates better places in 
which to live and work and helps make development acceptable to the community. Policy CDMP3 
of the WLP31 also requires new development to be of a high standard of design. Within the policy 
a number of criteria are set out. Criterion (A) states that all development must be designed to 
respect or enhance the character of the area. Criterion (B) requires development to create a 
positive contribution to an attractive and coherent townscape both within the development itself 
and by reference to its integration with the wider built environment.  
 
9.6 The application would not result in any change to the footprint or height of the building. In its 
current form the building does have a rundown appearance and fails to positively contribute to the 
character and visual amenity of the area. To accommodate the change of use to provide the 29 
apartments a number of external alterations are proposed. This includes alterations to the window 
arrangements (change in position and size), the provision of balconies at first and second floor 
and external refurbishment to the fabric of the building with a mixture of white K-rend and vertical 
western red cedar cladding. At ground floor the existing flat roof projecting single storey extension 
to the front is to be remodelled with new window fenestrations and to the northern side elevation 
the existing ramped access is to be removed to allow for new windows to serve the ground floor 
level flats. During the course of the application amended/additional plans have been provided to 
demonstrate how the front elevation at the lower ground level will appear. To the rear an 
underpass/overhang is to be created to allow for usable parking and footpath provision. Externally 
the refurbishment and renovation of the building would provide a visual enhancement to the 

Page 21



existing rundown building which in turn will respond positively to the character and visual amenity 
of the immediate setting and wider street scene, especially when seen from Coronation Road and 
South Promenade. In this turn the proposal would comply with Policy CDMP3 of the WLP31.  
 
9.7 Internally each of the units (both 1 and 2 beds) have been designed to provide sufficient 
outlook and light into habitable rooms along with sufficient internal living standards. At lower 
ground floor and at first floor level there is provision for cycle and bin storage and an internal lift 
serving each floor. A condition requiring details of how 20% (6) of the units would be designed to 
be adaptable for elderly and people with restricted mobility is to be attached to ensure compliancy 
with Policy HP2 of the WLP31. Policy HP2 also requires new developments to provide a wide 
choice of housing in accordance with the SHMA. In this instance the proposal will be providing 
35% 1 bed units and 65% 2 bed units. Whilst the mix proposed is not strictly in accordance with 
the SHMA Mix as it comprises a higher proportion of smaller units and no provision of 3 or 4 beds, 
the provision of smaller properties is in line with the overall SHMA evidence and housing strategy 
to rebalance the housing market. For this reason the proposed mix is considered acceptable.   
 
9.8 To accommodate the new 24 bay car park to the east the existing dwelling known as 
number 31 Coronation Road is proposed to be demolished, along with the existing boundary wall. 
At present the existing bungalow is also in a rundown condition. Whilst its demolition will inevitably 
result in a visual change to the character of the area it will not have any additional visual harm. An 
example of a similar scenario is demonstrated towards the eastern end of Coronation Road on 
Bispham Road where a few years ago planning permission was granted for a pair of semi-
detached dwellings to be demolished to provide an extension to the carpark for the Aldi store. The 
revised site plan shows a landscape buffer to be provided to the north between the existing 
building and the new car park and the highway. This will help to soften the new hardstanding being 
created and enhance the streetscene. Landscaping areas are also proposed to be provided within 
the internal layout of the carpark. Conditions can be used to secure appropriate planting 
specifications, surfacing, lighting and details of new boundary treatments surrounding the car park.  
 
9.9 The development is considered to be acceptable in terms of its design and impacts upon 
the character and visual amenity of the area. The proposed materials are also considered to be 
acceptable, subject to samples being submitted and agreed. As such the proposal is considered to 
satisfy the provisions of Policy CDMP3 of the Wyre Local Plan and the NPPF. 
 
Impact on amenity of neighbouring properties 
 
9.10 Criteria C of Policy CDMP3 sets out that development must not have an adverse impact 
upon the amenity of occupants and users of surrounding or nearby properties and must provide a 
good standard of amenity for the occupants and users of the development itself. As the proposal is 
for the change of use of the existing building the physical relationship between the surrounding 
neighbouring properties remains unchanged and the interface distances are the same. The 
proposed end use is considered to be compatible with the surrounding properties and is not seen 
to result in any significant increase in noise or disturbance. The proposed balconies to the front of 
the building overlooking the promenade will not result in adverse impacts in terms of overlooking 
or loss of privacy. Whilst the proposed car park will generate modest levels of noise in terms of car 
doors closing and vehicular movements its use by future occupants only means that the majority 
of activity is expected to be during the daytime. Furthermore, there will have been noise and 
disturbance associated with the former care home use with staff and visitor cars.  As highlighted in 
paragraph 9.8 full details of the proposed boundary treatments and lighting for the carpark are to 
be conditioned. This will ensure any potential impacts can be mitigated including the side facing 
windows of number 29 Coronation Road from vehicular headlights.  For the reasons set out 
above, the proposed development satisfactorily addresses the requirements of Policies CDMP1 
and CDMP3 of WLP31 in terms of its impacts upon residential amenity and also provides an 
acceptable standard of accommodation for potential occupants of the apartments themselves.  
 

Page 22



9.11 The Council’s Environmental Health Officer has advised that a noise impact assessment 
should be submitted to ensure that there are no adverse impacts from noise from the nearby 
highway on future occupants. However, as the lawful use of the building is a similar form of 
residential use then this is considered unreasonable to request. Furthermore, noise levels from the 
nearby highway are not considered to be so significant. The Council’s Environmental Health 
Officer also advises on the need for a Construction Environment Management Plan. However as 
the proposal is for the change of use of the building this is not considered necessary.  
 
Flood risk and drainage  
 
9.12 The application site (both the existing building and proposed carpark) is located within 
Flood Zone 2 as identified on the Environment Agency (EA) mapping system. Flood Zone 2 is 
defined as having a medium probability of flooding. The proposal is classified as highly vulnerable 
development as it involves the provision of basement (lower ground floor) dwellings. The 
application has been accompanied by a site specific Flood Risk Assessment (FRA). The EA 
initially objected on the basis that the FRA was not considered to be acceptable as it failed to 
adequately assess the flood risks posed by the development. A revised FRA has since been 
submitted by the applicant which as a result has seen the EA remove their objection and confirm 
that they are satisfied that the development would be safe without exacerbating flood risk 
elsewhere if the proposed flood risk mitigation measures are implemented. There is no 
requirement for the applicant to undertake the Flood Risk Sequential or Exceptions Tests in 
respect of the change of use. The proposed car park is interlinked with the use of the existing 
building. It would be impractical to locate the car park elsewhere in a lower risk of flooding, as 
such this element of the proposal passes the sequential test. As the car park is classified as less 
vulnerable development there is no requirement for it to pass the Exceptions test.  
 
9.13 The drainage for the existing building (both foul and surface water) is connected to the 
existing mains sewers. The submitted Drainage Strategy confirms that as the application is for the 
change of use of the existing building then there are no proposals to change the current drainage 
infrastructure to serve the proposed apartments. The Councils Drainage Engineer and United 
Utilities have raised no objections to the application or the submitted FRA or Drainage Strategy. 
The Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) have objected to the application on the basis that a final 
surface water drainage strategy has yet to be submitted based on a site specific FRA. This 
response has been queried with the LLFA as the application has been accompanied by both 
documents. At the time of compiling this report no response has been received. As the Council's 
Drainage Engineer, the EA and United Utilities have raised no objections to the documents 
submitted it is considered that flood risk will not be increased as a result of this application and as 
such the proposal would comply with the requirements of the NPPF and Policy CDMP2 of the 
WLP31. 
 
Highway safety and parking provision 
 
9.14 To accommodate the change of use the application proposes 32 parking spaces in total 
including 2 accessible spaces. 8 spaces are proposed immediately to the rear of the existing 
building and 24 spaces are proposed further to the east on the site of an existing bungalow which 
is to be demolished. LCC Highways raised an objection to the original site plan which only 
proposed 20 spaces and a number of those spaces were deemed unusable. As a result the 
scheme has been amended to include additional car parking provision on the site of the existing 
bungalow (31 Coronation Road). On the basis of the revised plans LCC highways raise no 
objections, subject to conditions including the carpark being used solely for the occupants of the 
apartments as a communal carpark. Whilst the parking provision falls short of the car parking 
standards outlined within Appendix B of the Wyre Local Plan (which requires 2 spaces for a 2 bed 
dwelling and 1 space for a 1 bed dwelling) each unit would benefit from 1 parking space being 
available. Furthermore it is considered that the location of the site close to local services and bus 
stops provides opportunity for future residents to rely on walking or public transport to meet their 

Page 23



daily needs, and there is appropriate provision of cycle storage within the development, as 
previously referred to, which can be secured by condition. Therefore this reduction in parking 
provision is considered justified in this location and raises no objection from the local highway 
authority. 
 
9.15 Overall, and on the basis of the aforementioned considerations, the application would not 
result in any unacceptable impact on highways safety and would accord with Policy CDMP6 of the 
Local Plan and the NPPF.  
 
Infrastructure 
 
9.16 Policy HP3 of WLP31 sets out that developments of 11 dwellings or more on brownfield 
sites in Cleveleys should provide 10% on site affordable housing provision. Where onsite provision 
is not appropriate a financial contribution of broadly equivalent value will be required to support the 
delivery of affordable housing elsewhere in the Borough. In this instance it is considered that a 
10% provision of affordable units (which equates to 3 units) would raise no appetite from 
Registered Providers and as such an offsite contribution would be more appropriate. In 
accordance with the Affordable Housing Viability Study (AHVS), based on the market value for 
Cleveleys this would equate to £152,794.63. 
 
9.17 Policy HP9 of WLP31 requires residential developments resulting in a net gain of 11 
dwellings or more to make appropriate provision of Green Infrastructure. The Council’s Parks and 
Open Spaces Officer has advised that in this location and for this scale and type of development 
an off-site contribution would be more appropriate than on-site provision. Based on the number 
and mix of units proposed this would equate to a financial sum of £59,009 and would go towards 
improvements of recreational facilities at Jubilee Park where there is a masterplan enhancement 
scheme in place.  
 
9.18 Policy SP7 also supports contributions towards education and health care infrastructure to 
mitigate the impacts of the development where these are justified. LCC Education have been 
consulted however their response confirms that they are not seeking an education contribution in 
regards to this development. A financial contribution of £5,972 towards the refurbishment and 
reconfiguration of Cleveleys Group Practices (2 surgeries) has been requested by NHS Fylde and 
Wyre Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and is considered justified based on their adopted 
policy position. Also a contribution of £23,230.00 towards Blackpool Teaching Hospitals NHS 
foundation Trust has been requested. However the Council are of the view that as there is no 
adopted policy or published methodology to justify this contribution then it fails to comply with the 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations as such this request by the Trust is not upheld.  
 
9.19 Policy SP6 (Viability) of WLP31 sets out that the Council's overarching objective is to 
ensure that development is viable. Within the policy it stipulates that where a developer seeks to 
negotiate a reduction in infrastructure requirements that would normally apply to a development, 
the Council will require a financial appraisal demonstrating the costs to be incurred, the financial 
return and the profit expected. This is in accordance with the NPPF which requires viability to be a 
material consideration in decision making. In this instance during the course of the application the 
applicant has submitted a Financial Viability Statement (FVS). The report submitted set out that 
the development was unable to provide any of the aforementioned planning contributions. This 
report has been reviewed by the Council's independent advisor, financial and property surveyors 
Keppie Massie (KM). KM raised a number of queries with the construction costs and concluded 
that the development could financially support a total contribution of £130,000. The applicant has 
confirmed that they agree to pay this contribution which is to be secured by S106 legal agreement. 
Officers are of the view that these monies should to be secured towards Green Infrastructure and 
Affordable Housing. Whilst viability is a material consideration in decision taking, the shortfall in 
contributions being collected (£130,000 compared to the policy requirement for £217,775.63 in 
total) weighs against the proposal.  

Page 24



 
Ecology/trees 
 
9.20 The application has been accompanied by a Protected Species & Habitat Walkover Survey. 
Greater Manchester Ecological Unit (GMEU) have assessed this and advised the proposal is 
unlikely to have any significant harm upon protected species or ecology. Natural England have 
also been consulted and advised that the screening process should be undertaken as to whether 
or not a Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) is required given the sites proximity to 
International designated sites (Morecambe Bay SSSI/SPA/SAC/RAMSAR site). GMEU have 
advised that in this instance the development proposed can be screened out of requiring a HRA to 
be undertaken and can be ruled out of having any significant adverse effect on these sites.  
 
9.21 The proposed revised site plan identifies the areas of landscaping proposed however no 
details as to specifications or species has been provided and as such a landscaping condition is to 
be imposed. 
 
Other matters 
 
9.22 As part of this application Lancashire Fire and Rescue Service (LFRS) have made contact 
verbally to highlight that on Monday 7th December 2020 LFRS issued a prohibition notice to the 
owners and operators of the Movern Care Centre as a result of inadequate fire safety measures. 
Members are advised that this should not be a material consideration in the determination of this 
planning application. The applicant or any subsequent owner would need to address this matter 
directly with LFRS and ensure that all fire and building regulations requirements were adhered to, 
to enable them to operate in accordance with the relevant legislation.   
 
10.0 Conclusion  
  
10.1 The proposed development is acceptable in principle. In its current form the site fails to 
positively contribute to the character and amenity of the area and appears rundown and 
dilapidated. The proposed alterations are considered of appropriate design, would provide a visual 
enhancement and would not result in any adverse impacts upon surrounding neighbouring 
residential properties. Weighing against the development is the reduced financial contributions that 
would be sought due to viability constraints, as well as the shortfall of parking provision, albeit it is 
acknowledged that this shortfall is justified in this sustainable location does not raise any objection 
from the local highway authority. On balance, the benefits arising from the scheme are considered 
to outweigh this harm and it is concluded that the proposal does represent a sustainable form of 
development. All other material planning considerations have been assessed as acceptable. For 
the reasons given above it is recommended that the scheme is approved subject to conditions and 
a S106 agreement to secure £130,000 financial contributions towards Green Infrastructure and 
Affordable Housing. 
 
11.0 Human rights act implications  
  
11.1 ARTICLE 8 - Right to respect the private and family life has been considered in coming to 
this recommendation. 
 
11.2 ARTICLE 1 - of the First Protocol Protection of Property has been considered in coming to 
this recommendation. 
 
12.0 Recommendation  
 
12.1 Grant full planning permission subject to conditions and a Section 106 legal agreement to 
secure off-site financial contributions towards green infrastructure and affordable housing. That the 

Page 25



Head of Planning Services be authorised to issue the decision on the satisfactory completion of 
the Section 106 agreement. 
  
 
 
 Recommendation: Permit 
Conditions: - 
 
 1.  The development must be begun before the expiration of three years beginning with the date 
of this permission. 
  
Reason: This condition is required to be imposed pursuant to Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004. 
 
 2.  The development shall be carried out, except where modified by the conditions to this 
permission, in accordance with the Planning Application received by the Local Planning Authority 
on 30.04.2021 including the following plans/documents: 
  
 Site Location Plan - A)21/019/S/100 revE 
 Proposed Ground & Lower Ground Floor Plans - A020/179/P/01 revB 
 Proposed 1st, 2nd & 3rd Floor Plans - A020/179/P/02 revB 
 Proposed Elevations - A020/179/P/03 revD 
 Proposed Basic Sections - A020/179/P/05 
 Proposed Street Scene - A020/179/P/10 
 Proposed Car Park GA - A021/179/P/100 revG.  
  
The development shall be retained hereafter in accordance with this detail. 
  
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and so that the Local Planning Authority shall be satisfied as 
to the details. 
 
 3.  No development above ground level shall be commenced until details of the materials to be 
used in the construction of the external surfaces of the building (including the external walls, roof, 
and windows) have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The development shall be carried out using the approved materials. 
  
Reason: To safeguard the visual amenities of the locality and in accordance with Policy CDMP3 
of the Wyre Local Plan (2011-31). 
 
 4.  No apartment hereby approved shall be first occupied until full details of both hard and soft 
landscaping works have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. These details shall include, areas of soft landscaping (including any retained trees, 
hedgerows and other planting and any replanted or transplanted hedgerows), hard surfaced areas 
and materials, planting plans specifications and schedules (including plant size, species and 
number/ densities), existing landscaping to be retained, and shall show how account has been 
taken of any underground services.  
  
The landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details prior to first 
occupation of any apartment hereby approved or otherwise in accordance with a programme 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall thereafter be retained and maintained.  
  
Any trees or shrubs planted in accordance with this condition which are removed, uprooted, 
destroyed, die, or become severely damaged or seriously diseased within 7 years of planting, or 
any trees or shrubs planted as replacements shall be replaced within the next planting season by 

Page 26



trees or shrubs of similar size and species to those originally required to be planted, unless the 
Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation. 
  
Reason:  To ensure the site is satisfactorily landscaped in the interests of visual amenity and 
ecology in accordance with Policies CDMP3 and CDMP4 of the Wyre Local Plan (2011-31)  
 
 5.  Prior to the commencement of development a scheme to demonstrate how at least 20% of the 
dwellings shall be of a design suitable or adaptable for older people and people with restricted 
mobility shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out, retained and maintained thereafter in accordance with the 
approved details. 
  
Reason: To meet the needs of the ageing population and people with restricted mobility in the 
borough in accordance with Policy HP2 of the Wyre Local Plan (2011-31) and the provisions of 
section 5 of the NPPF. 
 
 6.  An electric vehicle recharging (EVCP) scheme shall be submitted unless it is demonstrated 
that such provision of EVCP is not practical in communal parking areas or due to other identified 
site constraints. No dwelling shall be first occupied until the approved EVCP scheme has been 
provided, and such electric vehicle recharging point shall be maintained and retained for that 
purpose thereafter.  
  
Reason: To ensure the provision of appropriate on-site mitigation to compensate for the impact on 
air quality caused by the development in the surrounding area in accordance with Policy CDMP6 
of the Wyre Local Plan (2011-31). 
 
 7.  Prior to the first occupation of any apartment hereby approved, a plan indicating the positions, 
design, materials and type of boundary treatment to be erected, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved boundary treatments shall be 
completed before the apartments hereby permitted are first occupied and shall thereafter be 
maintained and retained. 
  
Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the locality and the residential amenity of 
neighbours in accordance with policy CDMP3 of the Wyre Local Plan (2011-31). 
 
 8.  No apartment hereby approved shall be first occupied until the parking / turning area(s) shown 
on the approved plans (Proposed Car Park GA - A021/179/P/100 revG and Proposed Ground & 
Lower Ground Floor Plans - A020/179/P/01 revB) has been laid out, surfaced and drained. The 
parking / turning area(s) shall not thereafter be used for any purpose other than for the parking 
and manoeuvring of vehicles for the occupants of the approved apartments only, with spaces 
unallocated and available as communal use. 
  
Reason: To ensure that adequate off road parking is provided to serve the development in the 
interests of highway safety and in accordance with the provisions of Policy CDMP6 of the Wyre 
Local Plan (2011-31). 
 
 9.  Prior to the installation of any external lighting associated with the development hereby 
approved, a scheme for the provision of external lighting together with an Artificial Lighting 
Assessment shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
assessment shall demonstrate that the lighting will be installed in accordance with the Institution of 
Lighting Professionals' Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Obtrusive Light GN01:2011 (or any 
subsequent replacement guidance).  
  
The lighting shall be installed and operated in accordance with the approved scheme details, 
which shall be maintained and retained thereafter.  

Page 27



  
Reason: To safeguard residential amenity and in the interests of public safety in accordance with 
Policy CDMP1 of the Wyre Local Plan (2011-31). 
 
10.  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) (Flood Risk Assessment revA June 2021) and the following 
mitigation measures detailed within the FRA: 
  

- Electrical services, wiring and switches/outlets will be positioned at a minimum height of 
1200mm above the finished floor levels. Incoming main services are to be terminated at 
a minimum of 1.2m above floor level. 

- Heating and ventilation equipment including boilers and cylinders will be installed at a 
minimum of 1.2m above ground floor level or at first floor level. 

- Where practicable ovens and other electrical appliances will be positioned on raised 
floor levels or individual plinths 

- Ground floors should be of a solid construction and to be 150mm thick with a screed 
finish. 

- All drainage and waste water systems should be designed and installed with non-return 
valves to prevent surcharge backup in the case of flooding to the surrounding sewage 
network. 

- Surface water discharge will be discharged to the existing network. 
- Removable flood water entry barriers will be considered at all entrance doors and 

windows 1.0m above floor level. 
- Removable stanking boards are to be provided for all external doors. 
- Low porosity brick with two coat plaster to be 1.2m above finished floor levels. 
- All manhole covers shall be lockable. 
- Residents to be given access to the Environment Agency's existing flood early warning 

system; Occupiers will also be issued with guidance on what actions to take in the event 
of a warning including the closest area of high ground. 

  
The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to first occupation of the development or 
subsequently in accordance with the timing / phasing arrangements embodied within the scheme, 
or within any other period as may subsequently be approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 
  
Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future occupants in 
accordance with Policy CDMP2 of the Wyre Local Plan (2011-31) and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 
11.  No apartment shall be first occupied until the drainage works have been completed in 
accordance with the approved scheme (as set out in Drainage Strategy April 2021). Thereafter the 
agreed scheme shall be retained, managed and maintained in accordance with the approved 
details. 
  
Reason: To promote sustainable development using appropriate drainage systems, ensure a safe 
form of development that poses no unacceptable risk of pollution to water resources or human 
health, to prevent an undue increase in surface water run-off to reduce the risk of flooding and in 
the interests of visual and residential amenity in accordance with policies CDMP2 and CDMP3 of 
the Wyre Local Plan (2011-31) and the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
12.  The cycle and refuse storage areas shown on the approved plans shall be provided in 
accordance with the approved details prior to first occupation of any apartment and shall thereafter 
be maintained and retained. 
 

Page 28



Reason:  In the interests of the appearance of the site, the residential amenity of occupants and 
neighbours, and to ensure appropriate sustainable transport provision is being made, in 
accordance with Policies CDMP1, CDMP3 and CDMP6 of the Wyre Local Plan (2011-31). 
 
Notes: 
 
 1.  Advice from the Environment Agency is that the future occupants should sign up to the 
Environment Agency flood warning scheme. Further information can be found on the GOV.UK 
website at: https://www.gov.uk/sign-up-for-flood-warnings. 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
Committee Report    Date: 03.11.2021 
 
Item Number   02  

 
Application Number      21/00940/FUL 

 
Proposal Conversion of first floor of supermarket (E) to form five 

residential apartments (C3), with insertion of new 
windows, and repositioning of external staircase and 
enclosure of roof top (resubmission of 21/00113/FUL) 
 

Location 34 - 37 High Street Garstang Preston Lancashire PR3 
1EA 
 

Applicant ND And AN Stores Ltd 
 

Correspondence 
address 

c/o Mr Kiran Patel 
2 Fossdale Moss Leyland Preston Lancashire PR26 7AT 
 

Recommendation Permit  
 

 

Report of the head of planning services 
  
Case officer - Miss Lucy Lowcock 
 
1.0 Introduction 
 
Site Notice Date: 14.09.2021 
 
Press Notice Date: 18.08.2021 
 
1.1 This application is brought to Planning Committee at the request of 
Councillor Lady Atkins. A previous application (ref: 21/00113/FUL) was also 
considered by the Planning Committee in June 2021.  A site visit is 
recommended to enable Members to understand the proposal beyond the 
plans submitted and the photos taken by the Case Officer. 
 
2.0 Site description and location  
  
2.1 The application site is a supermarket that is situated on the western 
side of the High Street, Garstang. The site is within the Town Centre boundary 
of Garstang as defined in the Adopted Local Plan. It is also in the 
Conservation Area of Garstang. The site is in Flood Zone 1.  
 
2.2 The first-floor of the supermarket is currently used for storage, a staff 
room and plant room. The building is a two-storey detached building with a 

Page 33

Agenda Item 5b



mainly flat roof. There is a small pitched roof element towards the front. The 
building is constructed from brick. There are windows in the front of the 
building facing the High Street. There are existing external stairs on the 
northern side of the building. There is a first-floor window on the angled part of 
the rear elevation serving a staff room.  
  
2.3 To the northern side of the building is an access and delivery area for 
the supermarket. There is a shop (‘Car-Care’) facing this side of the site with a 
first-floor store room window facing the site. There is also a detached 
bungalow with ground floor windows facing the northern side of the site, which 
serve main habitable rooms. There is a low wall and hedge between the site 
and this neighbour. From the site, there is a limited view of the windows in this 
bungalow as they are screened significantly by the hedge. To the rear of the 
site is a grassed area. Houses on West View have their main rear elevations 
and rear gardens facing this western side of the site. There is a private access 
path that runs along the rear boundary of these dwellings. A Public Right of 
Way runs down the southern side of the building. Beyond this, there is a 2m 
high wall along the boundary with neighbouring properties to the south. These 
properties facing onto the southern side of the site consist of the main rear 
elevation of a bungalow ‘The Old Smithy’, the side elevation of a property 
fronting West View ‘Lyndencot’, the garden of No. 39 High Street and an 
angled view of the rear of this property. This has a secondary first-floor 
window in the side facing the site with obscure glazing and a ground floor side 
window, which has been bricked up since the previous application was 
determined in June 2021.  
 
3.0 The Proposal   
  
3.1 The application proposes the conversion of the first-floor of the building 
into five residential dwellings. The proposal includes external alterations to the 
existing building. New windows, including some projecting windows, are 
proposed in the rear and sides of the building. Balustrades are proposed to 
the front elevation. An existing vent in the east elevation would be replaced by 
2 windows. Ground-floor doors are proposed to be inserted to the rear of the 
north elevation. A new external staircase is proposed to the southern 
elevation. The existing staircase on the north elevation would be removed. A 
bin store would be provided in the ground floor of the new staircase, along 
with a cycle store, and separately in the rear garden space. A cycle store is 
proposed in the ground floor of the existing supermarket, along with access 
stairs to one of the apartments. Part of the rear of the building is to be ‘cut out’ 
setting back the rear and side elevations in part. This would have a flat roof 
and would be enclosed by a parapet wall and screening forming an enclosed 
roof top. A fence is proposed to enclose the grassed area to the rear of the 
building, and a path would be created along the back of the building. The 
grassed area is shown to be used as a garden space for the proposed 
apartments. 
 

Page 34



4.0 Relevant planning history  
  
4.1 21/00113/FUL 
Conversion of first floor to form five residential apartments (C3), with insertion 
of new windows, and repositioning of external staircase and enclosure of roof 
top. Refused 
 
4.2 19/00769/FUL 
Conversion of first floor to form five apartments with insertion of new windows, 
and repositioning of external staircase and provision of wall and fencing 
(resubmission of 19/00230/FUL). Refused (appeal dismissed) 
 
4.3 19/00230/FUL  
Conversion of first-floor to form seven apartments with insertion of new 
windows and repositioning of external staircase and provision of wall and 
fencing. Withdrawn 
 
4.4 18/00158/ADV  
Part retrospective application for the erection of 5 x 'One Stop' (3 x illuminated 
) (2x non-illuminated) signs, 1 x 'Post Office' illuminated fascia sign, 4 x non-
illuminated direct print panels, and 4 x non-illuminated poster frames. Consent 
granted 
 
4.5 13/00417/FUL  
Two full height replacement windows and installation of ATM machine and 
window to replace existing entrance door to front elevation. Approved 
 
4.6  06/00317/FUL 
No. 39 High Street (Neighbouring property to south) 
Rear conservatory. Approved 
   
5.0 Planning policy  
 
5.1 Adopted Wyre borough local plan 
 
5.1.1 The Wyre Local Plan 2011-2031 (WLP31) was adopted on 28 February 
2019 and forms the development plan for Wyre. To the extent that 
development plan policies are material to the application, and in accordance 
with the provisions of section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 and section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
the decision must be taken in accordance with the development plan unless 
there are material considerations that indicate otherwise.  
 
5.1.2 The following policies contained within the WLP 2031 are of most 
relevance: 

 SP1 Development Strategy 

 SP2 Sustainable Development 

 SP8 Health and Well-being  

 CDMP1 Environmental Protection 

 CDMP2 Flood Risk and Surface Water Management 

Page 35



 CDMP3 Design 

 CDMP5 Historic Environment  

 CDMP6 Accessibility and transport 

 HP1 Housing Land Supply 

 EP4 Town, District, Local and Neighbourhood Centres 
 
5.2 National Planning Policy Framework 2021 
 
5.2.1 The revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was 
published by the Government on 20 July 2021. It sets out the planning policies 
for England and how these should be applied in the determination of planning 
applications and the preparation of development plans. At the heart of the 
NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development (paragraph 11). 
The policies in the 2021 NPPF are material considerations which should also 
be taken into account for the purposes of decision taking. 
 
5.2.2 The following sections / policies set out within the NPPF are of most 
relevance: 

 Section 2. Achieving sustainable development 

 Section 5. Delivering a sufficient supply of homes 

 Section 7. Ensuring the vitality of town centres 

 Section 8. Promoting healthy and safe communities 

 Section 9. Promoting sustainable transport 

 Section 11. Making effective use of land 

 Section 12. Achieving well-designed places 

 Section 16. Conserving and enhancing the historic environment  
 
5.2.3 In accordance with the National Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) and 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) S74, the council must be able to 
demonstrate a 5 year housing land supply position (with a 5% buffer) when 
dealing with applications and appeals. The latest available evidence on 
housing delivery is that set out in the council's Housing Implementation 
Strategy (published 30 September 2021) which demonstrates a deliverable 
housing land supply position of 6.4 years. The council's position therefore is 
that it is able to demonstrate a deliverable 5 year housing land supply. 
 
Other material considerations 
 
5.3 Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 
SPG 4: Spacing Guidance for new housing layouts   
  
5.4   Other relevant considerations  
 
5.4.1 The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
(PLBCA), S.66 and S.72; 
 
5.4.2 Historic England, Good Practice Advice in Planning. 
 

Page 36



6.0 Consultation responses   
  
6.1   Garstang town council  
 
6.1.1 Neutral  
 
6.2 Lancashire county council (highways) 
 
6.2.1 No objections. Request for condition on cycling facilities.  
 
6.3 Lancashire county council (public rights of way)  
 
6.3.1 No comments received 
 
6.5 The ramblers  
 
6.5.1 No comments received 
 
6.6 Wyre borough head of engineering services (drainage) 
 
6.6.1 No objection 
 
6.7 Wyre borough head of environmental health and community 
safety (noise)  
 
6.7.1 No comments received. Comments previously received on application 
no. 21/00113/FUL were that following the receipt of further information in the 
form of a revised noise assessment, there is no objection provided the 
mitigation is installed i.e. upgraded glazing and trickle vents to the proposed 
apartments.  
  
6.8 Wyre borough head of public realm and environmental sustainability 
(waste and recycling officer  
 
6.8.1 No comments received. Comments previously received on application 
no. 21/00113/FUL were that there does not appear to be a dedicated bin store 
facility for the residential apartments, but providing the residential apartments 
have access to the courtyard area and their bins can be stored in the 
Courtyard (in close proximity to the entrance at Garstang High Street), 
collections can be undertaken as there is direct access from Garstang High 
Street.  
 
7.0 Representations 
  
7.1   7 letters of objection have been received, points raised are as follows: 
  

 loss of privacy and overlooking 

 cill height of high level windows not specified, nor the opening 
arrangements 

 noise disturbance from entrances and use of garden and path 

Page 37



 visually detrimental to the conservation area 

 the proposed floor plans have no drawing number, key or annotations. 

 the plans have no measurements or helpful detail 

 access issues for waste removal and access along fenced off path for 
existing residents 

 amenity and security issues with use of path along the rear of West 
View 

 safety implications of use of roof top 

 issues of security and privacy in relation to views from roof garden 

 no public notices have been displayed 

 comments on legislation relevant to ‘repeat applications’ 

 no lift, therefore only suitable for able-bodied individuals 

 Section 6, titled ‘Planning Policy Assessment’, states that “Apartment 1 
will be accessed via the existing door located on the northern side of 
the building.” This is factually incorrect, there is no existing door here. 

 question of access for refuse vehicles or feasibility of commercial waste 
removal 

 high-level windows do not provide acceptable living conditions for 
future occupants  

 no details on the front balustrades including their height and safety 
implications of this 

 noise assessment out of date 

 no 3D imagery of northern elevation, questions reason for this 

 inadequate detail about enclosure of rear garden 

 threaten security of adjacent properties 

 inadequate parking 

 congestion along the back of West View and Graystons Weind 
 
7.2 2 letters of support have been received, points raised are as follows: 
 

 Flats more affordable for local people.  

 Would not be to the detriment of the area.  

 Need for more accommodation.   
 
8.0 Contacts with applicant/agent 
 
8.1 Revised plans and noise assessment received 14/10/21  
  
9.0  Issues 
  
9.1 The main issues in this application are as follows: 
 

 Principle of development  

 Visual Impact / Design / Impact on the street scene  

 Impact on residential amenity  

 Impact on Highway / Parking  

 Flood risk and drainage  
 

Page 38



Principle of development 
 
9.2 The site is within the Town Centre of Garstang. It is also within the 
Garstang Conservation Area. The visual impacts on the Conservation Area 
are discussed in the next section. Policy SP1 of the Adopted Local Plan 
identifies Garstang as a key service centre and directs development to within 
settlement boundaries, including Garstang. The proposal would meet the 
sustainable development goals of Policy SP2 of the Adopted Local Plan, 
including “maximising the use of previously developed land” and “ensuring 
accessible places and minimising the need to travel by car”. The site is in an 
accessible location with services, employment and access to public transport 
within walking distance of the site. Policy EP4 of the Adopted Local Plan 
encourages a diversity of uses within defined centres to maximise their vitality 
and viability. The site is not allocated or protected for a specific use, with the 
site outside of the Primary Shopping Area. The proposal would make use of 
the first-floor of an existing supermarket, so would not result in the loss of 
retail provision in the Town Centre. On this basis it is not considered that the 
proposal would unacceptably impact on the vitality and viability of the Town 
Centre and therefore would comply with Policy EP4. Overall, the proposal is 
considered to be acceptable in principle.  
 
9.3 Policy SP2 of the Local Plan requires development proposals to 
demonstrate a response to climate change. In this case, the site is in Flood 
Zone 1, the lowest classification for flood risk. There is the potential for some 
tree planting in the proposed rear garden, which could be agreed through a 
planning condition. In this case, it is not considered reasonable to require an 
electric vehicle charging scheme, as no car parking is proposed. Overall, 
based on the accessible location of this proposal and that it involves the reuse 
of part of a building and is in flood zone 1, it is considered to provide 
residential accommodation that forms sustainable development and provides 
an adequate response to climate change to meet the requirements of Policy 
SP2.   
 
9.4  As the proposal would provide only 5 dwellings, there is not a Local 
Plan policy requirement for the provision of Green Infrastructure, affordable 
housing or contributions towards education or health care. For this small 
number of dwellings there is also no policy requirement for a certain housing 
mix be provided, or for it to be designed to be adaptable for older people. One 
of the representations refer to the lack of a lift, however, this is not a planning 
policy requirement, but may be covered by separate Building Regulations 
legislation on accessibility.  
 
Visual impact / design / impact on the conservation area  
 
9.5  The site is within the Garstang Conservation Area.  The building is 
existing and is described by the Conservation Officer as ‘a modern, probably 
20th Century, purpose-built retail store’ which ‘contributes nothing to the 
special character, appearance or historic value of the Garstang Conservation 
Area’. The proposal includes external alterations to the building, including the 
insertion of windows and doors, removal of the existing external staircase and 

Page 39



its replacement, and the erection of fencing. Some of the proposed windows 
are flush with the wall, and others are proposed as projecting windows. The 
council’s Conservation Officer considers all of the external works to be in 
keeping with the style of the existing building and that the proposed 
development would preserve the appearance of the conservation area and 
sustain the significance of this designated heritage asset in conformity with 
S.72 of the PLBCA, Section 16 of the NPPF and policy CDMP5 of the 
Adopted Wyre Local Plan.  
 
9.6 It is considered that the replacement external staircase would be in 
keeping with the building and would not stand out as obtrusive or be visually 
harmful to the conservation area. It would be of a scale and design in keeping 
with the main building. The proposed fencing to enclose the rear grassed area 
is considered to be visually acceptable in terms of its siting. As no materials 
details have been submitted for the proposed pathway, staircase or fencing 
these would need to be agreed by condition.  
 
9.7 It is acknowledged that the building is a modern building and the 
insertion of windows in the structure would not be visually unacceptable in 
itself. On previously refused application no. 19/00769/FUL at appeal the 
Planning Inspector addressed the visual impact of proposed projecting 
windows on the building. It was stated ‘whilst the frames of the projecting 
windows would be wide, this would reflect the existing bulky window frames to 
the front of the building. At first floor level they would draw the eye and be 
visible from the highway and nearby properties, however their scale would be 
minor, and their form would be in keeping with the angular appearance of the 
building. A planning condition could also ensure a suitable quality of 
materials’. The Planning Inspector went on to state ‘there are no similar 
windows in the vicinity of the site, however, the building is already unique 
within the street scene, and for the above reasons they would not detract from 
the overall commercial nature of the building or the prevailing character and 
appearance of the area’. That application proposed three projecting windows, 
as does this current application, albeit in a different position. Overall, based on 
the advice from the council’s Conservation Officer and the comments of the 
Inspector on the previous planning appeal, it is considered that the visual 
appearance of the proposed windows would be acceptable on this relatively 
modern building. A condition could be used to agree the details of the 
materials.  
 
9.8 Balustrading is proposed to the front elevation to enclose existing flat 
roof areas and to the proposed roof top at the rear. It is considered that this 
would also be in keeping with the appearance of the building, and the 
materials details could be agreed through condition as could the materials of 
the external bin store. Overall, the proposal would not have an unacceptable 
impact on the visual appearance of the area, including the character and 
appearance of the conservation area and the setting of the Public Right of 
Way (PROW).  
 
9.9 A communal garden area is shown to the rear of the site. This is 
already a grassed area, but would be fenced off and would serve the 

Page 40



development. It is considered reasonable that a condition be used to require a 
maintenance plan for this area of open space. A path and area of 
hardstanding is shown around the building. The details of this could be agreed 
through condition.  
 
Impact on residential amenity  
 
9.10  Light – it is proposed to build a new staircase on the southern side of 
the building. This would have a flat roof, which would have a height of 6.93m. 
It would project out beyond the existing side elevation by 1.2m. It would be 
directly opposite the gardens of ‘The Old Smithy’ and ‘No. 39’ to the south of 
the site. At present the gardens of these properties are already enclosed to 
this side by the supermarket building, which is higher than the proposal, so it 
is not considered that the staircase being 1.2m closer would have a 
significantly greater impact over the existing situation in terms of being 
overbearing or causing loss of light. The main rear elevation of ‘The Old 
Smithy’ would have an angled view of the extension, however, it is not 
considered that this would be significantly more harmful than the present 
layout. The roof height of the south-west corner of the supermarket is to be 
reduced, which may present a reduced sense of enclosure to this neighbour 
than at present. A new 2m high fence is proposed to enclose the rear grassed 
area. This would include a fence along the western boundary opposite the 
rear elevations of properties on Park Hill Road. Some of these properties have 
rear extensions themselves, bringing them closer to the boundary with the 
site. The general separation distance from the fence would be around 7m, but 
in some cases it would be reduced to around 3.6m. Despite this proximity, it is 
considered that this would still provide a sufficient gap for the 2m high fencing 
not to be overly enclosing to the ground floor windows of these properties or 
harmfully reduce their light. It should be noted that generally fencing of this 
height could be erected without requiring planning permission.  
 
9.11  Overlooking – new window openings are proposed in the rear and 
sides of the building. There are already large windows in the front of the 
building. The distance between the front windows and the properties on the 
opposite side of the High Street is at least 30m, so it is not considered that 
there would be an unacceptable overlooking impact from these front windows 
serving residential flats. Balustrades would be provided and the flat roof areas 
made accessible to the occupants. These would be over 21m from the 
properties opposite, so would not cause unacceptable overlooking. A first-floor 
window is proposed in the angled part of the southern elevation at the front. 
This would face the High Street and would not cause unacceptable 
overlooking. A projecting window in the northern side would also face the High 
Street. It would potentially also have a view of the side of ‘Car Care’, which 
would not cause unacceptable harm.  
 
9.12 First-floor windows are proposed in the southern side elevation. Two 
are shown to be projecting windows with angled windows. The projecting 
windows would face the rear elevation and part of the rear garden of ‘No. 39’. 
This neighbouring property has a takeaway at part of the ground-floor. There 
is a 2m high wall to the adjacent Weind. There is a door and window in the 

Page 41



rear of the takeaway kitchen that would be directly faced. As these do not 
serve residential accommodation, this would be acceptable. Until recently 
there was a ground-floor window in the side of No. 39 serving a residential 
flat, around 5m from the proposed windows. However, since the last 
application (no. 21/00113/FUL) this window has been bricked up, as it is 
under the ownership of the applicant. This means that there would not be 
overlooking to a side ground-floor window at No. 39. The first-floor window in 
the side of No. 39 is obscure glazed, so this does not present overlooking 
concerns. Part of an outdoor area would also be faced. As this is already 
directly faced by the window in the takeaway kitchen and forms a relatively 
small area of the outdoor space, with the main garden space not overlooked, 
it is not considered that this would present an unacceptable impact on 
amenity. 
 
9.13 A ground-floor door and doors to the bin store are also proposed to this 
southern side elevation. As there is already a Public Right of Way along this 
side of the site, it is not considered that the potential for overlooking would be 
more harmful to neighbouring amenity than at present. First-floor windows are 
proposed in the southern side towards the rear of the building. These would 
be 20m from the main windows in the rear of ‘The Old Smithy’ and over 14m 
from their garden. Although not a typical residential situation, the principle of 
the spacing standards in SPG4 can be applied. Normally, 21m is an expected 
separation distance between main first-floor windows, therefore, the proposal 
would be 1m short of this. A parapet wall and balustrading is proposed to 
enclose the roof top area. A section has been proposed showing the parapet 
wall to be 0.8m above the floor level and the glazing would be 1.2m above 
this, providing 2.1m of screening above floor level. It is considered that this 
would sufficiently provide adequate screening from the windows towards this 
neighbouring property, so as to prevent unacceptable overlooking. A condition 
could be added for this screening to be provided. With the separation distance 
to be provided, there would not be unacceptable overlooking of the 
neighbour’s garden.     
 
9.14 First-floor windows are proposed in the rear of the ‘cut-out’ rear wall. 
These would be 17m to the neighbours’ gardens and 20m to the closest main 
window. As set out above, screening is proposed to the roof-top area. If 
provided as set out above, this would prevent unacceptable overlooking. 
There is an existing first-floor window in the angled rear wall in the north-west. 
This currently serves a staff room, and is proposed to serve a bedroom. This 
is approximately 4.5m from the boundary with the bungalow to the north, 
known as ‘Oddfellows Hall’ and 9.5m to the closest neighbour’s garden on 
West View and 12m from their rear windows. As this room being a staffroom, 
can already be used by staff during the supermarket opening hours, it is not 
considered that is use as a bedroom would have significantly greater potential 
for overlooking than at present. Ground floor doors on this side would be 
adequately screened by an existing hedgerow to the boundary. First-floor 
windows are proposed in the northern side of the building. Some of these 
would be high-level windows. Two high-level windows serving a stairwell and 
plant room would be closest to the boundary, with a separation distance of 3m 
from the boundary and 6m from the main elevation of the neighbour. A 

Page 42



condition could be used to ensure that they are obscure glazed and non-
opening to prevent overlooking. Other windows are proposed in this side, 
which would be a minimum of 12m from the boundary and 14.45m from the 
main rear elevation. The separation distance from the garden meets the 
standard required distance, typically found in residential situations. In the 
decision notice for the appeal on application no. 19/00769/FUL, which is a 
material consideration, the Inspector stated ‘an existing wall and high level 
planting provide screening for the windows to the side of Oddfellows Hall. This 
in combination with the separation would prevent loss of privacy’. As the 
windows on the current application are proposed in a similar position as on 
that application, with the same situation as previously in terms of the 
separation distance and boundary treatment, it is considered that the proposal 
would not result in unacceptable overlooking to the neighbouring property to 
the north to warrant the refusal of the application. A neighbour has 
commented that the cill height and opening arrangements of the high-level 
windows are not shown. However, as it is considered that there would not be 
unacceptable overlooking in this direction based on the above assessment, 
there is no requirement for this information.   
 
9.15 Two windows are proposed in the rear part of the building facing 
towards the front of the site behind the delivery area. For the same reasons as 
above, plus the angled view, these would not cause unacceptable overlooking 
to the bungalow to the north.   
 
9.16  Noise/disturbance – the proposed use is residential and it is 
considered that this would be compatible with the adjacent residential uses. 
Some neighbours have objected about noise/disturbance, but in this town 
centre location it is not considered that the proposal would have a significantly 
greater impact over the existing situation. There will already be people coming 
and going, activity at the supermarket delivery yard and general background 
noise. Residential uses are generally compatible with each other, and if a 
resident is considered to be unacceptably noisy this could be dealt with 
through separate legislation. No external lighting is proposed and a condition 
could be added to ensure that any external lighting is agreed with the Council. 
Light from within the rooms of the flats would be that typically found in 
residential situations, and it is not considered that it would be unacceptably 
intrusive. A 2m high fence has been proposed to enclose the rear grassed 
area. This would provide privacy to the adjoining gardens and could be 
conditioned to be provided.  
 
9.17 Concerns have been raised from neighbours about the use of the roof-
top area. This has not been shown to be accessible on the proposed plans, 
with no door access. A condition can be imposed such that the insertion of a 
door would require planning permission and any such proposal could then be 
considered on its own merits.    
 
9.18  Amenity of occupants – each main room of the flats would have a 
window providing a view and outlook. This would present adequate amenity to 
the occupants of the proposal. A communal outdoor garden area is proposed 

Page 43



to the rear for the users of the flats. This would be adequate outdoor amenity 
space in a town centre location.  
 
9.19  A bin store has been shown to the ground-floor of the building under 
the stairwell to serve the flats and in the communal garden area. The internal 
bin store would be 24m from the High Street. The external bin store would be 
around 22m from Park Hill Road. LCC Highways state 25m is the maximum 
distance a two wheeled refuse container is to be transported to the refuse 
wagon. Therefore, the bins stores proposed are considered to meet this 
requirement and there will be adequate waste facilities compliant with Policy 
CDMP3 of the Adopted Local Plan. A condition could be added for them to be 
provided as shown.   
 
9.20  A noise assessment has been provided, which is as submitted on the 
previous application. Environmental Health previously commented on this 
information, on application no. 21/00113/FUL, and had no objections. As the 
circumstances in relation to noise are the same in this current application, the 
comments are still considered to be relevant. The mitigation measures 
requested by environmental health can be conditioned, which are upgraded 
glazing and the provision of trickle vents. This will provide adequate amenity 
to the occupants of the flats.  
 
Impact on highway / parking   
 
9.21  Lancashire County Council (LCC) Highways have been consulted on 
the application. There are no concerns raised about traffic or highway safety. 
Whilst no on-site parking is proposed, as the site is in the town centre, LCC 
Highways have no objections to this. It would be expected that residents 
would use sustainable transport and therefore the lack of parking is 
considered to be acceptable in this location. It is considered that the proposal 
would provide acceptable cycle storage and this would need to be conditioned 
to be provided. A fence is shown to separate the flats off from the delivery 
yard, which will support safe access. A condition could be added for this fence 
to be installed prior to occupation.   
 
Flood risk  
 
9.22  The site is in Flood Zone 1. The council’s drainage engineer has been 
consulted on the application and has no objections. There are no flood risk 
concerns with the proposal. A sequential/exception test is not required to be 
carried out for this development in Flood Zone 1.   
 
9.23 There is considered to be a technical means of suitably draining the site. 
Surface water and foul drainage details are required and these could be 
conditioned to be provided. This would ensure suitable drainage is utilised and 
the sustainable urban drainage (SUDs) hierarchy followed.   
 
Other issues  
 

Page 44



9.24  A Public Right of Way (PROW) runs along the southern side of the 
building. LCC Public Right of Way Officer and The Ramblers have been 
consulted on the application but have not commented.  The site plan shows 
the route to remain open, therefore it is considered that the proposal would 
comply with Policy CDMP6 of the Adopted Local Plan, which requires 
proposals to not have an adverse impact on an existing Public Right of Way 
and the public’s enjoyment of it. As a precaution an informative could be used 
to ensure that the developer is aware that this route should not be blocked. 
Neighbour comments have been provided raising concerns about congestion 
on the route and encroachment onto the PROW. As the route can be used by 
the public and is in a town centre location, it is not considered that the 
potential additional users from 5 apartments, would cause a significantly 
greater level of congestion. When the internal bin and cycle stores are being 
used, there may be some additional activity on the route, but it is considered 
that this would cause minimal interference for users, and akin to any general 
delays caused on the highway when refuse is collected.  
 
9.25 A neighbour has raised a point that the existing hedge is not shown on 
the plans. Any existing landscaping within the application site could be shown 
on a landscaping scheme to be agreed through condition. Any vegetation on 
neighbouring land, outside of the application site or applicant’s ownership 
would not be under the applicant’s control.   
 
9.26 Concerns have been raised about security of the entrances and site in 
general. This would be a private matter that would be the responsibility of the 
site owner and flat owners/occupiers. The grassed area to the rear is currently 
open to the Public Right of Way, so does not currently provide security.  
 
9.27 Concerns have been raised about access to the rear of properties on 
Park Hill Road, including for bin collection and emergency vehicles. The site 
plan shows the existing path to the rear of these properties to be retained. 
These neighbours do not currently have any control of the land within the 
application site, and any access rights on such land would be a private matter 
between the parties involved. It should be noted that the erection of fencing or 
means of enclosure on land can generally be carried out without planning 
permission as permitted development.  
 
9.28 Concerns have been raised about the safety of the balustrades and roof 
top. Health and safety of structures is not a planning matter, but covered by 
separate legislation, however, it should be noted that there is no door access 
proposed to the roof top, as set out above.  
 
9.29 Comments were raised about the lack of information (scale, key, etc.) 
on one of the drawings. This has been corrected. A site notice has been 
erected at the application site, as set out above. Comments have been raised 
about ‘repeat applications’, however, there are considered to be material 
differences with this application over those previously submitted, as such the 
council is required to determine it.  
 
10.0 Conclusion  

Page 45



  
10.1 In this town centre location it is considered that the proposal is 
acceptable in principle, providing housing in an accessible location and within 
the settlement boundary on previously developed land. The proposal has 
been designed so as to be visually acceptable, respecting the character and 
appearance of the conservation area. The bin and cycle storage proposed to 
the flats would be adequately located so as to enable the convenient and safe 
removal of the domestic waste or access to cycles. The proposal would 
provide adequate amenity for the occupants of the flats themselves and would 
not unacceptably impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties. There are 
no highway safety concerns with the proposal. As such the proposal is 
considered to comply with the NPPF and aforementioned Local Plan Policies. 
 
11.0 Human rights act implications  
  
11.1 article 8 - Right to respect the private and family life has been 
considered in coming to this recommendation. 
 
11.2 article 1 - of the First Protocol Protection of Property has been 
considered in coming to this recommendation. 
 
12.0 Recommendation  
 
12.1 Grant full planning permission subject to conditions. 
 
Recommendation: Permit 
 
Conditions: - 
 
 1.  The development must be begun before the expiration of three years 
beginning with the date of this permission. 
  
 Reason: This condition is required to be imposed pursuant to Section 
91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of 
the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 
 
 2.  The development shall be carried out, except where modified by the 
conditions to this permission, in accordance with the Planning Application 
received by the Local Planning Authority on 22 July 2021 including the 
following plans/documents: 
  
 Location plan 1:1250 
 Proposed site plan 2021-PSP-01C 
 Site plan with interface distances 2020-PR-03C 
 Proposed site plan and balustrading detail 2020-PR-05 
 Proposed elevational plans 2021-PR-02D 
 Proposed elevations 2020-PR-06 
 Proposed floor plans 2021-PR-01C 
  

Page 46



 The development shall be retained hereafter in accordance with this 
detail. 
  
 Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and so that the Local Planning 
Authority shall be satisfied as to the details. 
 
 3.  Prior to the first occupation of any apartment hereby permitted, a plan 
indicating the positions, design, materials and type of boundary treatments to 
be erected, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The approved boundary treatments shall be completed 
before the apartments are first occupied and shall thereafter be maintained 
and retained in accordance with the approved details. 
  
 Reason: In the interests of the appearance of the locality and the 
residential amenity of occupants/neighbours in accordance with policy 
CDMP3 of the Wyre Local Plan (2011-31). 
 
 4.  Prior to the commencement of development, a drainage scheme, which 
shall detail measures for the attenuation and the disposal of foul and surface 
waters, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The surface water drainage scheme shall be in accordance with the 
hierarchy of drainage options outlined in Policy CDMP2 of the Adopted Local 
Plan 2011-31 or any equivalent policy in an adopted Local Plan that replicates 
the existing Local Plan, with evidence of an assessment of the site conditions 
to include site investigation and test results to confirm infiltrations rates to be 
submitted. For the avoidance of doubt, surface water must drain separate 
from the foul and unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority, no surface water shall discharge to the public sewerage system 
either directly or indirectly. 
  
 No part of the development shall be occupied or brought into first use 
until the drainage works and levels have been completed in accordance with 
the approved scheme. Thereafter the agreed scheme shall be retained, 
managed and maintained in accordance with the approved details. 
  
 Reason: To promote sustainable development using appropriate 
drainage systems, ensure a safe form of development that poses no 
unacceptable risk of pollution to water resources or human health, to prevent 
an undue increase in surface water run-off to reduce the risk of flooding and in 
the interests of visual and residential amenity in accordance with policies 
CDMP2 and CDMP3 of the Wyre Local Plan (2011-31) and the National 
Planning Policy Framework. The condition is required to be approved prior to 
commencement of development to ensure that full details are provided, that 
have not been forthcoming with the application, to ensure a suitable form of 
drainage is provided in that specific area taking into consideration land 
conditions and proximity to existing services. 
 
 5.  No apartment hereby approved shall be first occupied until full details of 
both hard and soft landscaping works have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These details shall include, areas of 

Page 47



soft landscaping (including any retained trees, hedgerows and other planting 
and any replanted or transplanted hedgerows), hard surfaced areas and 
materials, planting plans specifications and schedules (including plant size, 
species and number/ densities), existing landscaping to be retained, and shall 
show how account has been taken of any underground services.  
  
 The landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details prior to first occupation of any apartment hereby approved or 
otherwise in accordance with a programme agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority and shall thereafter be retained and maintained.  
  
 Any trees or shrubs planted in accordance with this condition which are 
removed, uprooted, destroyed, die, or become severely damaged or seriously 
diseased within 7 years of planting, or any trees or shrubs planted as 
replacements shall be replaced within the next planting season by trees or 
shrubs of similar size and species to those originally required to be planted, 
unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written consent to any variation. 
  
 Reason:  To ensure the site is satisfactorily landscaped in the interests 
of visual amenity and sustainable development, in accordance with Policies 
CDMP3 and SP2 of the Wyre Local Plan (2011-31). 
 
 6.  No development above ground level shall be commenced until details of 
the materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 
development (including the external walls, roof, balustrades, windows and 
external bin store) have first been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out using the 
approved materials. 
  
 Reason: To safeguard the visual amenities of the locality including the 
Conservation Area in accordance with Policies CDMP3 and CDMP5 of the 
Wyre Local Plan (2011-31). 
 
 7.  The refuse storage area(s) shown on the approved plans shall be 
provided in accordance with the approved details prior to first occupation of 
any apartment and shall thereafter be maintained and retained. 
  
 Reason:  In the interests of the appearance of the site and locality and 
the residential amenity of occupants and neighbours, in accordance with 
Policies CDMP1 and CDMP3 of the Wyre Local Plan (2011-31). 
 
 8.  Prior to the first occupation of any apartment hereby approved, an Open 
Space Management Plan, including long term design objectives, management 
responsibilities and maintenance schedules for the area of open space, shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority The 
Management Plan shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details during the lifetime of the development. 
  
 Reason:  To ensure the long term management and maintenance of 
amenity space within the site in the interests of visual amenity and the health 

Page 48



and wellbeing of occupants in accordance with Policies SP8 and HP9 of the 
Wyre Local Plan (2011-31). 
 
 9.  Prior to the first occupation of any apartment hereby approved, the 
following noise mitigation measures shall be implemented: 
  
 - All apartment windows shall be fitted with 10mm/16mm argon/8.8mm 
Pilkington Optiphon glazing unit offering 44(-2;-6) dB Rw or similar; and 
 - All apartment windows shall have Titon SF Xtra TA5225 (V75) + 
TA5206 (C75) 2500EA trickle vents fitted that will achieve a level of Dnew 
(C;CTr) of 44(- 2;-3) dB 
  
 These noise mitigation measures shall thereafter be retained and 
maintained. 
  
 Reason: To ensure there is no adverse effect on the health and quality 
of life of future occupants and to avoid an unacceptable impact on residential 
amenity by virtue of noise in accordance with Policy CDMP1 of the Wyre 
Local Plan (2011-31). 
 
10.  Prior to the first occupation or use of the development hereby approved, 
the floor window(s) in the north elevation(s) serving the stairwell and plant 
room shall be: 
  
 i) obscure glazed at a scale of 5 (where 1 is hardly obscured and 5 
is totally obscured), and  
 ii) non-opening unless the parts of the window which can be 
opened are more than 1.7 metres above the floor of the room in which the 
window is installed. 
  
 The window(s) (including any subsequent repaired or replacement 
window) shall be maintained and retained thereafter in accordance with this 
detail.  
  
 Reason: To safeguard the privacy of adjoining residents and in 
accordance with Policy CDMP3 of the Wyre Local Plan (2011-31). 
 
11.  Prior to first occupation of any part of the development hereby approved, 
the secure cycle storage provision shown on the approved plans (Proposed 
floor plans 2021-PR-01C) shall be provided and thereafter maintained and 
retained. 
  
 Reason: To enable access to and from the property by sustainable 
transport mode, in accordance with policy CDMP6 of the Wyre Local Plan 
(2011-31). 
 
12.  Prior to the installation of any external lighting associated with the 
development hereby approved, a scheme for the provision of external lighting 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
  

Page 49



 The lighting shall be installed and operated in accordance with the 
approved scheme details, which shall be maintained and retained thereafter.  
  
 Reason: To safeguard residential amenity in accordance with Policy 
CDMP1 of the Wyre Local Plan (2011-31). 
 
13.  Prior to the first occupation of any of the residential units hereby 
approved, a 0.9m parapet wall (from floor level) and 1.2m high obscure 
glazing screening above this, shall be provided to the rear flat roof as shown 
on the approved plans (Proposed site plan and balustrading detail 2020-PR-
05 and Proposed elevational plans 2021-PR-02D). The obscure glazing shall 
be at a scale of 5 (where 1 is hardly obscured and 5 is totally obscured). The 
glazing (including any subsequent repaired or replacement glazing) shall be 
maintained and retained thereafter in accordance with this detail).  
  
 Reason: To protect residential amenity in accordance with Policy 
CDMP3 of the Wyre Local Plan (2011-31). 
 
14.  Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order 
revoking or re-enacting that Order with or without modification), there shall be 
no new first floor openings created with direct access onto the rear rooftop 
area nor shall there be any alterations to the existing first floor windows with 
direct outlook onto the rear rooftop area without express planning permission 
from the Local Planning Authority. 
  
 Reason: To ensure that the Local Planning Authority have control over 
any future development to prevent access to the flat roof at the rear of the 
building in order to protect adjoining properties from overlooking and noise 
disturbance and to comply with Policy CDMP3 of the Wyre Local Plan (2011-
31). 
 
Notes: - 
 
 1.  This permission does not relate to the display of any advertisements which 
may require consent under the Town and Country Planning (Control of 
Advertisements) Regulations 1989. 
 2.  If any part of the proposed development encroaches onto neighbouring 
property the approval of the adjoining owners should be obtained before the 
development is commenced. 
 3.  The grant of planning permission does not authorise any closure, 
obstruction or diversion of a public right of way. Any proposed stopping-up or 
diversion of a public right of way should be the subject of an Order under the 
appropriate Act and Lancashire County Council should be contacted for 
advice in the first instance.  
 
 
 
 

Page 50



Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
Committee Report    Date: 03.11.2021 
 
Item Number   03  

 
Application Number      21/00881/FUL 

 
Proposal Application for the retention of first floor balcony, with 

alterations to existing first floor fenestration and 
balustrade 
 

Location 43 Hathaway Road Fleetwood Lancashire FY7 7JH 
 

Applicant Mr Michael Worthington 
 

Correspondence 
Address 

c/o Mrs Adele Earnshaw 
41 Shaw Road Blackpool FY1 6HS 
 

Recommendation Refuse 
 

 

Report of the head of planning services 
  
Case officer - Miss Fiona Flower 
 
1.0 Introduction  
 
1.1 This application is before the Planning Committee for consideration at 
the request of Cllr Fairbanks. A site visit is recommended to enable Members 
to understand the proposal beyond the plans submitted and the photos taken 
by the Case Officer. 
 
2.0 Site description and location  
 
2.1 The site which forms the subject of this application is located on the 
southern side of Hathaway Road, Fleetwood. Located in a prominent corner 
position with Beach Road, the site is occupied by a two-storey semi-detached 
dwelling. The application property is positioned so that its front elevation faces 
north-west, looking over Fleetwood Cemetery towards Rossall Point. Other 
properties within the street comprise a similar design and size. 
 
3.0 The proposal   
  
3.1 This application follows two previously refused applications, 
20/00885/FUL and 21/00014/FUL, albeit with a slight modification. 
 
3.2 This application seeks permission for the retention of a first floor 
balcony to the front elevation. The balcony has a maximum width of 6.55m 

Page 53

Agenda Item 5c



and projects 1.05m from the front elevation of the dwelling. The balcony is 
supported by two columns at either end, approximately 2.63m in height. The 
balcony has a balustrade of grey composite cladding, with centrally located 
transparent panel. Alterations to this balustrade are proposed, with provision 
of an obscure glazed UPVC frame screen sitting on top of the cladding at 
1.8m in height to the southern and northern end of the balcony, and two 
further transparent panels within the front balustrade. The other panels would 
remain in grey composite cladding. 
 
4.0 Relevant planning history  
  
4.1 20/00885/FUL - Retrospective application for the retention of balcony at 
first floor to front elevation - Refused 
 
4.2 21/00014/FUL- Retrospective application for the retention of balcony at 
first floor to front elevation (Re-submission of application 20/00885/FUL) - 
Refused 
 
5.0 Planning policy  
  
5.1   Adopted Wyre borough local plan  
 
5.1.1 The Wyre Local Plan 2011-2031 (WLP31) was adopted on 28 February 
2019 and forms the development plan for Wyre. To the extent that 
development plan policies are material to the application, and in accordance 
with the provisions of section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 and section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
the decision must be taken in accordance with the development plan unless 
there are material considerations that indicate otherwise. 
 
5.1.2 The following policies are of most relevance: 
 

 CDMP3 - Design 
 
Other material considerations 
 
5.2 National planning policy framework 
 
5.2.1 The revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was 
published by the Government on 20th July 2021. It sets out the planning 
policies for England and how these should be applied in the determination of 
planning applications and the preparation of development plans. At the heart 
of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development 
(paragraph 11).  Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development. 
The NPPF sets out a number of planning policies concerned with achieving 
well-designed places including providing a high standard of amenity. 
 
5.3 Wyre supplementary planning guidance  
 
5.3.1 Extending your home supplementary planning document (SPD):  

Page 54



Design Note 1 - General principles 
 
5.3.2 Supplementary Planning Guidance Note 4 - Spacing Guidance for New 
Housing Layouts 
 
6.0 Consultation responses   
  
6.1 Fleetwood Town Council - No response received  
 
7.0 Representations  
  
7.1 3 representations have been received in support of the application, 
reasons include: 
 

 attractive design 

 does not impact upon light or privacy 
  
8.0 Contact with applicant/agent 
 
8.1 Contact was made with the Agent to make them aware of the 
committee request and date of committee meeting.  
  
9.0 Assessment 
  
Principle of development 
 
9.1 Extensions to an existing property within its curtilage are acceptable in 
principle.  
 
Design and visual impact 
 
9.2  The application follows two previously refused applications for the 
retention of a first floor balcony. The only change to the proposal under this 
current application is the addition of obscure glazed screen panels at both 
ends of the balcony, and additional transparent panels to the front of the 
balustrade. Despite these changes, the design and visual impact issues 
identified under the previous applications are still a concern. The obscure-
glazed screens, proposed to overcome amenity concerns, are considered to 
exacerbate the design flaws of the proposal. The balcony would still create an 
imbalance on the pair of semi-detached properties, forming an intrusive 
feature within the street scene, and is not considered suitable in this location 
given it is not in-keeping with the character of the host dwelling or surrounding 
area. As determined with the previous applications, the scale, siting, and use 
of bulky materials are considered to be visually detrimental and contradict the 
councils design guidance (Extending Your Home SPD) and provisions set out 
in Policy CDMP3 of the WLP31. 

Page 55



 
Residential amenity impact 
 
9.3 All observations and representations raised by neighbours are 
acknowledged, however only the material planning matters raised can be 
taken into account.  
 
9.4  The balcony extends the full width of the front elevation up to the 
adjoining property, number 138 Beach Road. The proposed plans show the 
addition of an obscure glazed screen panel to the southern end of the balcony 
where the application property adjoins with its neighbour. The proposed 
screen would lessen impacts from overlooking, however the nature of a first 
floor balcony in this position still has potential to appear overbearing upon 
no.138. 
 
9.5 The neighbouring property to the north of the application site, on the 
adjacent corner of Hathaway Road, is number 52. The distance between the 
front elevations of these properties is approximately 14.5m. Whilst this 
distance is less than the 21m minimum distance stipulated within the councils 
spacing guidance (SPG4) between front elevations, the elevations do not 
directly face onto each other. As such the provision of a first floor balcony to 
the front elevation of the application dwelling including obscure glazed screen 
to the northern end is not considered to result in significant overlooking 
impacts upon the residential amenity of no.52 
 
9.6 Whilst there will be some impact upon the residential amenity of the 
above neighbouring properties, it is not considered that the proposal would 
result in such significant adverse impact to be contrary to policy CDMP3 of the 
Local Plan in this regard. 
 
Parking and highway safety 
 
9.7  The application proposal would not result in parking or highway safety 
concerns. 
 
Flood risk 
 
9.8 The application site is not located within an area identified as at risk 
from flooding, therefore no issues are identified. 
 
Other material considerations 
 
9.9 Ecology - no issues identified.  
 
9.10 Trees - no issues identified.  
 
9.11 Land contamination - no issues identified. 

Page 56



 
   
10.0 Conclusion  
  
10.1 The proposal is considered to be of poor design and visually harmful to 
the host dwelling and to the street scene, by reason of its siting, scale and use 
of bulky materials. This would contradict the design requirements of the 
NPPF, Adopted Wyre Local Plan Policy CDMP3, and the council's Extending 
Your Home SPD. 
 
11.0 Human rights act implications  
  
11.1 ARTICLE 8 - Right to respect the private and family life has been 
considered in coming to this recommendation. 
 
11.2 ARTICLE 1 of the First Protocol Protection of Property has been 
considered in coming to this recommendation. 
 
12.0 Recommendation  
  
12.1 Refuse planning permission for the following reason: 
 
1. The proposed balcony on the front elevation would, by virtue of its 
scale, siting, elevated position and use of bulky and incompatible materials, 
be disproportionate and present an incongruous feature that would be 
detrimental to the character and appearance of the existing property and 
wider street scene. As such, the proposal is considered to contradict Policy 
CDMP3 of the Adopted Wyre Local Plan (2011-2031), the design guidance 
set out within the Council's adopted 'Extending Your Home' Supplementary 
Planning Document, and the provisions of the NPPF. 
 
 
 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 

Report of: Meeting Date Item No. 

Mark Billington  
Corporate Director 

Environment  
 

Planning Committee 3 November 2021  

    

Wyre Council Tree Preservation Order No5 of 2021: Land to the north east of 
The Iron Horse Public House, Fleetwood Road North, Thornton Cleveleys, FY5 

4LH. 

 
 
1. Purpose of report 

 
 1.1 

 
To consider the objection to the making of Wyre Council Tree 
Preservation Order No5 of 2021: Land to the north east of The Iron Horse 
Public House, Fleetwood Road North, Thornton Cleveleys, FY5 4LH. 
 

2. Outcomes 
 

 2.1 
 
 
 
2.2 
 
 

To determine whether or not to confirm the Wyre Council Tree 
Preservation Order No5 of 2021: Land to the north east of The Iron Horse 
Public House, Fleetwood Road North, Thornton Cleveleys, FY5 4LH. 
 
An effective tree preservation order makes it an offence to do any works to 
the protected trees without first gaining consent from the Local Planning 
Authority unless such works are covered by an exemption within the Town 
and Country Planning (Tree Preservation) (England) Regulations 2012. 
 

3. Recommendation 
 

 3.1 
 

That the Wyre Council Tree Preservation Order No5 of 2021: Land to the 
north east of The Iron Horse Public House, Fleetwood Road North, 
Thornton Cleveleys, FY5 4LH. (“the TPO”) is confirmed without 
modifications for the reasons set out in this report. 
 

4. Legislative background to the TPO 
 

 4.1 
 
 
 

Section 198 of The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 
empowers Local Planning Authorities to protect trees or woodlands in their 
area in the interests of amenity by making tree preservation orders. 

Page 61

Agenda Item 6



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.3 
 
 
 

Following the introduction of The Town and Country Planning (Tree 
Preservation) (England) Regulations 2012, The Local Planning  
 
Authority is required to confirm a tree preservation order within six months 
of the issue date if it is to continue to have effect after that period. When 
an objection is received, a decision on confirmation is usually referred to 
the Planning Committee. 
 
Tree preservation orders are usually made because it is considered 
expedient in the interests of amenity to protect the trees from felling or 
pruning. Authorities can also consider other sources of risks to trees with 
significant amenity value. For example, changes in property ownership and 
intentions to fell trees are not always known in advance, so it may 
sometimes be appropriate to proactively make an order as a precaution. 
 
Amenity is not defined in law but the government’s advice is that authorities 
need to exercise judgement when deciding whether it is within their powers 
to make an Order. Orders should be used to protect selected trees and 
woodlands if their removal would have a significant negative impact on the 
local environment and its enjoyment by the public. Before authorities make 
or confirm an Order they should be able to show that protection would bring 
a reasonable degree of public benefit in the present or future (GOV.UK, 
2014). 
 

 4.4 
 
 

Therefore the following criteria should be taken into account when 
assessing the amenity value of trees: 
 

 Visibility: the extent to which the trees or woodlands can be seen 
by the general public will inform the LPA's assessment of whether 
its impact on the local environment is significant. The trees, or at 
least part of them, should normally be visible from a public place, 
such as a road or footpath, or accessible by the public. 

 

 Individual, collective and wider impact: public visibility alone will 
not be sufficient to warrant an Order. The authority is advised to also 
assess the particular importance of an individual tree, of groups of 
trees or of woodlands by reference to it of their characteristics 
including: 
 

 Size and form; 
 

 Future potential as amenity; 
 

 Rarity or historic value; 
 

 Contribution to, and relationship with, the landscape; and 
 

 Contribution to the character or appearance of a conservation area.  
 

 Other factors: where relevant to an assessment of the amenity 
value of trees or woodlands, authorities may consider taking into 
account other factors, such as importance to nature conservation or 

Page 62



response to climate change, although according to guidance these 
“Other factors” alone would not warrant the making an order. 

 
(Source: Tree Preservation Orders and trees in Conservation 
Areas/Planning Practice Guidance March 2014). 
 

 4.4 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4.5 
 

The Regulation 5 notice, which is a legal notice that is served with the tree 
preservation order documents on the owner and occupier of the land 
affected by a tree preservation order and also the owner and occupier of 
the adjoining land, states the reason why the trees have been protected 
and invites objections or representations to be made to the Local Planning 
Authority within a 28-day period. The Regulation 5 Notice issued in respect 
of the land affected by the TPO gave the reason for making the TPO as “it 
is expedient in the interest of amenity”.  
 
Once made, a tree preservation order takes effect provisionally for six 
months, but must be confirmed by the Local Planning Authority within that 
period to continue to be effective. If it is not confirmed the tree preservation 
order ceases to have effect and the trees are unprotected. When objections 
or representations are received the Council must consider those before 
any decision is made whether or not to confirm the order. In these cases, 
referral to Planning Committee is usually appropriate. 
 
Within the framework of a TPO, a Local Planning Authority may classify 
trees as occurring either as individuals, groups, woodlands, or areas.   
 
A woodland designation recognises that natural regeneration from seed is 
integral to self-sustaining woodland and therefore covers each and every 
tree irrespective of whether it was growing at the time the TPO was made. 
The Woodland designation covers future trees. The Woodland designation 
can make allowance for some degree of woodland management taking 
place in order to sustain the woodland. 
 

5. Background to making the TPO 
 

 5.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
5.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 

On 1st June 2021 the tree officer visited site and undertook an appropriate 
tree evaluation method for preservation orders (“TEMPO”) which guided 
the subsequent decision to make the TPO. The TPO applies to a 
broadleaved woodland “W1” comprising of willow, alder, sycamore, 
hawthorn and elder trees. 
 
A copy of the completed TEMPO survey data sheet relating to the TPO 
along with associated public visibility images of the TPO are appended to 
this report at Appendix 1.  
 
On 17 June 2021 Wyre Council made Tree Preservation Order No5 of 
2021: Land to the north east of The Iron Horse Public House, Fleetwood 
Road North, Thornton Cleveleys, FY5 4LH. A copy of the TPO plan and 
Lancashire Map current aerial imagery showing W1 are appended to this 
report at Appendix 2. 
 
 

Page 63



 
5.3 
 
 
 
 
5.4 
 
 
 
5.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The Council served correspondence on the owners and occupiers of the 
land affected by the TPO and on those adjoining, notifying them of the 
making of the TPO in accordance with Regulation 5 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Tree Preservation) (England) Regulations 2012. 
 
It is understood that a planning application has recently been submitted in 
relation to the site where W1 is located but the status of this application is 
invalid  
 
The period for any objections and representations to be made to the 
Council in respect of the TPO ended on 15 July 2021. On 15 July 2021 
Wyre Council received a TPO objection report compiled by a tree 
consultant forwarded by e-mail from planning consultants acting on behalf 
of their client the owner of the site. 
 
A copy of the TPO objection report is appended to this report at Appendix 
3. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 64



6. Summary of Objections  
 
The Conclusion of the TPO objection report provides the grounds of the 
objection.This has been included below for ease of consideration.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

  
   

Page 65



 
7.0 
 

 
Response to Objections 
 
 

 7.1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.2 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.4 
 
 
 
7.5 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The site is allocated for mixed use development. The policy sets out that 
development “shall be supported by a landscape and green infrastructure 
framework, incorporating structured tree planting”. It is clear that any 
proposed development application would need to take into account 
existing trees, W1 and associated amenity values relevant to that 
application. The policy does regardlessly not justify the clear-felling of 
existing trees as is suggested in the objection. 
 
Any historical planning applications that relate to the site have received 
permission at a different time and with different considerations on their 
own individual merits. They do not set a precedent for clearance of W1. 
Any new application would need to be considered  in relation to all the 
circumstances and issues relevant to that application at the time of 
determination... 
 
 
The tree officer exercised judgement having regard to government 
guidance when deciding to make the TPO. A Tree Evaluation Method for 
Tree Preservation Orders (TEMPO) was undertaken on 1st June 2021 in 
respect of the TPO. The TEMPO comprised an amenity assessment in 
relation to the condition and suitability of the trees along with retention 
span, tree species, sizes of the trees included, life expectancy, public 
visibility, other factors and expediency. There is a perceived threat to 
trees. The TEMPO assessment showed the making of the TPO to be 
defensible and the TPO was made ‘because expedient in the interest of 
amenity to protect the woodland’. The TEMPO scoring also reflects the 
need for appropriate woodland management requirements. In the view of 
the tree officer, W1 justifies a score of 3 in relation to providing a suitable 
degree of relative public visibility as set out in Part 1: c) of the TEMPO.  
 
For completeness, the TEMPO at Appendix 1 undertaken in relation to 
the TPO shows the amenity and expediency assessments for those 
aspects of the TPO.   
 
BS5837:2012 provides recommendations and direction relating to 
interplay of processes between trees, design, demolition and 
construction. It is not a means of evaluating tree/s suitability for TPO 
which is the purpose of TEMPO. There is a clear distinction between 
BS5837: 2012 categorisation and TEMPO. The purpose of a BS5837 
2012 Tree Survey is to provide information on the quality and value of 
existing trees and suitable retention and protection measures in the 
context of proposals for development. Although the tree consultatnt has 
chosen to categorise trees individually and within groups from a 
BS5837:2012 perspective, the categorisations are not transferable to 
provide influence over the tree officer’s informed choice to categorise 
trees collectively as W1 from the viewpoint of undertaking TEMPO. 
Moreover, the BS5837:2012 cascade chart of tree quality assessment 
steers clear of referring to visual amenity. 

Page 66



 
7.6 
 
 
 
 
 
7.7 
 
 
 
 
7.8 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
7.9 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
To further demonstate that the tree officer has correctly identified the 
trees as a woodland it is noted that the National Forest Inventory (NFI) 
woodland map (Updated July 2021) covering all UK forest and woodland 
over 0.5 hectare shows the position of W1 as a broadleaved woodland of 
0.68 ha in area. 
 
For diversity, a woodland will contain a mixture of different species of 
trees, in different conditions and of different ages. A copy of W1 
associated NFI woodland map is also appended to this report at 
Appendix 2.  
 
W1 comprises of tree species that are suitable for the environmental 
conditions prevalent at the location.The current area cover of W1 is 
evidence to the success of regeneration and  succession changes that 
have taken place since partial clearing circa 2009. Also, the position of 
W1 is displayed on OS 1840 first edition map 1:10560, OS 1890 First 
Edition 1:2500, OS 1950 1:50000 mapping , aerial imagery from 1940’s 
and 1960’s. This indicates that there is likely to have been continuous 
woodland cover at this location to a varying extent since records have 
become available.   
 
Advice pertaining to Planning Committee and its procedures along with a 
copy of this report relating to the TPO have been forwarded to the planning 
consultant acting for the site owner in reasonable advance of the meeting 
of Planning Committee on 3 November 2021.  
 
 
Concluding remarks  
 
It is considered that the TPO has been properly made in the interests of 
securing the contribution and benefit that the TPO applies to the public 
amenity in the area. The TPO protects important elements of the local 
landscape and contributes to the local environment. W1 presently 
protected by the TPO has been properly categorised and assessed in a 
structured and consistent way using an approved method. 
 
It is considered that the procedural requirements of the legislation have 
been followed in the creation of the TPO and determinations made using 
a widely accepted method which includes expediency assessments has 
occurred in this case. Having regard to the legislation and the 
Government Guidance, it is considered that the TPO is fully justified in all 
respects and should be confirmed. 
 

Page 67



 
 
 
 

   

 

Financial and Legal Implications 

Finance None. 

Legal 

Before confirming a Tree Preservation Order, the Local 
Planning Authority must consider any 
objections/representations made within the 28-day 
objection period. If, having considered any 
objections/representations received, the Local Planning 
Authority is satisfied that the tree merits a TPO; it may 
confirm the Order under the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 and supporting Regulations. The LPA may also 
confirm an Order in modified form, revoke it, or allow it to 
lapse. However it cannot add to the Schedule references to 
a tree to which the Order did not previously apply. There is 
no right of appeal to the Secretary of State, but a challenge 
may be made to the High Court on a point of law.  
 

 
Other risks/implications: checklist 

 
If there are significant implications arising from this report on any issues marked with 
a  below, the report author will have consulted with the appropriate specialist officers 
on those implications and addressed them in the body of the report. There are no 
significant implications arising directly from this report, for those issues marked with an 
x. 
 

implications  / x  risks/implications  / x 

community safety x  asset management X 

equality and diversity x  climate change  

sustainability   data protection X 

health and safety x  

 
 

report author telephone no. email Date 
Ryan Arrell BSc 
(Hons), HND, 

LANTRA qualified 
professional tree 

inspector. 

 

01253 887614 Ryan.Arrell@wyre.gov.uk 25 October 2021 

 
 
 

Page 68



 

List of background papers: 

name of document date where available for inspection 

Wyre Council TPO 5 of 2021 17 June 2021 Room 134 or by email to Tree Officer. 

 
 
 
List of Appendices 
 
Appendices: 
 
1 –TEMPO survey data sheet and also images of W1.  
 
2 –TPO plan , Lancashire Map current aerial imagery showing W1, National Forestry 
Inventory woodland map showing position of W1 as broadleaved woodland. 
 
3 – Copy of the TPO objection report. 
 
 
 
 
References List 
 
Tree Preservation Orders and trees in Conservation Areas. GOV.UK, (2014) Accessed  
Via https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-
areas 
 
(TEMPO)  Tree Evaluation Method for Preservation Orders 
http://www.flac.uk.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/TEMPO-GN.pdf  
 
Town and Country Planning (Tree Preservation) (England) Regulations 2012. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 69

http://www.flac.uk.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/TEMPO-GN.pdf


 
 
 
Appendix 1  
 

 
 

Page 70



 

 
Above: View looking east towards W1 from Fleetwood Road North. 
 

 
Above: Streetview – view of W1 when facing south east from north side of the  
round about (W1 to right of image centre), Fleetwood Road North. 
 

Page 71



 
Above: View looking north east towards W1 from Fleetwood Road North. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 72



Appendix 2 
 

 
 
 

 
Above: Lancashire Map current aerial imagery with position of W1 marked. 
 
 

 

W1 

Page 73



 
Above: National Forestry Inventory (Updated July 2021) showing position of W1 as 
broadleaved woodland (at map centre highlighted as shape with mid blue infill with 
white outline).  

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 74



Appendix 3  
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

Page 75



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

Page 76



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 79

Appendix 3 



 

Page 80



  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

Page 81



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 82



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 83



 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 84



 

 

 

 

 

 

• 

• 

Page 85



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Page 86



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Page 87



• 

• 

 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Page 88



 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Page 89



 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 90



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 91



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 92



 

Page 93



9

.

2

5

0

9

.

2

5

0

9

.

5

0

0

9

.

5

0

0

9

.

7

5

0

9

.

7

5

0

10.000

10.000

10.250

10.250

9

.

0

0

0

9

.

0

0

0

9

.

2

5

0

9

.

2

5

0

9

.

5

0

0

9

.

5

0

0

9

.

7

5

0

9

.

7

5

0

1

0

.

0

0

0

1

0

.

0

0

0

1

0

.

2

5

0

1

0

.

2

5

0

8

.

7

5

0

8

.

7

5

0

8

.

2

5

0

8

.

2

5

0

8

.

5

0

0

8

.

5

0

0

8

.

0

0

0

8

.

0

0

0

7

.

7

5

0

7

.

7

5

0

7

.

5

0

0

7

.

5

0

0

7

.

0

0

0

7

.

0

0

0

7

.

2

5

0

7

.

2

5

0

6

.

7

5

0

6

.

7

5

0

6

.

5

0

0

6

.

5

0

0

6

.

2

5

0

6

.

2

5

0

6

.

0

0

0

6

.

0

0

0

6

.

0

0

0

6

.

0

0

0

6

.

0

0

0

6

.

0

0

0

5

.

7

5

0

5

.

7

5

0

8

.

2

5

0

8

.

2

5

0

8

.

0

0

0

8

.

0

0

0

7

.

7

5

0

7

.

7

5

0

7

.

5

0

0

7

.

5

0

0

7

.

2

5

0

7

.

2

5

0

7

.

0

0

0

7

.

0

0

0

6

.

7

5

0

6

.

7

5

0

6

.

5

0

0

6

.

5

0

0

6

.

2

5

0

6

.

2

5

0

6

.

0

0

0

6

.

0

0

0

5

.

7

5

0

5

.

7

5

0

5

.

5

0

0

5

.

5

0

0

5

.

2

5

0

5

.

2

5

0

5

.

0

0

0

5

.

0

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

3

.

7

5

0

3

.

7

5

0

4

.

0

0

0

4

.

0

0

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

3

.

5

0

0

3

.

5

0

0

3

.

2

5

0

3

.

2

5

0

3

.

2

5

0

3

.

2

5

0

3

.

5

0

0

3

.

5

0

0

3

.

7

5

0

3

.

7

5

0

4

.

0

0

0

4

.

0

0

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

7

5

0

5

.

0

0

0

5

.

0

0

0

5

.

2

5

0

5

.

2

5

0

5

.

2

5

0

5

.

2

5

0

5

.

5

0

0

5

.

5

0

0

5

.

7

5

0

5

.

7

5

0

6

.

0

0

0

6

.

0

0

0

6

.

2

5

0

6

.

2

5

0

6

.

5

0

0

6

.

5

0

0

6

.

7

5

0

6

.

7

5

0

7

.

0

0

0

5

.2

5

0

5

.2

5

0

5

.5

0

0

5

.5

0

0

5

.7

5

0

5

.7

5

0

6

.0

0

0

6

.0

0

0

6

.2

5

0

6

.2

5

0

6

.5

0

0

6

.5

0

0

6

.7

5

0

6

.7

5

0

7

.0

0

0

5.250

5.250

5

.

0

0

0

5

.

0

0

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

0

0

0

4

.

0

0

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

2

5

0

3

.

0

0

0

3

.

0

0

0

3

.

2

5

0

3

.

2

5

0

3

.

5

0

0

3

.

5

0

0

3

.

7

5

0

3

.

7

5

0

3

.

0

0

0

3

.

0

0

0

3

.

2

5

0

3

.

2

5

0

3

.

5

0

0

3

.

5

0

0

3

.

7

5

0

3

.

7

5

0

4

.0

0

0

4

.0

0

0

4

.2

5

0

4

.2

5

0

4

.5

0

0

4

.5

0

0

4

.7

5

0

4

.7

5

0

5

.

0

0

0

5

.

0

0

0

5

.

0

0

0

5

.

0

0

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

2

5

0

3

.

7

5

0

3

.

7

5

0

4

.

0

0

0

4

.

0

0

0

3

.

7

5

0

3

.

7

5

0

4

.

0

0

0

4

.

0

0

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

7

5

0

5

.

0

0

0

5

.

0

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

7

5

0

5

.

0

0

0

5

.

0

0

0

5

.

2

5

0

5

.

2

5

0

5

.

0

0

0

5

.

0

0

0

5

.

2

5

0

5

.

2

5

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

3

.

7

5

0

3

.

7

5

0

4

.

0

0

0

4

.

0

0

0

3

.

7

5

0

3

.

7

5

0

4

.

0

0

0

4

.

0

0

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

7

5

0

5

.

0

0

0

5

.

0

0

0

5

.

9

4

5

.

9

4

5

.

9

7

5

.

9

7

5

.

6

3

3

.

8

7

3

.

8

9

3

.

8

9

3

.

9

8

3

.

9

8

BTBT

BTBT

BTBT

BTBT

BTBT

9

.

4

9

9

.

4

9

9

.

2

5

9

.

2

5

8

.

9

5

8

.

9

5

8

.

7

8

8

.

7

8

8

.

2

2

8

.

2

2

7

.

3

0

7

.

3

0

7

.

1

8

7

.

1

8

7

.

0

0

7

.

0

0

6

.

6

6

6

.

6

6

6

.

2

6

6

.

2

6

1

0

.

1

9

1

0

.

1

9

1

0

.

2

1

1

0

.

2

1

1

0

.

4

6

1

0

.

4

6

1

0

.

7

2

1

0

.

7

2

1

0

.

8

3

1

0

.

8

3

1

1

.

2

6

1

1

.

2

6

1

1

.

0

2

1

1

.

0

2

1

0

.

8

5

1

0

.

8

5

1

1

.

3

0

1

1

.

3

0

1

1

.

4

2

1

1

.

4

2

1

1

.

7

3

1

1

.

7

3

1

1

.

8

7

1

1

.

8

7

1

1

.

7

7

1

1

.

7

7

1

1

.

7

0

1

1

.

7

0

1

1

.

6

4

1

1

.

6

4

1

1

.

4

6

1

1

.

4

6

1

1

.

1

1

1

1

.

1

1

1

0

.

7

7

1

0

.

7

7

1

0

.

4

2

1

0

.

4

2

9

.

8

2

9

.

8

2

9

.

3

4

9

.

3

4

9

.

2

1

9

.

2

1

8

.

9

3

8

.

9

3

8

.

7

5

8

.

7

5

8

.

5

9

8

.

5

9

8

.

3

2

8

.

3

2

8

.

4

2

8

.

4

2

8

.

2

1

8

.

2

1

8

.

0

2

8

.

0

2

7

.

6

3

7

.

6

3

7

.

4

5

7

.

4

5

7

.

7

9

7

.

7

9

7

.

8

2

7

.

8

2

7

.

5

7

7

.

5

7

7

.

3

6

7

.

3

6

1

2

.

0

1

1

2

.

0

1

1

1

.

8

7

1

1

.

8

7

1

1

.

6

4

1

1

.

6

4

1

2

.

0

5

1

2

.

0

5

1

2

.

6

5

1

2

.

6

5

1

3

.

3

1

1

3

.

3

1

1

3

.

7

9

1

3

.

7

9

1

1

.

0

5

1

1

.

0

5

1

0

.

9

7

1

0

.

9

7

1

0

.

6

5

1

0

.

6

5

1

0

.

5

3

1

0

.

5

3

1

0

.

3

2

1

0

.

3

2

1

0

.

0

3

FHFH

FHFH

9

.

5

7

9

.

5

7

8

.

9

4

8

.

9

4

8

.

7

6

8

.

7

6

8

.

3

6

8

.

3

6

7

.

7

3

7

.

7

3

7

.

0

8

7

.

0

8

6

.

5

3

6

.

5

3

6

.

3

3

6

.

3

3

6

.

2

4

6

.

2

4

1

0

.

0

6

1

0

.

0

6

1

0

.

2

1

1

0

.

2

1

1

0

.

2

4

1

0

.

2

4

1

0

.

4

8

1

0

.

4

8

1

0

.

6

9

1

0

.

6

9

1

0

.

8

8

1

0

.

8

8

1

0

.

5

7

1

0

.

5

7

1

0

.

7

0

1

0

.

7

0

1

0

.

7

6

1

0

.

7

6

1

0

.

8

5

1

0

.

8

5

1

0

.

7

7

1

0

.

7

7

1

0

.

6

3

1

0

.

6

3

1

0

.

4

6

1

0

.

4

6

1

0

.

2

7

1

0

.

2

7

9

.

9

6

9

.

9

6

9

.

8

6

9

.

8

6

9

.

6

1

9

.

6

1

1

0

.

8

4

1

0

.

8

4

1

0

.

9

2

1

0

.

9

2

1

1

.

0

0

1

1

.

0

0

1

1

.

0

0

1

1

.

0

0

1

0

.

9

0

1

0

.

9

0

1

0

.

9

0

1

0

.

9

0

1

0

.

8

7

1

0

.

8

7

1

0

.8

8

1

0

.8

8

1

0

.

8

1

1

0

.

8

1

1

0

.

7

3

1

0

.

7

3

1

0

.

5

9

1

0

.

5

9

1

0

.

3

1

1

0

.

3

1

9

.

9

4

9

.

9

4

9

.

5

1

9

.

5

1

9

.

1

4

9

.

1

4

8

.

8

2

8

.

8

2

8

.

6

5

8

.

6

5

8

.

5

1

8

.

5

1

8

.

3

6

8

.

3

6

1

0

.

5

6

1

0

.

5

6

1

0

.

6

3

1

0

.

6

3

1

0

.

7

0

1

0

.

7

0

6

.

5

9

6

.

5

9

6

.

7

0

6

.

7

0

6

.

7

5

6

.

7

5

6

.

6

6

6

.

6

6

6

.

4

7

6

.

4

7

7

.

5

0

7

.

5

0

7

.

5

8

7

.

5

8

7

.

7

5

7

.

7

5

7

.

9

3

7

.

9

3

8

.

0

4

8

.

0

4

8

.

1

8

8

.

1

8

8

.

3

4

8

.

3

4

8

.

3

0

8

.

3

0

GateGate

GateGate

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

7.457.45

IC CLIC CL

7.597.59

IC CLIC CL

10.4810.48

IC CLIC CL

1

0

.

6

4

1

0

.

6

4

1

0

.

9

2

1

0

.

9

2

1

0

.

5

4

1

0

.

5

4

1

0

.

8

0

1

0

.

8

0

1

0

.

7

8

1

0

.

7

8

1

0

.

8

0

1

0

.

8

0

1

0

.

8

3

1

0

.

8

3

1

0

.

9

2

1

0

.

9

2

1

0

.

9

0

1

0

.

9

0

1

0

.

6

7

1

0

.

6

7

1

0

.

6

4

1

0

.

6

4

1

0

.

4

1

1

0

.

4

1

1

0

.

2

1

1

0

.

2

1

1

0

.

0

3

1

0

.

0

3

10.6910.69

MH CLMH CL

10.7910.79

MH CLMH CL

10.7510.75

MH CLMH CL

7.427.42

MH CLMH CL

7.067.06

MH CLMH CL

6.366.36

MH CLMH CL

6.816.81

MH CLMH CL

6.656.65

MH CLMH CL

6.456.45

MH CLMH CL

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

LPLP

LPLP

LPLP

LPLP

LPLP

LPLP

LPLP

LPLP

LPLP

LPLP

LPLP

MkrMkr

MkrMkr

SignSign

SignSign

SignSign

SignSign

SignSign

SignSign

6.066.06

6.066.06

6.816.81

7.177.17

7.607.60

8.148.14

8.548.54

9.229.22

9.769.76

10.3310.33

10.4410.44

10.8410.84

10.9610.96

11.4111.41

13.69

13.6813.68

12.9112.91

12.3812.38

12.1812.18

11.7711.77

9.409.40

9.699.69

9.549.54

7.067.06

7.127.12

7.287.28

7.647.64

7.367.36

7.437.43

7.207.20

7.357.35

7.277.27

7.567.56

7.577.57

7.787.78

7.847.84

6.806.80

6.896.89

7.057.05

5.825.82

6.086.08

6.186.18

6.336.33

6.586.58

6

.

1

2

6

.

1

2

6

.

4

1

6

.

4

1

6

.

5

0

6

.

5

0

6

.

9

7

6

.

9

7

7

.

5

8

7

.

5

8

8

.

2

9

8

.

2

9

8

.

9

3

8

.

9

3

9

.

5

1

9

.

5

1

1

0

.

3

6

1

0

.

3

6

1

0

.

5

1

1

0

.

5

1

1

0

.

4

6

1

0

.

4

6

1

0

.

7

4

1

0

.

7

4

1

0

.

8

8

1

0

.

8

8

1

0

.

9

5

1

0

.

9

5

1

0

.

6

3

1

0

.

6

3

1

0

.

0

2

1

0

.

0

2

9

.

2

7

9

.

2

7

8

.

5

2

8

.

5

2

7

.

6

7

7

.

6

7

7

.

2

3

7

.

2

3

7

.

0

8

7

.

0

8

6

.

9

9

6

.

9

9

6

.

8

8

6

.

8

8

6

.

7

1

6

.

7

1

6

.

4

8

6

.

4

8

5

.

9

5

6

.

0

3

6

.

0

3

6

.

3

1

6

.

3

1

6

.

3

7

6

.

3

7

6

.

8

3

6

.

8

3

7

.

1

3

7

.

1

3

7

.

4

3

7

.

4

3

7

.

7

9

7

.

7

9

8

.

1

4

8

.

1

4

8

.

2

1

8

.

2

1

8

.

6

1

8

.

6

1

8

.

9

3

8

.

9

3

9

.

1

3

9

.

1

3

9

.

4

5

9

.

4

5

9

.

6

3

9

.

6

3

9

.

7

4

9

.

7

4

1

0

.

0

7

1

0

.

0

7

1

0

.

4

3

1

0

.

4

3

1

0

.

5

2

1

0

.

5

2

1

0

.

6

5

1

0

.

6

5

1

0

.

6

5

1

0

.

6

5

1

0

.

5

3

1

0

.

5

3

1

0

.

4

2

1

0

.

4

2

1

0

.

1

2

1

0

.

1

2

9

.

9

2

9

.

9

2

9

.

4

5

9

.

4

5

8

.

7

8

8

.

7

8

7

.

9

7

7

.

9

7

7

.

4

2

7

.

4

2

7

.

2

4

7

.

2

4

7

.

1

5

7

.

1

5

7

.

1

0

7

.

1

0

7

.

0

4

7

.

0

4

6

.

9

7

6

.

9

7

6

.

9

0

6

.

9

0

6

.

8

5

6

.

8

5

6

.

8

0

6

.

8

0

6

.

7

0

6

.

7

0

6

.

5

6

6

.

5

6

6

.

4

7

6

.

4

7

9

.

4

9

9

.

4

9

9

.

6

1

9

.

6

1

9

.

7

8

9

.

7

8

9

.

9

8

9

.

9

8

1

0

.

3

6

1

0

.

3

6

1

0

.

4

0

1

0

.

4

0

1

0

.

5

2

1

0

.

5

2

1

0

.

6

1

1

0

.

6

1

1

0

.

7

1

1

0

.

7

1

1

0

.

7

4

1

0

.

7

4

1

0

.

7

8

1

0

.

7

8

1

0

.

8

0

1

0

.

8

0

1

0

.

8

2

1

0

.

8

2

1

0

.

8

8

1

0

.

8

8

1

0

.

7

6

1

0

.

7

6

1

0

.

7

0

1

0

.

7

0

1

0

.

6

3

1

0

.

6

3

1

0

.

5

3

1

0

.

5

3

9

.

3

8

9

.

3

8

9

.

2

3

9

.

2

3

9

.

0

0

9

.

0

0

8

.

6

2

8

.

6

2

8

.

2

2

8

.

2

2

7

.

5

8

7

.

5

8

7

.

3

2

7

.

3

2

6

.

8

7

6

.

8

7

6

.

5

3

6

.

5

3

6

.

3

7

6

.

3

7

6

.

3

0

6

.

3

0

6

.

0

0

6

.

0

0

1

0

.

6

0

1

0

.

6

0

1

0

.

7

9

1

0

.

7

9

1

0

.

6

8

1

0

.

6

8

1

0

.

5

1

1

0

.

5

1

1

0

.

6

8

1

0

.

6

8

1

0

.

6

6

1

0

.

6

6

1

0

.

6

9

1

0

.

6

9

1

0

.

7

3

1

0

.

7

3

1

0

.

8

1

1

0

.

8

1

1

0

.

8

3

1

0

.

8

3

1

0

.

7

8

1

0

.

7

8

1

0

.

6

4

1

0

.

6

4

1

0

.

5

4

1

0

.

5

4

1

0

.

3

5

1

0

.

3

5

1

0

.

1

4

1

0

.

1

4

9

.

9

4

1

0

.

7

7

1

0

.

7

7

1

0

.

6

6

1

0

.

6

6

1

0

.

6

5

1

0

.

6

5

1

0

.

6

1

1

0

.

6

1

8

.

4

9

8

.

4

9

20152015

20202020

20212021

20262026

1

1

.

0

8

1

1

.

0

8

1

2

.

1

2

1

2

.

1

2

1

2

.

1

7

1

2

.

1

7

1

2

.

1

8

1

2

.

1

8

1

2

.

1

6

1

2

.

1

6

1

2

.

2

3

1

2

.

2

3

1

2

.

1

6

1

2

.

1

6

1

2

.

0

7

1

2

.

0

7

5

.

9

9

5

.

9

9

6

.

1

2

6

.

1

2

6

.

0

3

6

.

0

3

5

.

9

3

5

.

9

3

5

.

5

7

5

.

5

7

5

.

8

5

5

.

8

5

5

.

7

7

5

.

7

7

5

.

7

8

5

.

7

8

5

.

7

9

5

.

7

9

GG

GG

GGGG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

G

1

0

.

9

4

1

0

.

9

4

1

0

.

9

9

1

0

.

9

9

1

1

.

0

4

1

1

.

0

4

1

1

.

0

2

1

1

.

0

2

1

0

.

9

0

1

0

.

9

0

1

0

.

7

4

1

0

.

7

4

9

.

6

4

9

.

6

4

9

.

7

5

9

.

7

5

9

.

9

0

9

.

9

0

1

0

.

1

0

1

0

.

1

0

1

0

.

4

9

1

0

.

4

9

1

0

.

5

2

1

0

.

5

2

1

0

.

6

3

1

0

.

6

3

1

0

.

7

2

1

0

.

7

2

1

0

.

8

3

1

0

.

8

3

1

0

.

8

6

1

0

.

8

6

1

0

.

8

9

1

0

.

8

9

1

0

.

9

3

1

0

.

9

3

1

0

.

9

4

1

0

.

9

4

1

1

.

0

1

1

1

.

0

1

1

0

.

8

7

1

0

.

8

7

1

0

.

8

2

1

0

.

8

2

1

0

.

7

0

1

0

.

7

0

1

0

.

5

9

1

0

.

5

9

8

.

0

6

8

.

0

6

8

.

1

3

8

.

1

3

8

.

1

0

8

.

1

0

7.947.94

7

.

8

5

7

.

8

5

7

.

5

9

7

.

5

9

7

.

4

6

7

.

4

6

7

.

3

2

7

.

3

2

7

.

2

5

7

.

2

5

7

.

1

4

7

.

1

4

6

.

9

7

6

.

9

7

6

.

8

0

6

.

8

0

6

.

6

5

6

.

6

5

6

.

5

0

6

.

5

0

6

.

3

0

6

.

3

0

6

.

1

0

6

.

1

0

5

.

9

2

5

.

9

2

5

.

6

9

5

.

6

9

8

.

7

4

8

.

7

4

8

.

4

6

8

.

4

6

8

.

3

0

8

.

3

0

8

.

2

4

8

.

2

4

8

.

1

6

8

.

1

6

8

.

6

1

8

.

6

1

8

.

4

5

8

.

4

5

8

.

4

1

8

.

4

1

8

.

3

5

8

.

3

5

8

.

9

9

8

.

9

9

9

.

1

4

9

.

1

4

9

.

4

0

9

.

4

0

9

.

8

3

9

.

8

3

1

0

.

2

9

1

0

.

2

9

1

0

.

4

9

1

0

.

4

9

8

.

8

3

8

.

8

3

8

.

9

6

8

.

9

6

9

.

2

8

9

.

2

8

9

.

7

1

9

.

7

1

1

0

.

1

6

1

0

.

1

6

1

0

.

3

7

1

0

.

3

7

8

.

2

1

8

.

2

1

8

.

2

7

8

.

2

7

8

.

2

8

8

.

2

8

8.118.11

7

.

9

7

7

.

9

7

7

.

7

7

7

.

7

7

7

.

6

4

7

.

6

4

7

.

5

0

7

.

5

0

7

.

4

2

7

.

4

2

7

.

3

3

7

.

3

3

7

.

1

3

7

.

1

3

6

.

9

5

6

.

9

5

6

.

8

4

6

.

8

4

6

.

6

6

6

.

6

6

6

.

4

7

6

.

4

7

6

.

2

6

6

.

2

6

6

.

0

9

6

.

0

9

5

.

8

6

5

.

8

6

5

.

9

5

5

.

9

5

6

.

0

7

6

.

0

7

6

.

2

1

6

.

2

1

6

.

3

6

6

.

3

6

6

.

5

0

6

.

5

0

6

.

6

0

6

.

6

0

6

.

7

5

6

.

7

5

6

.

9

6

6

.

9

6

7

.

0

5

7

.

0

5

7

.

2

2

7

.

2

2

7

.

3

4

7

.

3

4

6

.

2

2

6

.

2

2

6

.

6

6

6

.

6

6

6

.

9

0

6

.

9

0

6

.

0

4

6

.

0

4

6

.

5

1

6

.

5

1

6

.

7

7

6

.

7

7

6

.

9

7

6

.

9

7

7

.

1

3

7

.

1

3

7

.

0

9

7

.

0

9

6

.

9

7

6

.

9

7

6

.

9

4

6

.

9

4

6

.

6

5

6

.

6

5

6

.

4

8

6

.

4

8

6

.

2

5

6

.

2

5

6

.

9

6

6

.

9

6

6

.

9

2

6

.

9

2

6

.

8

0

6

.

8

0

6

.

7

5

6

.

7

5

6

.

5

0

6

.

5

0

6

.

3

2

6

.

3

2

6

.

0

3

6

.

0

3

6

.

2

6

6

.

2

6

6

.

4

4

6

.

4

4

6

.

5

4

6

.

5

4

6

.

4

6

6

.

4

6

6

.

3

8

6

.

3

8

6

.

6

1

6

.

6

1

6

.

7

1

6

.

7

1

6

.

6

2

6

.

6

2

6

.

5

7

6

.

5

7

GG

9

.

6

5

9

.

6

5

9

.

9

3

9

.

9

3

9

.

9

6

9

.

9

6

9

.

7

3

9

.

7

3

9

.

5

8

9

.

5

8

9

.

4

3

9

.

4

3

9

.

3

3

9

.

3

3

9

.

1

3

9

.

1

3

8

.

8

9

8

.

8

9

8

.

5

4

8

.

5

4

7

.

4

3

7

.

4

3

6

.

7

7

6

.

7

7

6

.

2

4

6

.

2

4

6

.

1

5

6

.

1

5

5

.

9

0

5

.

9

0

5

.

7

6

5

.

7

6

5

.

4

3

5

.

4

3

4

.

7

7

4

.

7

7

4

.

9

0

4

.

9

0

5

.

0

8

5

.

0

8

1

0

.

8

9

1

0

.

8

9

1

0

.

9

6

1

0

.

9

6

9

.

9

7

9

.

9

7

9

.

5

7

9

.

5

7

9

.

3

5

9

.

3

5

9

.

0

6

9

.

0

6

8

.

8

3

8

.

8

3

8

.

4

6

8

.

4

6

7

.

6

5

7

.

6

5

7

.

0

6

7

.

0

6

6

.

3

8

6

.

3

8

6

.

1

1

6

.

1

1

6

.

1

4

6

.

1

4

6

.

0

4

6

.

1

3

6

.

1

3

6

.

4

0

6

.

4

0

6

.

4

7

6

.

4

7

6

.

9

3

6

.

9

3

7

.

1

8

7

.

1

8

7

.

4

8

7

.

4

8

7

.

8

4

7

.

8

4

8

.

1

9

8

.

1

9

8

.

2

8

8

.

2

8

8

.

6

9

8

.

6

9

9

.

0

5

9

.

0

5

9

.

1

7

9

.

1

7

9

.

5

7

9

.

5

7

9

.

7

6

9

.

7

6

9

.

8

7

9

.

8

7

1

0

.

2

0

1

0

.

2

0

1

0

.

5

6

1

0

.

5

6

1

0

.

6

3

1

0

.

6

3

1

0

.

7

7

1

0

.

7

7

1

0

.

7

7

1

0

.

7

7

1

0

.

6

5

1

0

.

6

5

1

0

.

5

3

1

0

.

5

3

1

0

.

2

4

1

0

.

2

4

1

0

.

0

4

1

0

.

0

4

9

.

5

7

9

.

5

7

8

.

9

4

8

.

9

4

8

.

1

3

8

.

1

3

7

.

5

8

7

.

5

8

7

.

4

0

7

.

4

0

7

.

3

1

7

.

3

1

7

.

2

6

7

.

2

6

7

.

2

2

7

.

2

2

7

.

1

4

7

.

1

4

7

.

0

6

7

.

0

6

7

.

0

2

7

.

0

2

6

.

9

5

6

.

9

5

6

.

8

7

6

.

8

7

6

.

7

2

6

.

7

2

6

.

6

4

6

.

6

4

9

.

5

2

9

.

5

2

9

.

3

6

9

.

3

6

9

.

1

0

9

.

1

0

8

.

7

0

8

.

7

0

8

.

3

1

8

.

3

1

7

.

6

5

7

.

6

5

7

.

3

7

7

.

3

7

6

.

9

6

6

.

9

6

6

.

6

3

6

.

6

3

6

.

4

7

6

.

4

7

6

.

3

9

6

.

3

9

6

.

1

0

6

.

1

0

8

.

6

9

8

.

6

9

9

.

3

3

9

.

3

3

9

.

9

3

9

.

9

3

1

0

.

2

0

1

0

.

2

0

1

0

.

4

3

1

0

.

4

3

1

0

.

4

1

1

0

.

4

1

1

0

.

5

1

1

0

.

5

1

1

0

.

4

8

1

0

.

4

8

1

0

.

8

8

1

0

.

8

8

9

.

0

5

9

.

0

5

1

0

.

5

9

1

0

.

5

9

1

0

.

0

9

1

0

.

0

9

9

.

4

7

9

.

4

7

8

.

5

1

8

.

5

1

1

0

.

9

1

1

0

.

9

1

1

0

.

5

2

1

0

.

5

2

1

0

.

1

0

1

0

.

1

0

9

.

1

0

9

.

1

0

1

0

.

8

4

1

0

.

8

4

1

0

.

4

0

1

0

.

4

0

9

.

9

7

9

.

9

7

9

.

6

3

9

.

6

3

9

.

3

6

9

.

3

6

9

.

2

2

9

.

2

2

9

.

1

0

9

.

1

0

8

.

7

9

8

.

7

9

9

.

1

4

9

.

1

4

9

.

5

7

9

.

5

7

9

.

9

5

9

.

9

5

1

0

.

5

7

1

0

.

5

7

1

0

.

8

5

1

0

.

8

5

SignSign

11.2111.21

11.1211.12

11.4011.40

11.5011.50

11.1511.15

10.5510.55

10.9810.98

11.5811.58

11.6111.61

11.8811.88

11.7611.76

11.1511.15

11.1511.15

11.6611.66

11.9011.90

11.7611.76

11.6311.63

11.5511.55

10.1810.18

9.499.49

8.898.89

8.408.40

7.927.92

7.657.65

7.737.73

7.917.91

8.058.05

8.158.15

8.338.33

8.648.64

8.528.52

8.448.44

10.6910.69

10.7310.73

10.5810.58

10.2910.29

10.2210.22

10.0810.08

10.0410.04

9.679.67

9.119.11

8.638.63

8.188.18

7.837.83

8.898.89

8.618.61

9.039.03

9.269.26

9.609.60

9.429.42

9.839.83

9.819.81

10.0110.01

9.709.70

10.0010.00

9.589.58

9.529.52

9.429.42

9.389.38

9.369.36

9.389.38

9.439.43

9.599.59

9.379.37

9.149.14

9.319.31

9.109.10

9.999.99

10.0210.02

9.159.15

9.799.79

10.2210.22

10.5310.53

10.8910.89

10.9010.90

10.7010.70

10.5110.51

10.6610.66

10.9310.93

10.6810.68

10.3910.39

10.4010.40

9.679.67

9.359.35

8.688.68

8.448.44

8.478.47

10.7910.79

11.0111.01

9.959.95

10.1510.15

10.5510.55

10.8110.81

10.8110.81

10.7310.73

10.9810.98

9.439.43

9.749.74

10.2410.24

10.5310.53

9.629.62

10.1910.19

10.5810.58

10.9410.94

11.3511.35

10.4210.42

10.0110.01

9.449.44

8.228.22

8.128.12

8.128.12

8.088.08

8.108.10

8.218.21

8.238.23

8.178.17

8.048.04

1

1

.

1

5

1

1

.

1

5

1

0

.

9

7

1

0

.

9

7

1

0

.

8

5

1

0

.

8

5

1

0

.

6

4

1

0

.

6

4

1

0

.

4

3

1

0

.

4

3

1

0

.

3

6

1

0

.

3

6

1

0

.

3

3

1

0

.

3

3

1

0

.

3

0

1

0

.

3

0

1

0

.

4

2

1

0

.

4

2

1

0

.

6

8

1

0

.

6

8

1

1

.

5

1

1

1

.

5

1

7

.

8

0

7

.

8

0

8

.

1

8

8

.

1

8

7

.

9

4

7

.

9

4

7

.

7

2

7

.

7

2

7

.

8

4

7

.

8

4

7

.

8

6

7

.

8

6

9

.

3

2

9

.

3

2

1

0

.

1

0

1

0

.

1

0

1

0

.

0

0

1

0

.

0

0

9

.

7

3

9

.

7

3

9

.

4

5

9

.

4

5

9

.

6

1

9

.

6

1

9

.

7

5

9

.

7

5

1

0

.

0

3

1

0

.

0

3

8.118.11

8.058.05

6

.

1

8

6

.

1

8

5

.

8

3

5

.

8

3

5

.

8

4

5

.

8

3

5

.

8

3

5

.

8

3

6.436.43

7.897.89

7.947.94

8.178.17

8.188.18

8.068.06

7.507.50

11.2111.21

11.5011.50

11.5711.57

10.8010.80

10.5310.53

10.3710.37

10.4210.42

9.819.81

9.119.11

8

.

5

5

8

.

5

5

9

.

0

4

9

.

0

4

9

.

4

8

9

.

4

8

9

.

7

0

9

.

7

0

9

.

8

3

9

.

8

3

9

.

7

3

9

.

7

3

9

.

6

4

9

.

6

4

8

.

4

5

8

.

4

5

8

.

2

2

8

.

2

2

8

.

3

1

8

.

3

1

8

.

2

3

8

.

2

3

8

.

2

3

8

.

2

3

8

.

3

3

8

.

3

3

5

.

0

7

5

.

0

7

5

.

0

7

5

.

0

7

5

.

1

4

5

.

1

4

5

.

0

7

5

.

0

7

5

.

0

4

5

.

0

4

5

.

7

4

5

.

7

4

6

.

2

0

6

.

2

0

6

.

2

5

6

.

2

5

6

.

4

2

6

.

4

2

6

.

5

4

6

.

5

4

6

.

4

9

6

.

4

9

6

.

2

7

6

.

2

7

3

.

8

5

3

.

8

5

3

.

8

9

3

.

8

9

3

.

9

3

3

.

9

3

3

.

8

1

3

.

8

1

3

.

9

7

3

.

9

7

5

.

0

5

5

.

0

5

4

.

9

9

4

.

9

9

4

.

4

6

4

.

4

6

4

.

9

6

4

.

9

6

4

.

5

6

4

.

5

6

4

.

6

7

4

.

6

7

4

.

6

8

4

.

6

8

4

.

5

6

4

.

5

6

4

.

5

3

4

.

5

3

4

.

6

8

4

.

6

8

4

.

6

8

4

.

6

8

4

.

6

9

4

.

6

9

4

.

7

6

4

.

7

6

4

.

6

8

4

.

6

8

3

.

5

7

3

.

5

7

2

.

9

8

2

.

9

8

3

.

0

8

3

.

0

8

3

.

5

4

3

.

5

4

3

.

3

7

3

.

3

7

3

.

1

5

3

.

1

5

3

.

3

3

3

.

3

3

3

.

0

8

3

.

0

8

3

.

1

2

3

.

1

2

4.89

4.89

5

.

0

4

5

.

0

4

5

.

2

0

5

.

2

0

5

.

4

3

5

.

4

3

5

.

6

8

5

.

6

8

4.564.56

4

.

5

2

4

.

5

2

4

.

5

7

4

.

5

7

4

.5

4

4

.5

4

4

.

6

0

4

.

6

0

4

.

5

7

4

.

5

7

4

.

5

7

4

.

5

7

4

.

4

7

4

.

4

7

4

.

5

9

4

.

5

9

4

.

4

4

4

.

4

4

3

.

8

8

3

.

8

8

3

.

9

6

3

.

9

6

4

.

0

5

4

.

0

5

3

.

9

0

3

.

9

0

3

.

7

8

3

.

7

8

3

.

7

9

3

.

7

9

3

.

7

9

3

.

7

9

3

.

8

1

3

.

8

1

4

.

5

0

4

.

5

0 4

.

7

2

4

.

7

2

4

.

8

5

4

.

8

5

4

.

6

7

4

.

6

7

4

.

7

6

4

.

7

6

4

.

6

3

4

.

6

3

4

.

5

6

4

.

5

6

4

.

7

5

4

.

7

5

4

.

8

4

4

.

8

4

4

.

8

2

4

.

8

2

4

.

8

9

4

.

8

9

4

.

7

0

4

.

7

0

4

.

9

6

4

.

9

6

4

.

3

6

4

.

3

6

4

.

3

7

4

.

3

7

3

.

1

3

3

.

1

3

3

.

5

4

3

.

5

4

3

.

3

3

3

.

3

3

3

.

5

6

3

.

5

6

3

.

7

8

3

.

7

8

3

.

6

4

3

.

6

4

3

.

3

3

3

.

3

3

5

.2

8

5

.2

8

5.465.46

5.245.24

5.36

5.36

5

.4

6

5

.4

6

5

.4

8

5

.4

8

5.

16

5.

16

5.135.13

5

.1

7

5

.1

7

5.075.07

5

.1

3

5

.1

3

5

.

2

0

5

.

2

0

5

.

1

1

5

.

1

1

4

.

7

0

4

.

7

0

4.

75

4.

75

4

.7

7

4

.7

7

4.

67

4.

67

5.

02

5.

02

4.724.72

4.644.64

4.714.71

4

.5

3

4

.5

3

4.

84

4.

84

4

.

7

2

4

.

7

2

5

.

0

0

5

.

0

0

4

.

0

0

4

.

0

0

5

.

5

6

5

.

5

6

5

.

2

7

5

.

2

7

5

.

1

9

5

.

1

9

5

.

2

6

5

.

2

6

5

.

2

7

5

.

2

7

5

.

4

0

5

.

4

0

5

.

3

0

5

.

3

0

5

.

5

0

5

.

5

0

5

.

3

7

5

.

3

7

5

.

3

5

5

.

3

5

5

.

3

5

5

.

3

5

5

.

6

0

5

.

6

0

5

.

7

0

5

.

7

0

5

.

7

3

5

.

7

3

5

.

7

9

5

.

7

9

5

.

8

7

5

.

8

7

5

.

9

0

5

.

9

0

5

.

8

4

5

.

8

4

5

.

8

4

5

.

8

4

5

.

8

6

5

.

8

6

5

.

3

4

5

.

3

4

5

.

3

3

5

.

3

3

5

.

2

4

5

.

2

4

4

.

7

4

4

.

7

4

4

.

7

6

4

.

7

6

4

.

9

4

4

.

9

4

5

.

1

5

5

.

1

5

4

.

9

7

4

.

9

7

5

.

3

0

5

.

3

0

5

.

1

5

5

.

1

5

4

.

9

5

4

.

9

5

4

.

8

1

4

.

8

1

4

.

7

2

4

.

7

2

4

.

8

7

4

.

8

7

4

.

7

3

4

.

7

3

4

.

4

3

4

.

4

3

4

.

7

6

4

.

7

6

4

.

8

3

4

.

8

3

4

.

8

5

4

.

8

5

4

.

7

5

4

.

7

5

4.

69

4.

69

4

.

2

7

4

.

2

7

5

.

2

2

5

.

2

2

4

.

8

3

4

.

8

3

5

.

2

0

5

.

2

0

5

.

2

3

5

.

2

3

5

.

2

8

5

.

2

8

5.385.38

5.385.38

5

.4

0

5

.4

0

5.36

5.36

5.3

1

5.3

1

5.32

5.32

5.

34

5.

34

5.43

5.43

5.

46

5.

46

5

.

4

2

5

.

4

2

5

.

3

5

5

.

3

5

5

.4

3

5

.4

3

5

.3

9

5

.3

9

5

.

2

5

5

.

2

5

5

.

3

4

5

.

3

4

4

.

7

0

4

.

7

0

4

.

5

5

4

.

5

5

4

.

2

5

4

.

2

5

4

.

5

1

4

.

5

1

5

.

3

5

5

.

3

5

5

.

5

5

5

.

5

5

5

.

6

7

5

.

6

7

5

.

3

3

5

.

3

3

5

.

3

4

5

.

3

4

5.4

3

5.4

3

5

.

5

4

5

.

5

4

5

.4

6

5

.4

6

5

.5

6

5

.5

6

5

.

7

5

5

.

7

5

6

.

1

9

6

.

1

9

6

.

5

4

6

.

5

4

4

.

8

6

4

.

8

6

5

.

2

9

5

.

2

9

5

.

5

2

5

.

5

2

5

.

6

1

5

.

6

1

5

.

5

9

5

.

5

9

5

.

4

4

5

.

4

4

5

.

6

1

5

.

6

1

5

.

9

3

5

.

9

3

6

.

0

5

6

.

0

5

6

.

5

3

6

.

5

3

6

.5

6

6

.5

6

6

.2

6

6

.2

6

6

.

2

3

6

.

2

3

6

.1

0

6

.1

0

5

.

0

0

5

.

0

0

5

.

1

5

5

.

1

5

5

.

3

8

5

.

3

8

5

.

3

9

5

.

3

9

5

.

2

5

5

.

2

5

5

.

1

4

5

.

1

4

5

.

1

6

5

.

1

6

4

.

8

5

4

.

8

5

4

.

5

6

4

.

5

6

4

.

3

1

4

.

3

1

4.3

4

4.3

4

4

.

4

6

4

.

4

6

4

.

4

0

4

.

4

0

4

.

4

4

4

.

4

4

4

.

4

6

4

.

4

6

4

.

6

2

4

.

6

2

4

.

4

4

4

.

4

4

6

.

8

2

6

.

8

2

6

.

9

2

6

.

9

2

6

.

7

6

6

.

7

6

6

.

8

3

6

.

8

3

6

.

7

8

6

.

7

8

6

.

5

7

6

.

5

7

6

.

9

2

6

.

9

2

6

.

8

9

6

.

8

9

7

.

1

7

7

.

1

7

7

.

3

4

7

.

3

4

8

.

1

4

8

.

1

4

7

.

2

6

7

.

2

6

7

.

4

4

7

.

4

4

7

.

6

4

7

.

6

4

7

.

6

3

7

.

6

3

7

.

6

0

7

.

6

0

7

.

5

8

7

.

5

8

7

.

7

1

7

.

7

1

7

.

8

5

7

.

8

5

4

.9

8

4

.9

8

5.

18

5.

18

5

.

1

2

5

.

1

2

5

.

0

9

5

.

0

9

BTBT

4

.

9

0

4

.

9

0

4

.

9

4

4

.

9

4

4

.8

9

4

.8

9

4

.

8

9

4

.

8

9

4

.

9

1

4

.

9

1

5

.

1

0

5

.

1

0

5.

09

5.

09

5

.

1

7

5

.

1

7

4

.

8

2

4

.

8

2

4

.7

2

4

.7

2

4

.8

5

4

.8

5

4

.9

3

4

.9

3

5

.

0

2

5

.

0

2

5

.

1

4

5

.

1

4

4

.

8

7

4

.

8

7

5

.

3

1

5

.

3

1

5

.

2

9

5

.

2

9

5

.

2

5

5

.

2

5

5

.

4

4

5

.

4

4

5

.

3

3

5

.

3

3

5

.

2

7

5

.

2

7

5

.

4

8

5

.

4

8

5

.

3

0

5

.

3

0

5

.

3

7

5

.

3

7

5

.1

9

5

.1

9

5

.

1

4

5

.

1

4

5

.

2

4

5

.

2

4

5

.

2

8

5

.

2

8

5

.

3

2

5

.

3

2

5

.

2

6

5

.

2

6

5.375.37

5.355.35

5.435.43

5.265.26

5.275.27

5.325.32

5.335.33

5.265.26

5

.

1

0

5

.

1

0

5

.

4

0

5

.

4

0

5

.

4

2

5

.

4

2

5

.

3

8

5

.

3

8

5

.

3

7

5

.

3

7

5

.

2

0

5

.

2

0

5

.

0

2

5

.

0

2

8

.

5

0

8

.

5

0

8

.

5

8

8

.

5

8

8

.

5

9

8

.

5

9

8

.

6

0

8

.

6

0

8

.

5

2

8

.

5

5

5

.

0

2

5

.

0

2

5

.

4

9

5

.

5

1

5

.

5

1

5

.

5

0

5

.

5

0

5

.

4

8

5

.

4

8

5

.

4

7

5

.

4

7

5

.

4

4

5

.

4

4

5

.

5

1

5

.

5

1

GG

4

.6

3

4

.6

3

4

.7

7

4

.7

7

4.7

8

4.7

84.61

4.61

4.60

4.60

4.71

4.71

4

.5

4

4

.5

4

4.

67

4.

67

4.684.68

4

.6

7

4

.6

7

4

.7

2

4

.7

2

4

.8

3

4

.8

3

8

.

1

5

8

.

1

5

7

.

7

6

7

.

7

6

9

.

3

5

9

.

3

5

8

.

0

3

8

.

0

3

H

a

w

t

h

r

o

n

e

 

H

e

d

g

e

H

a

w

t

h

r

o

n

e

 

H

e

d

g

e

4.884.88

MH CLMH CL

4.264.26

MH CLMH CL

5.215.21

BHBH

BLBL

2.852.85

BLBL

2.882.88

BLBL

2.972.97

BLBL

2.752.75

BLBL

2.902.90

BLBL

3.173.17

BLBL

3.173.17

PostPost

PostPost

PostPost

PostPost

PostPost

PostPost

PostPost

5.175.17

5.015.01

4.694.69

5.125.12

5.045.04

4.574.57

4.584.58

4.794.79

4.624.62

4.424.42

4.724.72

4.474.47

4.514.51

5.105.10

4.624.62

5.015.01

5.545.54

5.745.74

5.765.76

5.755.75

6.236.23

6.406.40

6.606.60

7.587.58

7.977.97

8.348.34

8.758.75

9.229.22

9.369.36

9.409.40

9.219.21

8.728.72

8.498.49

8.098.09

7.947.94

7.757.75

7.407.40

7.237.23

6.706.70

6.756.75

6.656.65

6.126.12

5.865.86

5.775.77

5.765.76

5.835.83

5.795.79

5.705.70

3.703.70

3.783.78

4.844.84

4.594.59

4.574.57

4.674.67

4.744.74

4.594.59

4.524.52

5.015.01

4.634.63

4.494.49

4.444.44

4.424.42

4.474.47

4.634.63

4.634.63

4.97

5.095.09

5.485.48

5.095.09

5.295.29

5.495.49

5.475.47

5.535.53

5.505.50

5.705.70

5.575.57

5.335.33

5.455.45

5.535.53

5.355.35

5.135.13

5.435.43

5.725.72

5.375.37

5.345.34

5.755.75

5.765.76

5.965.96

5.555.55

5.835.83

5.885.88

5.765.76

5.405.40

5.205.20

4.614.61

4.494.49

5.215.21

5.485.48

5.775.77

6.256.25

6.306.30

6.506.50

7.007.00

6.906.90

6.366.36

5.905.90

5.695.69

5.425.42

4.654.65

4.964.96

5.595.59

5.815.81

6.236.23

6.696.69

7.057.05

7.247.24

8.018.01

7.677.67

7.427.42

6.906.90

6.346.34

7.057.05

7.897.89

8.248.24

8.318.31

8.348.34

8.358.35

8.428.42

8.678.67

4.534.53

4.534.53

4.564.56

4.834.83

5.105.10

5.215.21

5.355.35

5.145.14

4.784.78

5.305.30

5.265.26

5.155.15

5.055.05

4.614.61

4.564.56

4.874.87

5.105.10

5.035.03

4.784.78

4.794.79

4.894.89

4.794.79

4.714.71

4.634.63

4.814.81

4.814.81

4.504.50

4.664.66

4.664.66

4.614.61

4.884.88

4.724.72

4.714.71

4.774.77

4.914.91

4.924.92

5.015.01

4.844.84

4.934.93

4.944.94

4.524.52

5.095.09

4.624.62

5.105.10 5.145.14

5.205.20

5.215.21

5.245.24

5.235.23

5.195.19

5.195.19

5.195.19

5.445.44

4.744.74

5.095.09

5.075.07

5.285.28

5.155.15

5.195.19

5.225.22

5.165.16

5.185.18

5.215.21

5.175.17

5.255.25

5.285.28

5.255.25

5.205.20

5.215.21

5.255.25

5.195.19

5.285.28

5.135.13

5.015.01

4.764.76

5.025.02

5.135.13

5.215.21

5.215.21

5.205.20

5.125.12

5.155.15

5.125.12

5.165.16

5.175.17

5.235.23

5.195.19

5.095.09

4.964.96

4.874.87

4.704.70

4.974.97

5.105.10

5.155.15

5.185.18

5.115.11

5.235.23

5.185.18

5.205.20

5.125.12

5.125.12

5.115.11

5.025.02

4.804.80

4.954.95

5.085.08

5.165.16

5.115.11

5.125.12

5.165.16

5.155.15

5.235.23

5.135.13

5.215.21

5.095.09

5.125.12

5.135.13

5.125.12

4.854.85

4.844.84

4.634.63

5.025.02

5.065.06

5.205.20

5.195.19

5.205.20

5.225.22

5.235.23

4.994.99

5.065.06

5.285.28

4.974.97

4.874.87

4.564.56

5.165.16

5.075.07

5.235.23

5.225.22

5.185.18

5.255.25

5.195.19

5.145.14

5.185.18

5.155.15

5.165.16

5.115.11

5.105.10

5.195.19

5.065.06

5.155.15

5.135.13

5.085.08

5.185.18

5.225.22

5.015.01

5.195.19

5.095.09

5.175.17

5.145.14

5.155.15

5.155.15

5.225.22

5.165.16

5.075.07

5.165.16

5.225.22

5.185.18

5.155.15

5.125.12

5.165.16

5.135.13

5.135.13

4.964.96

5.115.11

5.125.12

5.125.12

5.095.09

5.095.09

5.205.20

5.175.17

5.225.22

5.205.20

5.175.17

5.065.06

5.085.08

5.225.22

5.275.27

5.315.31

5.175.17

5.165.16

5.405.40

5.165.16

5.135.13

5.145.14

5.155.15

5.135.13

5.245.24

5.215.21

5.165.16

5.335.33

5.025.02

4.904.90

4.994.99

4.944.94

5.065.06

5.065.06

4.954.95

4.964.96

5.015.01

5.115.11

4.924.92

5.205.20

5.185.18

5.175.17

5.405.40

5.305.30

5.275.27

5.235.23

5.215.21

5.575.57

5.315.31

5.275.27

5.295.29

5.305.30

5.235.23

5.235.23

5.265.26

5.295.29

5.425.42

5.305.30

5.265.26

5.035.03

5.185.18

5.215.21

5.245.24

5.325.32

5.285.28

5.165.16

5.285.28

5.135.13

5.015.01

5.165.16

5.095.09

5.155.15

5.235.23

5.235.23

5.185.18

5.235.23

5.005.00

5.085.08

5.205.20

5.195.19

5.135.13

5.075.07

5.375.37

5.185.18

5.125.12

5.145.14

5.125.12

5.205.20

5.185.18

5.125.12

5.125.12

5.415.41

5.105.10

4.964.96

5.075.07

5.175.17

5.165.16

5.195.19

5.095.09

5.215.21

5.125.12

5.155.15

5.205.20

5.095.09

4.824.82

5.145.14

5.135.13

4.694.69

4.494.49

4.544.54

4.924.92

5.145.14

5.175.17

5.235.23

5.285.28

5.215.21

5.135.13

5.175.17

5.245.24

5.165.16

4.974.97

4.604.60

4.334.33

4.774.77

4.944.94

5.135.13

5.205.20

4.954.95

4.734.73

4.674.67

4.294.29

4.504.50

5.095.09

4.774.77

5.145.14

5.295.29

4.954.95

5.205.20

5.185.18

5.085.08

4.914.91

4.564.56

4.444.44

4.434.43

4.624.62

5.005.00

4.924.92

4.774.77

4.764.76

5.095.09

5.175.17

5.085.08

4.864.86

4.714.71

4.814.81

4.724.72

4.894.89

4.764.76

4.864.86

4.824.82

4.234.23

4.224.22

4.714.71

4.694.69

4.404.40

4.614.61

4.904.90

5.405.40

5.765.76

4.174.17

4.454.45

4.594.59

4.764.76

4.734.73

4.884.88

5.255.25

5.095.09

4.624.62

4.784.78

4.414.41

4.544.54

4.544.54

4.594.59

4.724.72

4.704.70

4.194.19

4.214.21

4.424.42

4.484.48

4.484.48

4.384.38

4.364.36

4.524.52

4.774.77

5.145.14

5.125.12

5.255.25

5.145.14

4.894.89

4.834.83

4.594.59

4.414.41

4.494.49

4.394.39

4.454.45

4.474.47

4.554.55

4.584.58

4.704.70

4.604.60

4.534.53

4.344.34

4.464.46

5.125.12

5.095.09

5.125.12

5.045.04

4.964.96

5.295.29

5.465.46

5.155.15

5.065.06

4.994.99

4.844.84

4.474.47

4.484.48

4.234.23

4.234.23

4.254.25

4.344.34

4.294.29

4.164.16

4.064.06

4.244.24

4.224.22

4.224.22

4.284.28

4.144.14

4.444.44

4.764.76

4.414.41

4.384.38

4.724.72

4.904.90

6.316.31

5.505.50

5.455.45

5.485.48

5.215.21

5.135.13

5.595.59

5.515.51

5.615.61

5.925.92

6.246.24

6.826.82

7.857.85

7.927.92

8.168.16

7.917.91

7.697.69

7.617.61

7.337.33

7.127.12

7.317.31

7.597.59

7.507.50

7.367.36

7.027.02

6.896.89

4.984.98

5.225.22

5.295.29

6.756.75

6.726.72

6.836.83

6.416.41

6.466.46

6.356.35

6.556.55

6.126.12

6.026.02

6.066.06

5.765.76

5.835.83

5.995.99

6.376.37

5.975.97

6.236.23

6.076.07

5.865.86

5.755.75

6.076.07

5.965.96

5.615.61

5.775.77

5.595.59

5.475.47

5.355.35

5.565.56

5.505.50

5.295.29

4.974.97

5.225.22

5.225.22

5.435.43

5.225.22

5.245.24

5.635.63

5.215.21

5.455.45

5.385.38

5.125.12

5.205.20

5.265.26

4.994.99

5.315.31

4.884.88

4.834.83

5.385.38

5.265.26

4.404.40

4.184.18

4.394.39

4.184.18

4.104.10

4.174.17

4.654.65

4.954.95

5.265.26

4.484.48

4.614.61

4.594.59

4.674.67

4.214.21

5.125.12

5.565.56

5.605.60

5.535.53

5.335.33

5.185.18

5.175.17

5.535.53

5.485.48

5.465.46

5.385.38

5.445.44

5.815.81

6.736.73

6.946.94

7.117.11

7.367.36

7.487.48

7.577.57

7.947.94

5.225.22

4.994.99

5.555.55

5.765.76

5.815.81

5.515.51

5.985.98

5.885.88

6.176.17

6.386.38

6.676.67

7.167.16

6.986.98

6.876.87

6.866.86

7.907.90

7.827.82

7.657.65

7.717.71

8.588.58

9.229.22

9.409.40

9.249.24

8.788.78

8.278.27

8.108.10

7.747.74

8.218.21

8.848.84

9.409.40

9.389.38

8.748.74

8.228.22

7.817.81

7.727.72

7.547.54

8.088.08

8.398.39

8.738.73

9.339.33

8.858.85

8.198.19

7.737.73

7.527.52

7.447.44

8.048.04

8.768.76

8.378.37

7.957.95

8.028.02

7.667.66

6.736.73

6.546.54

6.236.23

6.306.30

5.655.65

5.535.53

5.375.37

5.315.31

5.285.28

5.305.30

5.775.77

5.705.70

6.046.04

6.336.33

6.206.20

6.106.10

5.975.97

5.645.64

5.905.90

5.685.68

5.665.66

5.365.36

5.155.15

5.515.51

5.455.45

5.195.19

4.944.94

5.265.26

5.505.50

5.585.58

5.515.51

5.845.84

6.086.08

6.596.59

StumpStump

StumpStump

3.733.73

WLWL

3.723.72

WLWL

3.773.77

WLWL

3.763.76

WLWL

3.763.76

WLWL

4.884.88

WLWL

3.763.76

WLWL

3.823.82

WLWL

6

.

3

7

6

.

3

7

10611061

4

.

9

8

4

.

9

8

4

.

8

2

4

.

8

2

4

.

7

3

4

.

7

3

4

.

6

9

4

.

6

9

4

.

9

4

4

.

9

4

4

.

9

7

4

.

9

7

5

.

2

4

5

.

2

4

4

.

6

2

4

.

6

2

5

.

8

0

5

.

8

0

6.0

5

6.0

5

6

.

5

5

6

.

5

5

6

.

3

4

6

.

3

4

6

.

4

8

6

.

4

8

6

.

5

0

6

.

5

0

6

.

5

3

6

.

5

3

6

.

7

0

6

.

7

0

6

.

4

2

6

.

4

2

5

.8

7

5

.8

7

5

.

6

2

5

.

6

2

5

.3

8

5

.3

8

5

.

4

4

5

.

4

4

5

.

2

3

5

.

2

3

5

.

2

3

5

.

2

3

4

.

6

8

4

.

6

8

4

.

7

7

4

.

7

7

5

.

0

7

5

.

0

7

4

.

7

4

4

.

7

4

4

.

0

6

4

.

0

6

3

.

9

9

3

.

9

9

4

.

0

8

4

.

0

8

4

.

1

2

4

.

1

2

4

.

3

5

4

.

3

5

4

.4

9

4

.4

9

4

.6

0

4

.6

0

5

.13

5

.13

5

.

0

8

5

.

0

8

5

.

3

1

5

.

3

1

5

.

9

9

5

.

9

9

5

.

6

1

5

.

6

1

5

.

3

1

5

.

3

1

5

.

0

3

5

.

0

3

4

.

8

2

4

.

8

2

4

.

5

8

4

.

5

8

4

.

6

4

4

.

6

4

4

.

1

0

4

.

1

0

3

.

9

9

3

.

9

9

4

.

0

8

4

.

0

8

4

.

1

3

4

.

1

3

4

.

5

0

4

.

5

0

4

.

6

2

4

.

6

2

4

.

5

4

4

.

5

4

4

.

8

9

4

.

8

9

5

.

0

8

5

.

0

8

5

.

0

5

5

.

0

5

4

.

9

9

4

.

9

9

5

.

1

2

5

.

1

2

5

.

1

5

5

.

1

5

4

.

8

6

4

.

8

6

5

.

0

1

5

.

0

1

5

.

4

5

5

.

4

5

4

.

9

1

4

.

9

1

5

.

3

5

5

.

3

5

5

.

8

8

5

.

8

8

5

.

7

2

5

.

7

2

5

.

0

7

5

.

0

7

5

.

3

5

5

.

3

5

4

.

6

9

4

.

6

9

5

.

0

7

5

.

0

7

4

.

5

6

4

.

5

6

4

.

6

9

4

.

6

9

4

.

3

6

4

.

3

6

4

.

6

9

4

.

6

9

4

.

6

5

4

.

6

5

4

.

9

1

4

.

9

1

4

.

8

1

4

.

8

1

4

.

7

1

4

.

7

1

4

.

3

1

4

.

3

1

4

.

2

4

4

.

2

4

4

.

0

0

4

.

0

0

4

.

1

4

4

.

1

4

4

.

1

6

4

.

1

6

4

.

0

9

4

.

0

9

4

.

0

0

4

.

0

0

3

.

8

6

3

.

8

6

3

.

9

6

3

.

9

6

3

.

8

7

3

.

8

7

3

.

4

1

3

.

4

1

3

.

5

7

3

.

5

7

4

.

1

1

4

.

1

1

3

.

9

6

3

.

9

6

3

.

8

7

3

.

8

7

4

.

9

6

4

.

9

6

5

.

0

6

5

.

0

6

4

.

8

3

4

.

8

3

4

.

7

4

4

.

7

4

4

.

7

3

4

.

7

3

4

.

5

2

4

.

5

2

4

.

5

6

4

.

5

6

4

.

2

8

4

.

2

8

4

.

3

1

4

.

3

1

4

.

1

1

4

.

1

1

4

.

9

7

4

.

9

7

4

.

9

3

4

.

9

3

5

.

1

8

5

.

1

8

5

.

0

9

5

.

0

9

5.3

0

5.3

0

5

.

3

7

5

.

3

7

5

.4

4

5

.4

4

5.505.50

4

.

2

0

4

.

2

0

4

.

3

7

4

.

3

7

4

.

2

0

4

.

2

0

4

.

4

9

4

.

4

9

4

.

8

7

4

.

8

7

4

.

4

7

4

.

4

7

3

.

0

1

3

.

0

1

4

.

1

4

4

.

1

4

4

.

4

9

4

.

4

9

4

.

3

6

4

.

3

6

4

.

7

6

4

.

7

6

4

.

5

1

4

.

5

1

4

.

7

0

4

.

7

0

4

.

7

2

4

.

7

2

4

.

6

7

4

.

6

7

4

.

7

5

4

.

7

5

4

.

6

5

4

.

6

5

4

.

5

4

4

.

5

4

4

.

7

8

4

.

7

8

4

.

5

2

4

.

5

2

4

.

4

4

4

.

4

4

4

.

5

1

4

.

5

1

4

.

6

8

4

.

6

8

4

.

6

2

4

.

6

2

5

.

1

4

5

.

1

4

5

.

1

4

5

.

1

4

5

.

0

9

5

.

0

9

5

.

0

4

5

.

0

4

5

.

0

5

5

.

0

5

5

.

1

0

5

.

1

0

4

.

9

8

4

.

9

8

5

.

1

3

5

.

1

3

5

.

1

9

5

.

1

9

5

.

0

3

5

.

0

3

5

.

1

1

5

.

1

1

5

.

2

2

5

.

2

2

5

.

2

0

5

.

2

0

5

.

1

4

5

.

1

4

5

.

2

7

5

.

2

7

5

.

1

7

5

.

1

7

5

.

1

7

5

.

1

7

5

.

2

3

5

.

2

3

3

.

6

6

3

.

6

6

3

.

6

4

3

.

6

4

4

.

0

3

4

.

0

3

3

.

8

7

3

.

8

7

3

.

7

4

3

.

7

4

3

.

6

6

3

.

6

6

3

.

9

4

3

.

9

4

3

.

8

6

3

.

8

6

3

.

6

5

3

.

6

5

3

.

7

0

3

.

7

0

3

.

8

2

3

.

8

2

3

.

3

7

3

.

3

7

3

.

6

4

3

.

6

4

3

.

3

4

3

.

3

4

3

.

4

7

3

.

4

7

3

.

6

6

3

.

6

6

3

.

6

5

3

.

6

5

3

.

8

1

3

.

8

1

3

.

6

0

3

.

6

0

3

.

6

2

3

.

6

2

3

.

6

9

3

.

6

9

3

.

5

6

3

.

5

6

3

.

4

9

3

.

4

9

3

.

8

6

3

.

8

6

4

.

0

7

4

.

0

7

3

.

7

1

3

.

7

1

4

.

5

6

4

.

5

6

4

.

8

3

4

.

8

3

4

.

4

3

4

.

4

3

4

.

6

8

4

.

6

8

4

.

9

6

4

.

9

6

4

.

7

1

4

.

7

1

4

.

5

3

4

.

5

3

4

.

5

2

4

.

5

2

3

.

4

5

3

.

4

5

3

.

2

2

3

.

2

2

2

.

9

5

2

.

9

5

4

.

5

9

4

.

5

9

4

.

5

8

4

.

5

8

4

.

4

9

4

.

4

9

5

.

0

6

5

.

0

6

4

.

4

5

4

.

4

5

3

.

4

3

3

.

4

3

3

.

6

2

3

.

6

2

3

.

3

8

3

.

3

8

3

.

6

1

3

.

6

1

3

.

5

3

3

.

5

3

3

.

5

9

3

.

5

9

3

.

3

6

3

.

3

6

3

.

5

3

3

.

5

3

3

.

4

8

3

.

4

8

3

.

2

6

3

.

2

6

3

.

5

1

3

.

5

1

3

.

2

4

3

.

2

4

3

.

4

4

3

.

4

4

3

.

0

8

3

.

0

8

3

.

2

1

3

.

2

1

3

.

1

9

3

.

1

9

3

.

5

3

3

.

5

3

3

.

3

7

3

.

3

7

3

.

1

6

3

.

1

6

3

.

5

1

3

.

5

1

3

.

1

0

3

.

1

0

3

.

0

9

3

.

0

9

3

.

6

1

3

.

6

1

3

.

3

9

3

.

3

9

3

.

2

9

3

.

2

9

3

.

4

9

3

.

4

9

3

.

5

7

3

.

5

7

3

.

7

0

4

.

6

7

4

.

6

7

4

.

4

6

4

.

4

6

4

.

2

3

4

.

2

3

4

.

2

1

4

.

2

1

4

.

1

8

4

.

1

8

4

.

3

8

4

.

3

8

4

.

8

0

4

.

8

0

4

.

6

2

4

.

6

2

4

.

4

0

4

.

4

0

4

.

1

4

4

.

1

4

4

.

1

5

4

.

1

5

4

.

2

4

4

.

2

4

4

.

0

2

4

.

0

2

4

.

0

3

4

.

0

3

4

.

1

8

4

.

1

8

4

.

1

6

4

.

1

6

4

.

1

7

4

.

1

7

4

.

2

0

4

.

2

0

4

.

4

8

4

.

4

8

4

.

5

7

4

.

5

7

4

.

4

7

4

.

4

7

4

.

4

9

4

.

4

9

4

.

5

9

4

.

5

9

4

.

6

1

4

.

6

1

4

.

3

3

4

.

3

3

4

.

5

4

4

.

5

4

4

.

6

5

4

.

6

5

4

.

8

0

4

.

8

0

4

.

6

8

4

.

6

8

4

.

4

3

4

.

4

3

4

.

5

9

4

.

5

9

4

.

6

1

4

.

6

1

4

.

2

9

4

.

2

9

4

.

5

4

4

.

5

4

4

.

7

4

4

.

7

4

4

.

7

2

4

.

7

2

4

.

5

6

4

.

5

6

4

.

7

2

4

.

7

2

4

.

7

5

4

.

7

5

4

.

7

7

4

.

7

2

4

.

7

2

4

.

6

4

4

.

6

4

4

.

6

0

4

.

6

0

4

.

5

7

4

.

5

7

4

.

6

4

4

.

6

4

4

.

8

7

4

.

8

7

4

.

8

6

4

.

8

6

4

.

9

5

4

.

9

5

4

.

7

9

4

.

7

9

4

.

6

2

4

.

6

2

4

.

5

2

4

.

5

2

4

.

4

7

4

.

4

7

4

.

7

4

4

.

7

4

4

.

7

4

4

.

7

4

4

.

5

7

4

.

5

7

4

.

4

9

4

.

4

9

3

.

3

8

3

.

2

9

3

.

2

9

3

.

3

6

3

.

3

6

3

.

3

9

3

.

3

9

3

.

4

3

3

.

4

3

3

.

4

7

3

.

4

7

3

.

2

6

3

.

2

6

3

.

5

1

3

.

5

1

3.583.58

3

.

3

2

3

.

3

2

3

.

1

7

3

.

1

7

3

.

6

6

3

.

6

6

3

.

4

5

3

.

4

5

3

.

4

9

3

.

4

9

2

.

9

5

2

.

9

5

3

.

4

6

3

.

4

6

3

.

4

1

3

.

4

1

3

.

3

3

3

.

3

3

3

.

4

0

3

.

4

0

3

.

3

0

3

.

3

0

3

.

3

9

3

.

3

9

3

.

0

9

3

.

0

9

3

.4

0

3

.4

0

3

.

4

0

3

.

4

0

3

.

0

6

3

.

0

6

2

.

8

5

2

.

8

5

2

.

9

9

2

.

9

9

3

.

5

2

3

.

5

2

3

.

2

8

3

.

2

8

3

.

2

0

3

.

2

0

3

.

2

1

3

.

2

1

3

.

0

9

3

.

0

9

3

.

6

5

3

.

6

5

3

.

3

7

3

.

3

7

3

.

3

7

3

.

3

7

3

.

6

1

3

.

6

1

4

.

3

7

4

.

3

7

4

.

2

7

4

.

2

7

4

.

1

9

4

.

1

9

4

.

2

4

4

.

2

4

4

.1

8

4

.1

8

4

.

2

1

4

.

2

1

4.304.30

4

.

5

8

4

.

5

8

4

.

4

3

4

.

4

3

4.174.17

4

.

1

5

4

.

1

5

4

.

4

2

4

.

4

2

4

.

7

5

4

.

7

5

4

.

7

2

4

.

7

2

4

.

8

5

4

.

8

5

4

.

8

7

4

.

8

7

4

.

9

3

4

.

9

3

4

.

9

1

4

.

9

1

4

.

7

5

4

.

7

5

4

.

9

2

4

.

9

2

4

.

6

0

4

.

6

0

4

.

7

6

4

.

7

6

4

.

6

8

4

.

6

8

5.345.34

5.3

4

5.3

4

5

.

4

5

5

.

4

5

5

.

4

5

5

.

4

8

5

.

4

8

5

.

5

5

5

.

6

2

5

.

7

2

5

.

8

1

5

.

9

0

5

.

9

4

5

.

9

9

5

.

8

8

5

.

7

5

5

.

5

9

5

.

5

0

5

.

3

8

5

.

4

2

5

.

5

3

5

.

5

7

5

.

5

7

5

.

4

4

5

.

4

4

5

.

4

1

5

.

4

1

5

.

5

2

5

.

5

2

5

.

6

1

5

.

6

1

5

.

7

9

5

.

7

9

5

.

9

1

5

.

9

1

5

.

9

3

5

.

9

3

5

.

9

8

5

.

9

8

5

.

9

9

5

.

9

9

5

.

9

5

5

.

9

5

5

.

8

9

5

.

8

9

5

.

8

4

5

.

8

4

5

.

8

2

5

.

8

2

5

.

7

6

5

.

7

6

5

.

6

9

5

.

6

9

5

.

6

4

5

.

6

4

5

.

6

2

5

.

6

2

5

.

5

5

5

.

5

5

5

.

4

6

5

.

4

6

5

.

4

4

5

.

4

4

5

.

4

4

LPLP

LPLP

LP

LPLP

LP

LP

3.633.63

4.414.41

4.554.55

5.705.70

4.574.57

4.444.44

4.274.27

5.185.18

5.735.73

5.225.22

5.535.53

5.405.40

5.775.77

6.146.14

5.675.67

5.895.89

5.185.18

5.755.75

5.455.45

5.715.71

5.395.39

5.385.38

5.405.40

5.045.04

5.315.31

5.425.42

5.765.76

5.185.18

4.944.94

5.375.37

5.375.37

5.275.27

5.335.33

5.415.41

5.385.38

5.325.32

5.685.68

5.295.29

5.345.34

5.265.26

5.335.33

5.305.30

5.245.24

5.275.27

5.305.30

5.175.17

5.255.25

5.245.24

5.295.29

4.894.89

4.944.94

4.894.89

5.535.53

4.684.68

4.774.77

4.264.26

4.614.61

4.844.84

4.744.74

7.417.41

7.247.24

7.367.36

7.597.59

5.015.01

4.854.85

4.664.66

6.606.60

4.764.76

4.574.57

4.904.90

4.974.97

4.694.69

4.494.49

4.394.39

4.764.76

5.535.53

5.745.74

4.824.82

5.095.09

5.205.20

8.088.08

GasGas

6.36.3

6.36.3

9

.

9

8

9

.

9

8

1

0

.

3

0

1

0

.

3

0

1

0

.

4

7

1

0

.

4

7

1

0

.

5

5

1

0

.

5

5

1

0

.

7

6

1

0

.

7

6

1

0

.

6

6

1

0

.

6

6

1

0

.

3

7

1

0

.

3

7

1

0

.

0

1

1

0

.

0

1

9

.

4

1

9

.

4

1

8

.

4

1

8

.

4

1

7

.

8

3

7

.

8

3

7

.

6

0

7

.

6

0

7

.

2

9

7

.

2

9

7

.

2

2

7

.

2

2

7

.

1

3

7

.

1

3

6

.

9

3

6

.

9

3

6

.

7

1

6

.

7

1

6

.

3

9

6

.

3

9

6

.

5

5

6

.

5

5

6

.

3

3

6

.

3

3

6

.

1

7

6

.

1

7

5

.

7

7

5

.

7

7

GG

AA10AA10

Football PitchFootball Pitch

GrassGrass

GrassGrass

Dense VegetationDense Vegetation

(Unable to Survey)(Unable to Survey)

Dense VegetationDense Vegetation

(Unable to Survey)(Unable to Survey)

Dense VegetationDense Vegetation

(Unable to Survey)(Unable to Survey)

Dense VegetationDense Vegetation

(Unable to Survey)(Unable to Survey)

Dense VegetationDense Vegetation

(Unable to Survey)(Unable to Survey)

Dense VegetationDense Vegetation

(Unable to Survey)(Unable to Survey)

GrassGrass

GrassGrass

PondPond

20022002

R

e

t

a

i

n

i

n

g

 

W

a

l

l

R

e

t

a

i

n

i

n

g

 

W

a

l

l

UTLUTL

Approx (Covered)Approx (Covered)

UTLUTL

UTLUTL

UTLUTL

UTLUTL

BlockedBlocked

Area UnderArea Under

ConstructionConstruction

Area UnderArea Under

ConstructionConstruction

Area UnderArea Under

ConstructionConstruction

Area UnderArea Under

ConstructionConstruction

G

a

b

i

a

n

 

W

a

l

l

G

a

b

i

a

n

 

W

a

l

l

WaterWater

WaterWater

G1#G1#

G2G2

G3G3

H4H4

T5#T5#
G6G6

G7G7

T8T8

G9#G9#

T12#T12#

G10G10
G11G11

T14T14

T16T16
G15G15

T19T19

G18#G18#

G20G20

T21T21

T22T22

T23#T23#

G17G17

G13G13

G24G24

T25#T25#

T27T27

T28T28

G29G29

G26#G26#

T31#T31#

T32T32
G33G33

G34#G34#

G34#G34#

G35G35T39T39

T40T40

T44T44
T45T45

T46T46

G36G36

G37G37

G42G42

G41G41

T30T30

T38#T38#

G43#G43#

Do not scale this drawing (printed or electronic version).Do not scale this drawing (printed or electronic version).

Contractors must check all dimensions from siteContractors must check all dimensions from site

This drawing is copyright and is for use on this site only. This drawing should be read in conjunctionThis drawing is copyright and is for use on this site only. This drawing should be read in conjunction
with all relevant consultants drawings and specialist subcontractors / supply chain drawings andwith all relevant consultants drawings and specialist subcontractors / supply chain drawings and
specifications.specifications.

All works to be carried out in accordance with the latest British Standards / Codes of Practice unlessAll works to be carried out in accordance with the latest British Standards / Codes of Practice unless
specifically directed otherwise in the specification.specifically directed otherwise in the specification.

Responsibility for the reproduction of this drawing in paper form, or issued in electronic format, lies withResponsibility for the reproduction of this drawing in paper form, or issued in electronic format, lies with
the recipient to check that all information has been replicated in full and is correct when comparedtothe recipient to check that all information has been replicated in full and is correct when comparedto
the original paper or electronic image.the original paper or electronic image.

Graphical representations of equipment on this drawing have been co-ordinated, but areGraphical representations of equipment on this drawing have been co-ordinated, but are
approximations only. Please refer to the specifications and / or details for actual sizes and / or specificapproximations only. Please refer to the specifications and / or details for actual sizes and / or specific
contractor construction information.contractor construction information.

Notes:-Notes:-

Project:Project:
UG827UG827

Dwg No:Dwg No:

25/02/2125/02/21
Date:Date:

BXBBXB
LIMITEDLIMITED

Client:Client:

Title:Title:

TREE CONSTRAINTS PLANTREE CONSTRAINTS PLAN

UG_827_ARB_TCP_01UG_827_ARB_TCP_01

Issue:Issue: PLANNINGPLANNING
Drawn:Drawn: Checked:Checked:

EAEAATAT
Approved:Approved:

KOKO

Revision:Revision:
0000

1:5001:500
Scale @ A1:Scale @ A1:

Project:Project:

THORNTON – FLEETWOODTHORNTON – FLEETWOOD
ROAD NORTHROAD NORTH

REV.REV. DATEDATE DESCRIPTIONDESCRIPTION DRAWNDRAWN CHK'DCHK'D

A:   A:   Ground Floor, The Tower,Ground Floor, The Tower,
       Deva City Office Park, Trinity Way,       Deva City Office Park, Trinity Way,
       Manchester M3 7BF       Manchester M3 7BF

T:T:    +44 (0) 161 312 3131    +44 (0) 161 312 3131

weareurbangreen.co.ukweareurbangreen.co.uk

Category A tree, group or hedgeCategory A tree, group or hedge

Category B tree, group or hedgeCategory B tree, group or hedge

Category C tree, group or hedgeCategory C tree, group or hedge

Category U tree, group or hedgeCategory U tree, group or hedge

Root Protection Area (RPA)Root Protection Area (RPA)

Position estimated on sitePosition estimated on site##

P
age 94



9

.

2

5

0

9

.

2

5

0

9

.

5

0

0

9

.

5

0

0

9

.

7

5

0

9

.

7

5

0

10.000

10.000

10.250

10.250

9

.

0

0

0

9

.

0

0

0

9

.

2

5

0

9

.

2

5

0

9

.

5

0

0

9

.

5

0

0

9

.

7

5

0

9

.

7

5

0

1

0

.

0

0

0

1

0

.

0

0

0

1

0

.

2

5

0

1

0

.

2

5

0

8

.

7

5

0

8

.

7

5

0

8

.

2

5

0

8

.

2

5

0

8

.

5

0

0

8

.

5

0

0

8

.

0

0

0

8

.

0

0

0

7

.

7

5

0

7

.

7

5

0

7

.

5

0

0

7

.

5

0

0

7

.

0

0

0

7

.

0

0

0

7

.

2

5

0

7

.

2

5

0

6

.

7

5

0

6

.

7

5

0

6

.

5

0

0

6

.

5

0

0

6

.

2

5

0

6

.

2

5

0

6

.

0

0

0

6

.

0

0

0

6

.

0

0

0

6

.

0

0

0

6

.

0

0

0

6

.

0

0

0

5

.

7

5

0

5

.

7

5

0

8

.

2

5

0

8

.

2

5

0

8

.

0

0

0

8

.

0

0

0

7

.

7

5

0

7

.

7

5

0

7

.

5

0

0

7

.

5

0

0

7

.

2

5

0

7

.

2

5

0

7

.

0

0

0

7

.

0

0

0

6

.

7

5

0

6

.

7

5

0

6

.

5

0

0

6

.

5

0

0

6

.

2

5

0

6

.

2

5

0

6

.

0

0

0

6

.

0

0

0

5

.

7

5

0

5

.

7

5

0

5

.

5

0

0

5

.

5

0

0

5

.

2

5

0

5

.

2

5

0

5

.

0

0

0

5

.

0

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

3

.

7

5

0

3

.

7

5

0

4

.

0

0

0

4

.

0

0

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

3

.

5

0

0

3

.

5

0

0

3

.

2

5

0

3

.

2

5

0

3

.

2

5

0

3

.

2

5

0

3

.

5

0

0

3

.

5

0

0

3

.

7

5

0

3

.

7

5

0

4

.

0

0

0

4

.

0

0

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

7

5

0

5

.

0

0

0

5

.

0

0

0

5

.

2

5

0

5

.

2

5

0

5

.

2

5

0

5

.

2

5

0

5

.

5

0

0

5

.

5

0

0

5

.

7

5

0

5

.

7

5

0

6

.

0

0

0

6

.

0

0

0

6

.

2

5

0

6

.

2

5

0

6

.

5

0

0

6

.

5

0

0

6

.

7

5

0

6

.

7

5

0

7

.

0

0

0

5

.2

5

0

5

.2

5

0

5

.5

0

0

5

.5

0

0

5

.7

5

0

5

.7

5

0

6

.0

0

0

6

.0

0

0

6

.2

5

0

6

.2

5

0

6

.5

0

0

6

.5

0

0

6

.7

5

0

6

.7

5

0

7

.0

0

0

5.250

5.250

5

.

0

0

0

5

.

0

0

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

0

0

0

4

.

0

0

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

2

5

0

3

.

0

0

0

3

.

0

0

0

3

.

2

5

0

3

.

2

5

0

3

.

5

0

0

3

.

5

0

0

3

.

7

5

0

3

.

7

5

0

3

.

0

0

0

3

.

0

0

0

3

.

2

5

0

3

.

2

5

0

3

.

5

0

0

3

.

5

0

0

3

.

7

5

0

3

.

7

5

0

4

.0

0

0

4

.0

0

0

4

.2

5

0

4

.2

5

0

4

.5

0

0

4

.5

0

0

4

.7

5

0

4

.7

5

0

5

.

0

0

0

5

.

0

0

0

5

.

0

0

0

5

.

0

0

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

2

5

0

3

.

7

5

0

3

.

7

5

0

4

.

0

0

0

4

.

0

0

0

3

.

7

5

0

3

.

7

5

0

4

.

0

0

0

4

.

0

0

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

7

5

0

5

.

0

0

0

5

.

0

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

7

5

0

5

.

0

0

0

5

.

0

0

0

5

.

2

5

0

5

.

2

5

0

5

.

0

0

0

5

.

0

0

0

5

.

2

5

0

5

.

2

5

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

3

.

7

5

0

3

.

7

5

0

4

.

0

0

0

4

.

0

0

0

3

.

7

5

0

3

.

7

5

0

4

.

0

0

0

4

.

0

0

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

2

5

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

5

0

0

4

.

7

5

0

4

.

7

5

0

5

.

0

0

0

5

.

0

0

0

5

.

9

4

5

.

9

4

5

.

9

7

5

.

9

7

5

.

6

3

3

.

8

7

3

.

8

9

3

.

8

9

3

.

9

8

3

.

9

8

BTBT

BTBT

BTBT

BTBT

BTBT

9

.

4

9

9

.

4

9

9

.

2

5

9

.

2

5

8

.

9

5

8

.

9

5

8

.

7

8

8

.

7

8

8

.

2

2

8

.

2

2

7

.

3

0

7

.

3

0

7

.

1

8

7

.

1

8

7

.

0

0

7

.

0

0

6

.

6

6

6

.

6

6

6

.

2

6

6

.

2

6

1

0

.

1

9

1

0

.

1

9

1

0

.

2

1

1

0

.

2

1

1

0

.

4

6

1

0

.

4

6

1

0

.

7

2

1

0

.

7

2

1

0

.

8

3

1

0

.

8

3

1

1

.

2

6

1

1

.

2

6

1

1

.

0

2

1

1

.

0

2

1

0

.

8

5

1

0

.

8

5

1

1

.

3

0

1

1

.

3

0

1

1

.

4

2

1

1

.

4

2

1

1

.

7

3

1

1

.

7

3

1

1

.

8

7

1

1

.

8

7

1

1

.

7

7

1

1

.

7

7

1

1

.

7

0

1

1

.

7

0

1

1

.

6

4

1

1

.

6

4

1

1

.

4

6

1

1

.

4

6

1

1

.

1

1

1

1

.

1

1

1

0

.

7

7

1

0

.

7

7

1

0

.

4

2

1

0

.

4

2

9

.

8

2

9

.

8

2

9

.

3

4

9

.

3

4

9

.

2

1

9

.

2

1

8

.

9

3

8

.

9

3

8

.

7

5

8

.

7

5

8

.

5

9

8

.

5

9

8

.

3

2

8

.

3

2

8

.

4

2

8

.

4

2

8

.

2

1

8

.

2

1

8

.

0

2

8

.

0

2

7

.

6

3

7

.

6

3

7

.

4

5

7

.

4

5

7

.

7

9

7

.

7

9

7

.

8

2

7

.

8

2

7

.

5

7

7

.

5

7

7

.

3

6

7

.

3

6

1

2

.

0

1

1

2

.

0

1

1

1

.

8

7

1

1

.

8

7

1

1

.

6

4

1

1

.

6

4

1

2

.

0

5

1

2

.

0

5

1

2

.

6

5

1

2

.

6

5

1

3

.

3

1

1

3

.

3

1

1

3

.

7

9

1

3

.

7

9

1

1

.

0

5

1

1

.

0

5

1

0

.

9

7

1

0

.

9

7

1

0

.

6

5

1

0

.

6

5

1

0

.

5

3

1

0

.

5

3

1

0

.

3

2

1

0

.

3

2

1

0

.

0

3

FHFH

FHFH

9

.

5

7

9

.

5

7

8

.

9

4

8

.

9

4

8

.

7

6

8

.

7

6

8

.

3

6

8

.

3

6

7

.

7

3

7

.

7

3

7

.

0

8

7

.

0

8

6

.

5

3

6

.

5

3

6

.

3

3

6

.

3

3

6

.

2

4

6

.

2

4

1

0

.

0

6

1

0

.

0

6

1

0

.

2

1

1

0

.

2

1

1

0

.

2

4

1

0

.

2

4

1

0

.

4

8

1

0

.

4

8

1

0

.

6

9

1

0

.

6

9

1

0

.

8

8

1

0

.

8

8

1

0

.

5

7

1

0

.

5

7

1

0

.

7

0

1

0

.

7

0

1

0

.

7

6

1

0

.

7

6

1

0

.

8

5

1

0

.

8

5

1

0

.

7

7

1

0

.

7

7

1

0

.

6

3

1

0

.

6

3

1

0

.

4

6

1

0

.

4

6

1

0

.

2

7

1

0

.

2

7

9

.

9

6

9

.

9

6

9

.

8

6

9

.

8

6

9

.

6

1

9

.

6

1

1

0

.

8

4

1

0

.

8

4

1

0

.

9

2

1

0

.

9

2

1

1

.

0

0

1

1

.

0

0

1

1

.

0

0

1

1

.

0

0

1

0

.

9

0

1

0

.

9

0

1

0

.

9

0

1

0

.

9

0

1

0

.

8

7

1

0

.

8

7

1

0

.8

8

1

0

.8

8

1

0

.

8

1

1

0

.

8

1

1

0

.

7

3

1

0

.

7

3

1

0

.

5

9

1

0

.

5

9

1

0

.

3

1

1

0

.

3

1

9

.

9

4

9

.

9

4

9

.

5

1

9

.

5

1

9

.

1

4

9

.

1

4

8

.

8

2

8

.

8

2

8

.

6

5

8

.

6

5

8

.

5

1

8

.

5

1

8

.

3

6

8

.

3

6

1

0

.

5

6

1

0

.

5

6

1

0

.

6

3

1

0

.

6

3

1

0

.

7

0

1

0

.

7

0

6

.

5

9

6

.

5

9

6

.

7

0

6

.

7

0

6

.

7

5

6

.

7

5

6

.

6

6

6

.

6

6

6

.

4

7

6

.

4

7

7

.

5

0

7

.

5

0

7

.

5

8

7

.

5

8

7

.

7

5

7

.

7

5

7

.

9

3

7

.

9

3

8

.

0

4

8

.

0

4

8

.

1

8

8

.

1

8

8

.

3

4

8

.

3

4

8

.

3

0

8

.

3

0

GateGate

GateGate

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

7.457.45

IC CLIC CL

7.597.59

IC CLIC CL

10.4810.48

IC CLIC CL

1

0

.

6

4

1

0

.

6

4

1

0

.

9

2

1

0

.

9

2

1

0

.

5

4

1

0

.

5

4

1

0

.

8

0

1

0

.

8

0

1

0

.

7

8

1

0

.

7

8

1

0

.

8

0

1

0

.

8

0

1

0

.

8

3

1

0

.

8

3

1

0

.

9

2

1

0

.

9

2

1

0

.

9

0

1

0

.

9

0

1

0

.

6

7

1

0

.

6

7

1

0

.

6

4

1

0

.

6

4

1

0

.

4

1

1

0

.

4

1

1

0

.

2

1

1

0

.

2

1

1

0

.

0

3

1

0

.

0

3

10.6910.69

MH CLMH CL

10.7910.79

MH CLMH CL

10.7510.75

MH CLMH CL

7.427.42

MH CLMH CL

7.067.06

MH CLMH CL

6.366.36

MH CLMH CL

6.816.81

MH CLMH CL

6.656.65

MH CLMH CL

6.456.45

MH CLMH CL

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

BDBD

LPLP

LPLP

LPLP

LPLP

LPLP

LPLP

LPLP

LPLP

LPLP

LPLP

LPLP

MkrMkr

MkrMkr

SignSign

SignSign

SignSign

SignSign

SignSign

SignSign

6.066.06

6.066.06

6.816.81

7.177.17

7.607.60

8.148.14

8.548.54

9.229.22

9.769.76

10.3310.33

10.4410.44

10.8410.84

10.9610.96

11.4111.41

13.69

13.6813.68

12.9112.91

12.3812.38

12.1812.18

11.7711.77

9.409.40

9.699.69

9.549.54

7.067.06

7.127.12

7.287.28

7.647.64

7.367.36

7.437.43

7.207.20

7.357.35

7.277.27

7.567.56

7.577.57

7.787.78

7.847.84

6.806.80

6.896.89

7.057.05

5.825.82

6.086.08

6.186.18

6.336.33

6.586.58

6

.

1

2

6

.

1

2

6

.

4

1

6

.

4

1

6

.

5

0

6

.

5

0

6

.

9

7

6

.

9

7

7

.

5

8

7

.

5

8

8

.

2

9

8

.

2

9

8

.

9

3

8

.

9

3

9

.

5

1

9

.

5

1

1

0

.

3

6

1

0

.

3

6

1

0

.

5

1

1

0

.

5

1

1

0

.

4

6

1

0

.

4

6

1

0

.

7

4

1

0

.

7

4

1

0

.

8

8

1

0

.

8

8

1

0

.

9

5

1

0

.

9

5

1

0

.

6

3

1

0

.

6

3

1

0

.

0

2

1

0

.

0

2

9

.

2

7

9

.

2

7

8

.

5

2

8

.

5

2

7

.

6

7

7

.

6

7

7

.

2

3

7

.

2

3

7

.

0

8

7

.

0

8

6

.

9

9

6

.

9

9

6

.

8

8

6

.

8

8

6

.

7

1

6

.

7

1

6

.

4

8

6

.

4

8

5

.

9

5

6

.

0

3

6

.

0

3

6

.

3

1

6

.

3

1

6

.

3

7

6

.

3

7

6

.

8

3

6

.

8

3

7

.

1

3

7

.

1

3

7

.

4

3

7

.

4

3

7

.

7

9

7

.

7

9

8

.

1

4

8

.

1

4

8

.

2

1

8

.

2

1

8

.

6

1

8

.

6

1

8

.

9

3

8

.

9

3

9

.

1

3

9

.

1

3

9

.

4

5

9

.

4

5

9

.

6

3

9

.

6

3

9

.

7

4

9

.

7

4

1

0

.

0

7

1

0

.

0

7

1

0

.

4

3

1

0

.

4

3

1

0

.

5

2

1

0

.

5

2

1

0

.

6

5

1

0

.

6

5

1

0

.

6

5

1

0

.

6

5

1

0

.

5

3

1

0

.

5

3

1

0

.

4

2

1

0

.

4

2

1

0

.

1

2

1

0

.

1

2

9

.

9

2

9

.

9

2

9

.

4

5

9

.

4

5

8

.

7

8

8

.

7

8

7

.

9

7

7

.

9

7

7

.

4

2

7

.

4

2

7

.

2

4

7

.

2

4

7

.

1

5

7

.

1

5

7

.

1

0

7

.

1

0

7

.

0

4

7

.

0

4

6

.

9

7

6

.

9

7

6

.

9

0

6

.

9

0

6

.

8

5

6

.

8

5

6

.

8

0

6

.

8

0

6

.

7

0

6

.

7

0

6

.

5

6

6

.

5

6

6

.

4

7

6

.

4

7

9

.

4

9

9

.

4

9

9

.

6

1

9

.

6

1

9

.

7

8

9

.

7

8

9

.

9

8

9

.

9

8

1

0

.

3

6

1

0

.

3

6

1

0

.

4

0

1

0

.

4

0

1

0

.

5

2

1

0

.

5

2

1

0

.

6

1

1

0

.

6

1

1

0

.

7

1

1

0

.

7

1

1

0

.

7

4

1

0

.

7

4

1

0

.

7

8

1

0

.

7

8

1

0

.

8

0

1

0

.

8

0

1

0

.

8

2

1

0

.

8

2

1

0

.

8

8

1

0

.

8

8

1

0

.

7

6

1

0

.

7

6

1

0

.

7

0

1

0

.

7

0

1

0

.

6

3

1

0

.

6

3

1

0

.

5

3

1

0

.

5

3

9

.

3

8

9

.

3

8

9

.

2

3

9

.

2

3

9

.

0

0

9

.

0

0

8

.

6

2

8

.

6

2

8

.

2

2

8

.

2

2

7

.

5

8

7

.

5

8

7

.

3

2

7

.

3

2

6

.

8

7

6

.

8

7

6

.

5

3

6

.

5

3

6

.

3

7

6

.

3

7

6

.

3

0

6

.

3

0

6

.

0

0

6

.

0

0

1

0

.

6

0

1

0

.

6

0

1

0

.

7

9

1

0

.

7

9

1

0

.

6

8

1

0

.

6

8

1

0

.

5

1

1

0

.

5

1

1

0

.

6

8

1

0

.

6

8

1

0

.

6

6

1

0

.

6

6

1

0

.

6

9

1

0

.

6

9

1

0

.

7

3

1

0

.

7

3

1

0

.

8

1

1

0

.

8

1

1

0

.

8

3

1

0

.

8

3

1

0

.

7

8

1

0

.

7

8

1

0

.

6

4

1

0

.

6

4

1

0

.

5

4

1

0

.

5

4

1

0

.

3

5

1

0

.

3

5

1

0

.

1

4

1

0

.

1

4

9

.

9

4

1

0

.

7

7

1

0

.

7

7

1

0

.

6

6

1

0

.

6

6

1

0

.

6

5

1

0

.

6

5

1

0

.

6

1

1

0

.

6

1

8

.

4

9

8

.

4

9

20152015

20202020

20212021

20262026

1

1

.

0

8

1

1

.

0

8

1

2

.

1

2

1

2

.

1

2

1

2

.

1

7

1

2

.

1

7

1

2

.

1

8

1

2

.

1

8

1

2

.

1

6

1

2

.

1

6

1

2

.

2

3

1

2

.

2

3

1

2

.

1

6

1

2

.

1

6

1

2

.

0

7

1

2

.

0

7

5

.

9

9

5

.

9

9

6

.

1

2

6

.

1

2

6

.

0

3

6

.

0

3

5

.

9

3

5

.

9

3

5

.

5

7

5

.

5

7

5

.

8

5

5

.

8

5

5

.

7

7

5

.

7

7

5

.

7

8

5

.

7

8

5

.

7

9

5

.

7

9

GG

GG

GGGG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

GG

G

1

0

.

9

4

1

0

.

9

4

1

0

.

9

9

1

0

.

9

9

1

1

.

0

4

1

1

.

0

4

1

1

.

0

2

1

1

.

0

2

1

0

.

9

0

1

0

.

9

0

1

0

.

7

4

1

0

.

7

4

9

.

6

4

9

.

6

4

9

.

7

5

9

.

7

5

9

.

9

0

9

.

9

0

1

0

.

1

0

1

0

.

1

0

1

0

.

4

9

1

0

.

4

9

1

0

.

5

2

1

0

.

5

2

1

0

.

6

3

1

0

.

6

3

1

0

.

7

2

1

0

.

7

2

1

0

.

8

3

1

0

.

8

3

1

0

.

8

6

1

0

.

8

6

1

0

.

8

9

1

0

.

8

9

1

0

.

9

3

1

0

.

9

3

1

0

.

9

4

1

0

.

9

4

1

1

.

0

1

1

1

.

0

1

1

0

.

8

7

1

0

.

8

7

1

0

.

8

2

1

0

.

8

2

1

0

.

7

0

1

0

.

7

0

1

0

.

5

9

1

0

.

5

9

8

.

0

6

8

.

0

6

8

.

1

3

8

.

1

3

8

.

1

0

8

.

1

0

7.947.94

7

.

8

5

7

.

8

5

7

.

5

9

7

.

5

9

7

.

4

6

7

.

4

6

7

.

3

2

7

.

3

2

7

.

2

5

7

.

2

5

7

.

1

4

7

.

1

4

6

.

9

7

6

.

9

7

6

.

8

0

6

.

8

0

6

.

6

5

6

.

6

5

6

.

5

0

6

.

5

0

6

.

3

0

6

.

3

0

6

.

1

0

6

.

1

0

5

.

9

2

5

.

9

2

5

.

6

9

5

.

6

9

8

.

7

4

8

.

7

4

8

.

4

6

8

.

4

6

8

.

3

0

8

.

3

0

8

.

2

4

8

.

2

4

8

.

1

6

8

.

1

6

8

.

6

1

8

.

6

1

8

.

4

5

8

.

4

5

8

.

4

1

8

.

4

1

8

.

3

5

8

.

3

5

8

.

9

9

8

.

9

9

9

.

1

4

9

.

1

4

9

.

4

0

9

.

4

0

9

.

8

3

9

.

8

3

1

0

.

2

9

1

0

.

2

9

1

0

.

4

9

1

0

.

4

9

8

.

8

3

8

.

8

3

8

.

9

6

8

.

9

6

9

.

2

8

9

.

2

8

9

.

7

1

9

.

7

1

1

0

.

1

6

1

0

.

1

6

1

0

.

3

7

1

0

.

3

7

8

.

2

1

8

.

2

1

8

.

2

7

8

.

2

7

8

.

2

8

8

.

2

8

8.118.11

7

.

9

7

7

.

9

7

7

.

7

7

7

.

7

7

7

.

6

4

7

.

6

4

7

.

5

0

7

.

5

0

7

.

4

2

7

.

4

2

7

.

3

3

7

.

3

3

7

.

1

3

7

.

1

3

6

.

9

5

6

.

9

5

6

.

8

4

6

.

8

4

6

.

6

6

6

.

6

6

6

.

4

7

6

.

4

7

6

.

2

6

6

.

2

6

6

.

0

9

6

.

0

9

5

.

8

6

5

.

8

6

5

.

9

5

5

.

9

5

6

.

0

7

6

.

0

7

6

.

2

1

6

.

2

1

6

.

3

6

6

.

3

6

6

.

5

0

6

.

5

0

6

.

6

0

6

.

6

0

6

.

7

5

6

.

7

5

6

.

9

6

6

.

9

6

7

.

0

5

7

.

0

5

7

.

2

2

7

.

2

2

7

.

3

4

7

.

3

4

6

.

2

2

6

.

2

2

6

.

6

6

6

.

6

6

6

.

9

0

6

.

9

0

6

.

0

4

6

.

0

4

6

.

5

1

6

.

5

1

6

.

7

7

6

.

7

7

6

.

9

7

6

.

9

7

7

.

1

3

7

.

1

3

7

.

0

9

7

.

0

9

6

.

9

7

6

.

9

7

6

.

9

4

6

.

9

4

6

.

6

5

6

.

6

5

6

.

4

8

6

.

4

8

6

.

2

5

6

.

2

5

6

.

9

6

6

.

9

6

6

.

9

2

6

.

9

2

6

.

8

0

6

.

8

0

6

.

7

5

6

.

7

5

6

.

5

0

6

.

5

0

6

.

3

2

6

.

3

2

6

.

0

3

6

.

0

3

6

.

2

6

6

.

2

6

6

.

4

4

6

.

4

4

6

.

5

4

6

.

5

4

6

.

4

6

6

.

4

6

6

.

3

8

6

.

3

8

6

.

6

1

6

.

6

1

6

.

7

1

6

.

7

1

6

.

6

2

6

.

6

2

6

.

5

7

6

.

5

7

GG

9

.

6

5

9

.

6

5

9

.

9

3

9

.

9

3

9

.

9

6

9

.

9

6

9

.

7

3

9

.

7

3

9

.

5

8

9

.

5

8

9

.

4

3

9

.

4

3

9

.

3

3

9

.

3

3

9

.

1

3

9

.

1

3

8

.

8

9

8

.

8

9

8

.

5

4

8

.

5

4

7

.

4

3

7

.

4

3

6

.

7

7

6

.

7

7

6

.

2

4

6

.

2

4

6

.

1

5

6

.

1

5

5

.

9

0

5

.

9

0

5

.

7

6

5

.

7

6

5

.

4

3

5

.

4

3

4

.

7

7

4

.

7

7

4

.

9

0

4

.

9

0

5

.

0

8

5

.

0

8

1

0

.

8

9

1

0

.

8

9

1

0

.

9

6

1

0

.

9

6

9

.

9

7

9

.

9

7

9

.

5

7

9

.

5

7

9

.

3

5

9

.

3

5

9

.

0

6

9

.

0

6

8

.

8

3

8

.

8

3

8

.

4

6

8

.

4

6

7

.

6

5

7

.

6

5

7

.

0

6

7

.

0

6

6

.

3

8

6

.

3

8

6

.

1

1

6

.

1

1

6

.

1

4

6

.

1

4

6

.

0

4

6

.

1

3

6

.

1

3

6

.

4

0

6

.

4

0

6

.

4

7

6

.

4

7

6

.

9

3

6

.

9

3

7

.

1

8

7

.

1

8

7

.

4

8

7

.

4

8

7

.

8

4

7

.

8

4

8

.

1

9

8

.

1

9

8

.

2

8

8

.

2

8

8

.

6

9

8

.

6

9

9

.

0

5

9

.

0

5

9

.

1

7

9

.

1

7

9

.

5

7

9

.

5

7

9

.

7

6

9

.

7

6

9

.

8

7

9

.

8

7

1

0

.

2

0

1

0

.

2

0

1

0

.

5

6

1

0

.

5

6

1

0

.

6

3

1

0

.

6

3

1

0

.

7

7

1

0

.

7

7

1

0

.

7

7

1

0

.

7

7

1

0

.

6

5

1

0

.

6

5

1

0

.

5

3

1

0

.

5

3

1

0

.

2

4

1

0

.

2

4

1

0

.

0

4

1

0

.

0

4

9

.

5

7

9

.

5

7

8

.

9

4

8

.

9

4

8

.

1

3

8

.

1

3

7

.

5

8

7

.

5

8

7

.

4

0

7

.

4

0

7

.

3

1

7

.

3

1

7

.

2

6

7

.

2

6

7

.

2

2

7

.

2

2

7

.

1

4

7

.

1

4

7

.

0

6

7

.

0

6

7

.

0

2

7

.

0

2

6

.

9

5

6

.

9

5

6

.

8

7

6

.

8

7

6

.

7

2

6

.

7

2

6

.

6

4

6

.

6

4

9

.

5

2

9

.

5

2

9

.

3

6

9

.

3

6

9

.

1

0

9

.

1

0

8

.

7

0

8

.

7

0

8

.

3

1

8

.

3

1

7

.

6

5

7

.

6

5

7

.

3

7

7

.

3

7

6

.

9

6

6

.

9

6

6

.

6

3

6

.

6

3

6

.

4

7

6

.

4

7

6

.

3

9

6

.

3

9

6

.

1

0

6

.

1

0

8

.

6

9

8

.

6

9

9

.

3

3

9

.

3

3

9

.

9

3

9

.

9

3

1

0

.

2

0

1

0

.

2

0

1

0

.

4

3

1

0

.

4

3

1

0

.

4

1

1

0

.

4

1

1

0

.

5

1

1

0

.

5

1

1

0

.

4

8

1

0

.

4

8

1

0

.

8

8

1

0

.

8

8

9

.

0

5

9

.

0

5

1

0

.

5

9

1

0

.

5

9

1

0

.

0

9

1

0

.

0

9

9

.

4

7

9

.

4

7

8

.

5

1

8

.

5

1

1

0

.

9

1

1

0

.

9

1

1

0

.

5

2

1

0

.

5

2

1

0

.

1

0

1

0

.

1

0

9

.

1

0

9

.

1

0

1

0

.

8

4

1

0

.

8

4

1

0

.

4

0

1

0

.

4

0

9

.

9

7

9

.

9

7

9

.

6

3

9

.

6

3

9

.

3

6

9

.

3

6

9

.

2

2

9

.

2

2

9

.

1

0

9

.

1

0

8

.

7

9

8

.

7

9

9

.

1

4

9

.

1

4

9

.

5

7

9

.

5

7

9

.

9

5

9

.

9

5

1

0

.

5

7

1

0

.

5

7

1

0

.

8

5

1

0

.

8

5

SignSign

11.2111.21

11.1211.12

11.4011.40

11.5011.50

11.1511.15

10.5510.55

10.9810.98

11.5811.58

11.6111.61

11.8811.88

11.7611.76

11.1511.15

11.1511.15

11.6611.66

11.9011.90

11.7611.76

11.6311.63

11.5511.55

10.1810.18

9.499.49

8.898.89

8.408.40

7.927.92

7.657.65

7.737.73

7.917.91

8.058.05

8.158.15

8.338.33

8.648.64

8.528.52

8.448.44

10.6910.69

10.7310.73

10.5810.58

10.2910.29

10.2210.22

10.0810.08

10.0410.04

9.679.67

9.119.11

8.638.63

8.188.18

7.837.83

8.898.89

8.618.61

9.039.03

9.269.26

9.609.60

9.429.42

9.839.83

9.819.81

10.0110.01

9.709.70

10.0010.00

9.589.58

9.529.52

9.429.42

9.389.38

9.369.36

9.389.38

9.439.43

9.599.59

9.379.37

9.149.14

9.319.31

9.109.10

9.999.99

10.0210.02

9.159.15

9.799.79

10.2210.22

10.5310.53

10.8910.89

10.9010.90

10.7010.70

10.5110.51

10.6610.66

10.9310.93

10.6810.68

10.3910.39

10.4010.40

9.679.67

9.359.35

8.688.68

8.448.44

8.478.47

10.7910.79

11.0111.01

9.959.95

10.1510.15

10.5510.55

10.8110.81

10.8110.81

10.7310.73

10.9810.98

9.439.43

9.749.74

10.2410.24

10.5310.53

9.629.62

10.1910.19

10.5810.58

10.9410.94

11.3511.35

10.4210.42

10.0110.01

9.449.44

8.228.22

8.128.12

8.128.12

8.088.08

8.108.10

8.218.21

8.238.23

8.178.17

8.048.04

1

1

.

1

5

1

1

.

1

5

1

0

.

9

7

1

0

.

9

7

1

0

.

8

5

1

0

.

8

5

1

0

.

6

4

1

0

.

6

4

1

0

.

4

3

1

0

.

4

3

1

0

.

3

6

1

0

.

3

6

1

0

.

3

3

1

0

.

3

3

1

0

.

3

0

1

0

.

3

0

1

0

.

4

2

1

0

.

4

2

1

0

.

6

8

1

0

.

6

8

1

1

.

5

1

1

1

.

5

1

7

.

8

0

7

.

8

0

8

.

1

8

8

.

1

8

7

.

9

4

7

.

9

4

7

.

7

2

7

.

7

2

7

.

8

4

7

.

8

4

7

.

8

6

7

.

8

6

9

.

3

2

9

.

3

2

1

0

.

1

0

1

0

.

1

0

1

0

.

0

0

1

0

.

0

0

9

.

7

3

9

.

7

3

9

.

4

5

9

.

4

5

9

.

6

1

9

.

6

1

9

.

7

5

9

.

7

5

1

0

.

0

3

1

0

.

0

3

8.118.11

8.058.05

6

.

1

8

6

.

1

8

5

.

8

3

5

.

8

3

5

.

8

4

5

.

8

3

5

.

8

3

5

.

8

3

6.436.43

7.897.89

7.947.94

8.178.17

8.188.18

8.068.06

7.507.50

11.2111.21

11.5011.50

11.5711.57

10.8010.80

10.5310.53

10.3710.37

10.4210.42

9.819.81

9.119.11

8

.

5

5

8

.

5

5

9

.

0

4

9

.

0

4

9

.

4

8

9

.

4

8

9

.

7

0

9

.

7

0

9

.

8

3

9

.

8

3

9

.

7

3

9

.

7

3

9

.

6

4

9

.

6

4

8

.

4

5

8

.

4

5

8

.

2

2

8

.

2

2

8

.

3

1

8

.

3

1

8

.

2

3

8

.

2

3

8

.

2

3

8

.

2

3

8

.

3

3

8

.

3

3

5

.

0

7

5

.

0

7

5

.

0

7

5

.

0

7

5

.

1

4

5

.

1

4

5

.

0

7

5

.

0

7

5

.

0

4

5

.

0

4

5

.

7

4

5

.

7

4

6

.

2

0

6

.

2

0

6

.

2

5

6

.

2

5

6

.

4

2

6

.

4

2

6

.

5

4

6

.

5

4

6

.

4

9

6

.

4

9

6

.

2

7

6

.

2

7

3

.

8

5

3

.

8

5

3

.

8

9

3

.

8

9

3

.

9

3

3

.

9

3

3

.

8

1

3

.

8

1

3

.

9

7

3

.

9

7

5

.

0

5

5

.

0

5

4

.

9

9

4

.

9

9

4

.

4

6

4

.

4

6

4

.

9

6

4

.

9

6

4

.

5

6

4

.

5

6

4

.

6

7

4

.

6

7

4

.

6

8

4

.

6

8

4

.

5

6

4

.

5

6

4

.

5

3

4

.

5

3

4

.

6

8

4

.

6

8

4

.

6

8

4

.

6

8

4

.

6

9

4

.

6

9

4

.

7

6

4

.

7

6

4

.

6

8

4

.

6

8

3

.

5

7

3

.

5

7

2

.

9

8

2

.

9

8

3

.

0

8

3

.

0

8

3

.

5

4

3

.

5

4

3

.

3

7

3

.

3

7

3

.

1

5

3

.

1

5

3

.

3

3

3

.

3

3

3

.

0

8

3

.

0

8

3

.

1

2

3

.

1

2

4.89

4.89

5

.

0

4

5

.

0

4

5

.

2

0

5

.

2

0

5

.

4

3

5

.

4

3

5

.

6

8

5

.

6

8

4.564.56

4

.

5

2

4

.

5

2

4

.

5

7

4

.

5

7

4

.5

4

4

.5

4

4

.

6

0

4

.

6

0

4

.

5

7

4

.

5

7

4

.

5

7

4

.

5

7

4

.

4

7

4

.

4

7

4

.

5

9

4

.

5

9

4

.

4

4

4

.

4

4

3

.

8

8

3

.

8

8

3

.

9

6

3

.

9

6

4

.

0

5

4

.

0

5

3

.

9

0

3

.

9

0

3

.

7

8

3

.

7

8

3

.

7

9

3

.

7

9

3

.

7

9

3

.

7

9

3

.

8

1

3

.

8

1

4

.

5

0

4

.

5

0 4

.

7

2

4

.

7

2

4

.

8

5

4

.

8

5

4

.

6

7

4

.

6

7

4

.

7

6

4

.

7

6

4

.

6

3

4

.

6

3

4

.

5

6

4

.

5

6

4

.

7

5

4

.

7

5

4

.

8

4

4

.

8

4

4

.

8

2

4

.

8

2

4

.

8

9

4

.

8

9

4

.

7

0

4

.

7

0

4

.

9

6

4

.

9

6

4

.

3

6

4

.

3

6

4

.

3

7

4

.

3

7

3

.

1

3

3

.

1

3

3

.

5

4

3

.

5

4

3

.

3

3

3

.

3

3

3

.

5

6

3

.

5

6

3

.

7

8

3

.

7

8

3

.

6

4

3

.

6

4

3

.

3

3

3

.

3

3

5

.2

8

5

.2

8

5.465.46

5.245.24

5.36

5.36

5

.4

6

5

.4

6

5

.4

8

5

.4

8

5.

16

5.

16

5.135.13

5

.1

7

5

.1

7

5.075.07

5

.1

3

5

.1

3

5

.

2

0

5

.

2

0

5

.

1

1

5

.

1

1

4

.

7

0

4

.

7

0

4.

75

4.

75

4

.7

7

4

.7

7

4.

67

4.

67

5.

02

5.

02

4.724.72

4.644.64

4.714.71

4

.5

3

4

.5

3

4.

84

4.

84

4

.

7

2

4

.

7

2

5

.

0

0

5

.

0

0

4

.

0

0

4

.

0

0

5

.

5

6

5

.

5

6

5

.

2

7

5

.

2

7

5

.

1

9

5

.

1

9

5

.

2

6

5

.

2

6

5

.

2

7

5

.

2

7

5

.

4

0

5

.

4

0

5

.

3

0

5

.

3

0

5

.

5

0

5

.

5

0

5

.

3

7

5

.

3

7

5

.

3

5

5

.

3

5

5

.

3

5

5

.

3

5

5

.

6

0

5

.

6

0

5

.

7

0

5

.

7

0

5

.

7

3

5

.

7

3

5

.

7

9

5

.

7

9

5

.

8

7

5

.

8

7

5

.

9

0

5

.

9

0

5

.

8

4

5

.

8

4

5

.

8

4

5

.

8

4

5

.

8

6

5

.

8

6

5

.

3

4

5

.

3

4

5

.

3

3

5

.

3

3

5

.

2

4

5

.

2

4

4

.

7

4

4

.

7

4

4

.

7

6

4

.

7

6

4

.

9

4

4

.

9

4

5

.

1

5

5

.

1

5

4

.

9

7

4

.

9

7

5

.

3

0

5

.

3

0

5

.

1

5

5

.

1

5

4

.

9

5

4

.

9

5

4

.

8

1

4

.

8

1

4

.

7

2

4

.

7

2

4

.

8

7

4

.

8

7

4

.

7

3

4

.

7

3

4

.

4

3

4

.

4

3

4

.

7

6

4

.

7

6

4

.

8

3

4

.

8

3

4

.

8

5

4

.

8

5

4

.

7

5

4

.

7

5

4.

69

4.

69

4

.

2

7

4

.

2

7

5

.

2

2

5

.

2

2

4

.

8

3

4

.

8

3

5

.

2

0

5

.

2

0

5

.

2

3

5

.

2

3

5

.

2

8

5

.

2

8

5.385.38

5.385.38

5

.4

0

5

.4

0

5.36

5.36

5.3

1

5.3

1

5.32

5.32

5.

34

5.

34

5.43

5.43

5.

46

5.

46

5

.

4

2

5

.

4

2

5

.

3

5

5

.

3

5

5

.4

3

5

.4

3

5

.3

9

5

.3

9

5

.

2

5

5

.

2

5

5

.

3

4

5

.

3

4

4

.

7

0

4

.

7

0

4

.

5

5

4

.

5

5

4

.

2

5

4

.

2

5

4

.

5

1

4

.

5

1

5

.

3

5

5

.

3

5

5

.

5

5

5

.

5

5

5

.

6

7

5

.

6

7

5

.

3

3

5

.

3

3

5

.

3

4

5

.

3

4

5.4

3

5.4

3

5

.

5

4

5

.

5

4

5

.4

6

5

.4

6

5

.5

6

5

.5

6

5

.

7

5

5

.

7

5

6

.

1

9

6

.

1

9

6

.

5

4

6

.

5

4

4

.

8

6

4

.

8

6

5

.

2

9

5

.

2

9

5

.

5

2

5

.

5

2

5

.

6

1

5

.

6

1

5

.

5

9

5

.

5

9

5

.

4

4

5

.

4

4

5

.

6

1

5

.

6

1

5

.

9

3

5

.

9

3

6

.

0

5

6

.

0

5

6

.

5

3

6

.

5

3

6

.5

6

6

.5

6

6

.2

6

6

.2

6

6

.

2

3

6

.

2

3

6

.1

0

6

.1

0

5

.

0

0

5

.

0

0

5

.

1

5

5

.

1

5

5

.

3

8

5

.

3

8

5

.

3

9

5

.

3

9

5

.

2

5

5

.

2

5

5

.

1

4

5

.

1

4

5

.

1

6

5

.

1

6

4

.

8

5

4

.

8

5

4

.

5

6

4

.

5

6

4

.

3

1

4

.

3

1

4.3

4

4.3

4

4

.

4

6

4

.

4

6

4

.

4

0

4

.

4

0

4

.

4

4

4

.

4

4

4

.

4

6

4

.

4

6

4

.

6

2

4

.

6

2

4

.

4

4

4

.

4

4

6

.

8

2

6

.

8

2

6

.

9

2

6

.

9

2

6

.

7

6

6

.

7

6

6

.

8

3

6

.

8

3

6

.

7

8

6

.

7

8

6

.

5

7

6

.

5

7

6

.

9

2

6

.

9

2

6

.

8

9

6

.

8

9

7

.

1

7

7

.

1

7

7

.

3

4

7

.

3

4

8

.

1

4

8

.

1

4

7

.

2

6

7

.

2

6

7

.

4

4

7

.

4

4

7

.

6

4

7

.

6

4

7

.

6

3

7

.

6

3

7

.

6

0

7

.

6

0

7

.

5

8

7

.

5

8

7

.

7

1

7

.

7

1

7

.

8

5

7

.

8

5

4

.9

8

4

.9

8

5.

18

5.

18

5

.

1

2

5

.

1

2

5

.

0

9

5

.

0

9

BTBT

4

.

9

0

4

.

9

0

4

.

9

4

4

.

9

4

4

.8

9

4

.8

9

4

.

8

9

4

.

8

9

4

.

9

1

4

.

9

1

5

.

1

0

5

.

1

0

5.

09

5.

09

5

.

1

7

5

.

1

7

4

.

8

2

4

.

8

2

4

.7

2

4

.7

2

4

.8

5

4

.8

5

4

.9

3

4

.9

3

5

.

0

2

5

.

0

2

5

.

1

4

5

.

1

4

4

.

8

7

4

.

8

7

5

.

3

1

5

.

3

1

5

.

2

9

5

.

2

9

5

.

2

5

5

.

2

5

5

.

4

4

5

.

4

4

5

.

3

3

5

.

3

3

5

.

2

7

5

.

2

7

5

.

4

8

5

.

4

8

5

.

3

0

5

.

3

0

5

.

3

7

5

.

3

7

5

.1

9

5

.1

9

5

.

1

4

5

.

1

4

5

.

2

4

5

.

2

4

5

.

2

8

5

.

2

8

5

.

3

2

5

.

3

2

5

.

2

6

5

.

2

6

5.375.37

5.355.35

5.435.43

5.265.26

5.275.27

5.325.32

5.335.33

5.265.26

5

.

1

0

5

.

1

0

5

.

4

0

5

.

4

0

5

.

4

2

5

.

4

2

5

.

3

8

5

.

3

8

5

.

3

7

5

.

3

7

5

.

2

0

5

.

2

0

5

.

0

2

5

.

0

2

8

.

5

0

8

.

5

0

8

.

5

8

8

.

5

8

8

.

5

9

8

.

5

9

8

.

6

0

8

.

6

0

8

.

5

2

8

.

5

5

5

.

0

2

5

.

0

2

5

.

4

9

5

.

5

1

5

.

5

1

5

.

5

0

5

.

5

0

5

.

4

8

5

.

4

8

5

.

4

7

5

.

4

7

5

.

4

4

5

.

4

4

5

.

5

1

5

.

5

1

GG

4

.6

3

4

.6

3

4

.7

7

4

.7

7

4.7

8

4.7

84.61

4.61

4.60

4.60

4.71

4.71

4

.5

4

4

.5

4

4.

67

4.

67

4.684.68

4

.6

7

4

.6

7

4

.7

2

4

.7

2

4

.8

3

4

.8

3

8

.

1

5

8

.

1

5

7

.

7

6

7

.

7

6

9

.

3

5

9

.

3

5

8

.

0

3

8

.

0

3

H

a

w

t

h

r

o

n

e

 

H

e

d

g

e

H

a

w

t

h

r

o

n

e

 

H

e

d

g

e

4.884.88

MH CLMH CL

4.264.26

MH CLMH CL

5.215.21

BHBH

BLBL

2.852.85

BLBL

2.882.88

BLBL

2.972.97

BLBL

2.752.75

BLBL

2.902.90

BLBL

3.173.17

BLBL

3.173.17

PostPost

PostPost

PostPost

PostPost

PostPost

PostPost

PostPost

5.175.17

5.015.01

4.694.69

5.125.12

5.045.04

4.574.57

4.584.58

4.794.79

4.624.62

4.424.42

4.724.72

4.474.47

4.514.51

5.105.10

4.624.62

5.015.01

5.545.54

5.745.74

5.765.76

5.755.75

6.236.23

6.406.40

6.606.60

7.587.58

7.977.97

8.348.34

8.758.75

9.229.22

9.369.36

9.409.40

9.219.21

8.728.72

8.498.49

8.098.09

7.947.94

7.757.75

7.407.40

7.237.23

6.706.70

6.756.75

6.656.65

6.126.12

5.865.86

5.775.77

5.765.76

5.835.83

5.795.79

5.705.70

3.703.70

3.783.78

4.844.84

4.594.59

4.574.57

4.674.67

4.744.74

4.594.59

4.524.52

5.015.01

4.634.63

4.494.49

4.444.44

4.424.42

4.474.47

4.634.63

4.634.63

4.97

5.095.09

5.485.48

5.095.09

5.295.29

5.495.49

5.475.47

5.535.53

5.505.50

5.705.70

5.575.57

5.335.33

5.455.45

5.535.53

5.355.35

5.135.13

5.435.43

5.725.72

5.375.37

5.345.34

5.755.75

5.765.76

5.965.96

5.555.55

5.835.83

5.885.88

5.765.76

5.405.40

5.205.20

4.614.61

4.494.49

5.215.21

5.485.48

5.775.77

6.256.25

6.306.30

6.506.50

7.007.00

6.906.90

6.366.36

5.905.90

5.695.69

5.425.42

4.654.65

4.964.96

5.595.59

5.815.81

6.236.23

6.696.69

7.057.05

7.247.24

8.018.01

7.677.67

7.427.42

6.906.90

6.346.34

7.057.05

7.897.89

8.248.24

8.318.31

8.348.34

8.358.35

8.428.42

8.678.67

4.534.53

4.534.53

4.564.56

4.834.83

5.105.10

5.215.21

5.355.35

5.145.14

4.784.78

5.305.30

5.265.26

5.155.15

5.055.05

4.614.61

4.564.56

4.874.87

5.105.10

5.035.03

4.784.78

4.794.79

4.894.89

4.794.79

4.714.71

4.634.63

4.814.81

4.814.81

4.504.50

4.664.66

4.664.66

4.614.61

4.884.88

4.724.72

4.714.71

4.774.77

4.914.91

4.924.92

5.015.01

4.844.84

4.934.93

4.944.94

4.524.52

5.095.09

4.624.62

5.105.10 5.145.14

5.205.20

5.215.21

5.245.24

5.235.23

5.195.19

5.195.19

5.195.19

5.445.44

4.744.74

5.095.09

5.075.07

5.285.28

5.155.15

5.195.19

5.225.22

5.165.16

5.185.18

5.215.21

5.175.17

5.255.25

5.285.28

5.255.25

5.205.20

5.215.21

5.255.25

5.195.19

5.285.28

5.135.13

5.015.01

4.764.76

5.025.02

5.135.13

5.215.21

5.215.21

5.205.20

5.125.12

5.155.15

5.125.12

5.165.16

5.175.17

5.235.23

5.195.19

5.095.09

4.964.96

4.874.87

4.704.70

4.974.97

5.105.10

5.155.15

5.185.18

5.115.11

5.235.23

5.185.18

5.205.20

5.125.12

5.125.12

5.115.11

5.025.02

4.804.80

4.954.95

5.085.08

5.165.16

5.115.11

5.125.12

5.165.16

5.155.15

5.235.23

5.135.13

5.215.21

5.095.09

5.125.12

5.135.13

5.125.12

4.854.85

4.844.84

4.634.63

5.025.02

5.065.06

5.205.20

5.195.19

5.205.20

5.225.22

5.235.23

4.994.99

5.065.06

5.285.28

4.974.97

4.874.87

4.564.56

5.165.16

5.075.07

5.235.23

5.225.22

5.185.18

5.255.25

5.195.19

5.145.14

5.185.18

5.155.15

5.165.16

5.115.11

5.105.10

5.195.19

5.065.06

5.155.15

5.135.13

5.085.08

5.185.18

5.225.22

5.015.01

5.195.19

5.095.09

5.175.17

5.145.14

5.155.15

5.155.15

5.225.22

5.165.16

5.075.07

5.165.16

5.225.22

5.185.18

5.155.15

5.125.12

5.165.16

5.135.13

5.135.13

4.964.96

5.115.11

5.125.12

5.125.12

5.095.09

5.095.09

5.205.20

5.175.17

5.225.22

5.205.20

5.175.17

5.065.06

5.085.08

5.225.22

5.275.27

5.315.31

5.175.17

5.165.16

5.405.40

5.165.16

5.135.13

5.145.14

5.155.15

5.135.13

5.245.24

5.215.21

5.165.16

5.335.33

5.025.02

4.904.90

4.994.99

4.944.94

5.065.06

5.065.06

4.954.95

4.964.96

5.015.01

5.115.11

4.924.92

5.205.20

5.185.18

5.175.17

5.405.40

5.305.30

5.275.27

5.235.23

5.215.21

5.575.57

5.315.31

5.275.27

5.295.29

5.305.30

5.235.23

5.235.23

5.265.26

5.295.29

5.425.42

5.305.30

5.265.26

5.035.03

5.185.18

5.215.21

5.245.24

5.325.32

5.285.28

5.165.16

5.285.28

5.135.13

5.015.01

5.165.16

5.095.09

5.155.15

5.235.23

5.235.23

5.185.18

5.235.23

5.005.00

5.085.08

5.205.20

5.195.19

5.135.13

5.075.07

5.375.37

5.185.18

5.125.12

5.145.14

5.125.12

5.205.20

5.185.18

5.125.12

5.125.12

5.415.41

5.105.10

4.964.96

5.075.07

5.175.17

5.165.16

5.195.19

5.095.09

5.215.21

5.125.12

5.155.15

5.205.20

5.095.09

4.824.82

5.145.14

5.135.13

4.694.69

4.494.49

4.544.54

4.924.92

5.145.14

5.175.17

5.235.23

5.285.28

5.215.21

5.135.13

5.175.17

5.245.24

5.165.16

4.974.97

4.604.60

4.334.33

4.774.77

4.944.94

5.135.13

5.205.20

4.954.95

4.734.73

4.674.67

4.294.29

4.504.50

5.095.09

4.774.77

5.145.14

5.295.29

4.954.95

5.205.20

5.185.18

5.085.08

4.914.91

4.564.56

4.444.44

4.434.43

4.624.62

5.005.00

4.924.92

4.774.77

4.764.76

5.095.09

5.175.17

5.085.08

4.864.86

4.714.71

4.814.81

4.724.72

4.894.89

4.764.76

4.864.86

4.824.82

4.234.23

4.224.22

4.714.71

4.694.69

4.404.40

4.614.61

4.904.90

5.405.40

5.765.76

4.174.17

4.454.45

4.594.59

4.764.76

4.734.73

4.884.88

5.255.25

5.095.09

4.624.62

4.784.78

4.414.41

4.544.54

4.544.54

4.594.59

4.724.72

4.704.70

4.194.19

4.214.21

4.424.42

4.484.48

4.484.48

4.384.38

4.364.36

4.524.52

4.774.77

5.145.14

5.125.12

5.255.25

5.145.14

4.894.89

4.834.83

4.594.59

4.414.41

4.494.49

4.394.39

4.454.45

4.474.47

4.554.55

4.584.58

4.704.70

4.604.60

4.534.53

4.344.34

4.464.46

5.125.12

5.095.09

5.125.12

5.045.04

4.964.96

5.295.29

5.465.46

5.155.15

5.065.06

4.994.99

4.844.84

4.474.47

4.484.48

4.234.23

4.234.23

4.254.25

4.344.34

4.294.29

4.164.16

4.064.06

4.244.24

4.224.22

4.224.22

4.284.28

4.144.14

4.444.44

4.764.76

4.414.41

4.384.38

4.724.72

4.904.90

6.316.31

5.505.50

5.455.45

5.485.48

5.215.21

5.135.13

5.595.59

5.515.51

5.615.61

5.925.92

6.246.24

6.826.82

7.857.85

7.927.92

8.168.16

7.917.91

7.697.69

7.617.61

7.337.33

7.127.12

7.317.31

7.597.59

7.507.50

7.367.36

7.027.02

6.896.89

4.984.98

5.225.22

5.295.29

6.756.75

6.726.72

6.836.83

6.416.41

6.466.46

6.356.35

6.556.55

6.126.12

6.026.02

6.066.06

5.765.76

5.835.83

5.995.99

6.376.37

5.975.97

6.236.23

6.076.07

5.865.86

5.755.75

6.076.07

5.965.96

5.615.61

5.775.77

5.595.59

5.475.47

5.355.35

5.565.56

5.505.50

5.295.29

4.974.97

5.225.22

5.225.22

5.435.43

5.225.22

5.245.24

5.635.63

5.215.21

5.455.45

5.385.38

5.125.12

5.205.20

5.265.26

4.994.99

5.315.31

4.884.88

4.834.83

5.385.38

5.265.26

4.404.40

4.184.18

4.394.39

4.184.18

4.104.10

4.174.17

4.654.65

4.954.95

5.265.26

4.484.48

4.614.61

4.594.59

4.674.67

4.214.21

5.125.12

5.565.56

5.605.60

5.535.53

5.335.33

5.185.18

5.175.17

5.535.53

5.485.48

5.465.46

5.385.38

5.445.44

5.815.81

6.736.73

6.946.94

7.117.11

7.367.36

7.487.48

7.577.57

7.947.94

5.225.22

4.994.99

5.555.55

5.765.76

5.815.81

5.515.51

5.985.98

5.885.88

6.176.17

6.386.38

6.676.67

7.167.16

6.986.98

6.876.87

6.866.86

7.907.90

7.827.82

7.657.65

7.717.71

8.588.58

9.229.22

9.409.40

9.249.24

8.788.78

8.278.27

8.108.10

7.747.74

8.218.21

8.848.84

9.409.40

9.389.38

8.748.74

8.228.22

7.817.81

7.727.72

7.547.54

8.088.08

8.398.39

8.738.73

9.339.33

8.858.85

8.198.19

7.737.73

7.527.52

7.447.44

8.048.04

8.768.76

8.378.37

7.957.95

8.028.02

7.667.66

6.736.73

6.546.54

6.236.23

6.306.30

5.655.65

5.535.53

5.375.37

5.315.31

5.285.28

5.305.30

5.775.77

5.705.70

6.046.04

6.336.33

6.206.20

6.106.10

5.975.97

5.645.64

5.905.90

5.685.68

5.665.66

5.365.36

5.155.15

5.515.51

5.455.45

5.195.19

4.944.94

5.265.26

5.505.50

5.585.58

5.515.51

5.845.84

6.086.08

6.596.59

StumpStump

StumpStump

3.733.73

WLWL

3.723.72

WLWL

3.773.77

WLWL

3.763.76

WLWL

3.763.76

WLWL

4.884.88

WLWL

3.763.76

WLWL

3.823.82

WLWL

6

.

3

7

6

.

3

7

10611061

4

.

9

8

4

.

9

8

4

.

8

2

4

.

8

2

4

.

7

3

4

.

7

3

4

.

6

9

4

.

6

9

4

.

9

4

4

.

9

4

4

.

9

7

4

.

9

7

5

.

2

4

5

.

2

4

4

.

6

2

4

.

6

2

5

.

8

0

5

.

8

0

6.0

5

6.0

5

6

.

5

5

6

.

5

5

6

.

3

4

6

.

3

4

6

.

4

8

6

.

4

8

6

.

5

0

6

.

5

0

6

.

5

3

6

.

5

3

6

.

7

0

6

.

7

0

6

.

4

2

6

.

4

2

5

.8

7

5

.8

7

5

.

6

2

5

.

6

2

5

.3

8

5

.3

8

5

.

4

4

5

.

4

4

5

.

2

3

5

.

2

3

5

.

2

3

5

.

2

3

4

.

6

8

4

.

6

8

4

.

7

7

4

.

7

7

5

.

0

7

5

.

0

7

4

.

7

4

4

.

7

4

4

.

0

6

4

.

0

6

3

.

9

9

3

.

9

9

4

.

0

8

4

.

0

8

4

.

1

2

4

.

1

2

4

.

3

5

4

.

3

5

4

.4

9

4

.4

9

4

.6

0

4

.6

0

5

.13

5

.13

5

.

0

8

5

.

0

8

5

.

3

1

5

.

3

1

5

.

9

9

5

.

9

9

5

.

6

1

5

.

6

1

5

.

3

1

5

.

3

1

5

.

0

3

5

.

0

3

4

.

8

2

4

.

8

2

4

.

5

8

4

.

5

8

4

.

6

4

4

.

6

4

4

.

1

0

4

.

1

0

3

.

9

9

3

.

9

9

4

.

0

8

4

.

0

8

4

.

1

3

4

.

1

3

4

.

5

0

4

.

5

0

4

.

6

2

4

.

6

2

4

.

5

4

4

.

5

4

4

.

8

9

4

.

8

9

5

.

0

8

5

.

0

8

5

.

0

5

5

.

0

5

4

.

9

9

4

.

9

9

5

.

1

2

5

.

1

2

5

.

1

5

5

.

1

5

4

.

8

6

4

.

8

6

5

.

0

1

5

.

0

1

5

.

4

5

5

.

4

5

4

.

9

1

4

.

9

1

5

.

3

5

5

.

3

5

5

.

8

8

5

.

8

8

5

.

7

2

5

.

7

2

5

.

0

7

5

.

0

7

5

.

3

5

5

.

3

5

4

.

6

9

4

.

6

9

5

.

0

7

5

.

0

7

4

.

5

6

4

.

5

6

4

.

6

9

4

.

6

9

4

.

3

6

4

.

3

6

4

.

6

9

4

.

6

9

4

.

6

5

4

.

6

5

4

.

9

1

4

.

9

1

4

.

8

1

4

.

8

1

4

.

7

1

4

.

7

1

4

.

3

1

4

.

3

1

4

.

2

4

4

.

2

4

4

.

0

0

4

.

0

0

4

.

1

4

4

.

1

4

4

.

1

6

4

.

1

6

4

.

0

9

4

.

0

9

4

.

0

0

4

.

0

0

3

.

8

6

3

.

8

6

3

.

9

6

3

.

9

6

3

.

8

7

3

.

8

7

3

.

4

1

3

.

4

1

3

.

5

7

3

.

5

7

4

.

1

1

4

.

1

1

3

.

9

6

3

.

9

6

3

.

8

7

3

.

8

7

4

.

9

6

4

.

9

6

5

.

0

6

5

.

0

6

4

.

8

3

4

.

8

3

4

.

7

4

4

.

7

4

4

.

7

3

4

.

7

3

4

.

5

2

4

.

5

2

4

.

5

6

4

.

5

6

4

.

2

8

4

.

2

8

4

.

3

1

4

.

3

1

4

.

1

1

4

.

1

1

4

.

9

7

4

.

9

7

4

.

9

3

4

.

9

3

5

.

1

8

5

.

1

8

5

.

0

9

5

.

0

9

5.3

0

5.3

0

5

.

3

7

5

.

3

7

5

.4

4

5

.4

4

5.505.50

4

.

2

0

4

.

2

0

4

.

3

7

4

.

3

7

4

.

2

0

4

.

2

0

4

.

4

9

4

.

4

9

4

.

8

7

4

.

8

7

4

.

4

7

4

.

4

7

3

.

0

1

3

.

0

1

4

.

1

4

4

.

1

4

4

.

4

9

4

.

4

9

4

.

3

6

4

.

3

6

4

.

7

6

4

.

7

6

4

.

5

1

4

.

5

1

4

.

7

0

4

.

7

0

4

.

7

2

4

.

7

2

4

.

6

7

4

.

6

7

4

.

7

5

4

.

7

5

4

.

6

5

4

.

6

5

4

.

5

4

4

.

5

4

4

.

7

8

4

.

7

8

4

.

5

2

4

.

5

2

4

.

4

4

4

.

4

4

4

.

5

1

4

.

5

1

4

.

6

8

4

.

6

8

4

.

6

2

4

.

6

2

5

.

1

4

5

.

1

4

5

.

1

4

5

.

1

4

5

.

0

9

5

.

0

9

5

.

0

4

5

.

0

4

5

.

0

5

5

.

0

5

5

.

1

0

5

.

1

0

4

.

9

8

4

.

9

8

5

.

1

3

5

.

1

3

5

.

1

9

5

.

1

9

5

.

0

3

5

.

0

3

5

.

1

1

5

.

1

1

5

.

2

2

5

.

2

2

5

.

2

0

5

.

2

0

5

.

1

4

5

.

1

4

5

.

2

7

5

.

2

7

5

.

1

7

5

.

1

7

5

.

1

7

5

.

1

7

5

.

2

3

5

.

2

3

3

.

6

6

3

.

6

6

3

.

6

4

3

.

6

4

4

.

0

3

4

.

0

3

3

.

8

7

3

.

8

7

3

.

7

4

3

.

7

4

3

.

6

6

3

.

6

6

3

.

9

4

3

.

9

4

3

.

8

6

3

.

8

6

3

.

6

5

3

.

6

5

3

.

7

0

3

.

7

0

3

.

8

2

3

.

8

2

3

.

3

7

3

.

3

7

3

.

6

4

3

.

6

4

3

.

3

4

3

.

3

4

3

.

4

7

3

.

4

7

3

.

6

6

3

.

6

6

3

.

6

5

3

.

6

5

3

.

8

1

3

.

8

1

3

.

6

0

3

.

6

0

3

.

6

2

3

.

6

2

3

.

6

9

3

.

6

9

3

.

5

6

3

.

5

6

3

.

4

9

3

.

4

9

3

.

8

6

3

.

8

6

4

.

0

7

4

.

0

7

3

.

7

1

3

.

7

1

4

.

5

6

4

.

5

6

4

.

8

3

4

.

8

3

4

.

4

3

4

.

4

3

4

.

6

8

4

.

6

8

4

.

9

6

4

.

9

6

4

.

7

1

4

.

7

1

4

.

5

3

4

.

5

3

4

.

5

2

4

.

5

2

3

.

4

5

3

.

4

5

3

.

2

2

3

.

2

2

2

.

9

5

2

.

9

5

4

.

5

9

4

.

5

9

4

.

5

8

4

.

5

8

4

.

4

9

4

.

4

9

5

.

0

6

5

.

0

6

4

.

4

5

4

.

4

5

3

.

4

3

3

.

4

3

3

.

6

2

3

.

6

2

3

.

3

8

3

.

3

8

3

.

6

1

3

.

6

1

3

.

5

3

3

.

5

3

3

.

5

9

3

.

5

9

3

.

3

6

3

.

3

6

3

.

5

3

3

.

5

3

3

.

4

8

3

.

4

8

3

.

2

6

3

.

2

6

3

.

5

1

3

.

5

1

3

.

2

4

3

.

2

4

3

.

4

4

3

.

4

4

3

.

0

8

3

.

0

8

3

.

2

1

3

.

2

1

3

.

1

9

3

.

1

9

3

.

5

3

3

.

5

3

3

.

3

7

3

.

3

7

3

.

1

6

3

.

1

6

3

.

5

1

3

.

5

1

3

.

1

0

3

.

1

0

3

.

0

9

3

.

0

9

3

.

6

1

3

.

6

1

3

.

3

9

3

.

3

9

3

.

2

9

3

.

2

9

3

.

4

9

3

.

4

9

3

.

5

7

3

.

5

7

3

.

7

0

4

.

6

7

4

.

6

7

4

.

4

6

4

.

4

6

4

.

2

3

4

.

2

3

4

.

2

1

4

.

2

1

4

.

1

8

4

.

1

8

4

.

3

8

4

.

3

8

4

.

8

0

4

.

8

0

4

.

6

2

4

.

6

2

4

.

4

0

4

.

4

0

4

.

1

4

4

.

1

4

4

.

1

5

4

.

1

5

4

.

2

4

4

.

2

4

4

.

0

2

4

.

0

2

4

.

0

3

4

.

0

3

4

.

1

8

4

.

1

8

4

.

1

6

4

.

1

6

4

.

1

7

4

.

1

7

4

.

2

0

4

.

2

0

4

.

4

8

4

.

4

8

4

.

5

7

4

.

5

7

4

.

4

7

4

.

4

7

4

.

4

9

4

.

4

9

4

.

5

9

4

.

5

9

4

.

6

1

4

.

6

1

4

.

3

3

4

.

3

3

4

.

5

4

4

.

5

4

4

.

6

5

4

.

6

5

4

.

8

0

4

.

8

0

4

.

6

8

4

.

6

8

4

.

4

3

4

.

4

3

4

.

5

9

4

.

5

9

4

.

6

1

4

.

6

1

4

.

2

9

4

.

2

9

4

.

5

4

4

.

5

4

4

.

7

4

4

.

7

4

4

.

7

2

4

.

7

2

4

.

5

6

4

.

5

6

4

.

7

2

4

.

7

2

4

.

7

5

4

.

7

5

4

.

7

7

4

.

7

2

4

.

7

2

4

.

6

4

4

.

6

4

4

.

6

0

4

.

6

0

4

.

5

7

4

.

5

7

4

.

6

4

4

.

6

4

4

.

8

7

4

.

8

7

4

.

8

6

4

.

8

6

4

.

9

5

4

.

9

5

4

.

7

9

4

.

7

9

4

.

6

2

4

.

6

2

4

.

5

2

4

.

5

2

4

.

4

7

4

.

4

7

4

.

7

4

4

.

7

4

4

.

7

4

4

.

7

4

4

.

5

7

4

.

5

7

4

.

4

9

4

.

4

9

3

.

3

8

3

.

2

9

3

.

2

9

3

.

3

6

3

.

3

6

3

.

3

9

3

.

3

9

3

.

4

3

3

.

4

3

3

.

4

7

3

.

4

7

3

.

2

6

3

.

2

6

3

.

5

1

3

.

5

1

3.583.58

3

.

3

2

3

.

3

2

3

.

1

7

3

.

1

7

3

.

6

6

3

.

6

6

3

.

4

5

3

.

4

5

3

.

4

9

3

.

4

9

2

.

9

5

2

.

9

5

3

.

4

6

3

.

4

6

3

.

4

1

3

.

4

1

3

.

3

3

3

.

3

3

3

.

4

0

3

.

4

0

3

.

3

0

3

.

3

0

3

.

3

9

3

.

3

9

3

.

0

9

3

.

0

9

3

.4

0

3

.4

0

3

.

4

0

3

.

4

0

3

.

0

6

3

.

0

6

2

.

8

5

2

.

8

5

2

.

9

9

2

.

9

9

3

.

5

2

3

.

5

2

3

.

2

8

3

.

2

8

3

.

2

0

3

.

2

0

3

.

2

1

3

.

2

1

3

.

0

9

3

.

0

9

3

.

6

5

3

.

6

5

3

.

3

7

3

.

3

7

3

.

3

7

3

.

3

7

3

.

6

1

3

.

6

1

4

.

3

7

4

.

3

7

4

.

2

7

4

.

2

7

4

.

1

9

4

.

1

9

4

.

2

4

4

.

2

4

4

.1

8

4

.1

8

4

.

2

1

4

.

2

1

4.304.30

4

.

5

8

4

.

5

8

4

.

4

3

4

.

4

3

4.174.17

4

.

1

5

4

.

1

5

4

.

4

2

4

.

4

2

4

.

7

5

4

.

7

5

4

.

7

2

4

.

7

2

4

.

8

5

4

.

8

5

4

.

8

7

4

.

8

7

4

.

9

3

4

.

9

3

4

.

9

1

4

.

9

1

4

.

7

5

4

.

7

5

4

.

9

2

4

.

9

2

4

.

6

0

4

.

6

0

4

.

7

6

4

.

7

6

4

.

6

8

4

.

6

8

5.345.34

5.3

4

5.3

4

5

.

4

5

5

.

4

5

5

.

4

5

5

.

4

8

5

.

4

8

5

.

5

5

5

.

6

2

5

.

7

2

5

.

8

1

5

.

9

0

5

.

9

4

5

.

9

9

5

.

8

8

5

.

7

5

5

.

5

9

5

.

5

0

5

.

3

8

5

.

4

2

5

.

5

3

5

.

5

7

5

.

5

7

5

.

4

4

5

.

4

4

5

.

4

1

5

.

4

1

5

.

5

2

5

.

5

2

5

.

6

1

5

.

6

1

5

.

7

9

5

.

7

9

5

.

9

1

5

.

9

1

5

.

9

3

5

.

9

3

5

.

9

8

5

.

9

8

5

.

9

9

5

.

9

9

5

.

9

5

5

.

9

5

5

.

8

9

5

.

8

9

5

.

8

4

5

.

8

4

5

.

8

2

5

.

8

2

5

.

7

6

5

.

7

6

5

.

6

9

5

.

6

9

5

.

6

4

5

.

6

4

5

.

6

2

5

.

6

2

5

.

5

5

5

.

5

5

5

.

4

6

5

.

4

6

5

.

4

4

5

.

4

4

5

.

4

4

LPLP

LPLP

LP

LPLP

LP

LP

3.633.63

4.414.41

4.554.55

5.705.70

4.574.57

4.444.44

4.274.27

5.185.18

5.735.73

5.225.22

5.535.53

5.405.40

5.775.77

6.146.14

5.675.67

5.895.89

5.185.18

5.755.75

5.455.45

5.715.71

5.395.39

5.385.38

5.405.40

5.045.04

5.315.31

5.425.42

5.765.76

5.185.18

4.944.94

5.375.37

5.375.37

5.275.27

5.335.33

5.415.41

5.385.38

5.325.32

5.685.68

5.295.29

5.345.34

5.265.26

5.335.33

5.305.30

5.245.24

5.275.27

5.305.30

5.175.17

5.255.25

5.245.24

5.295.29

4.894.89

4.944.94

4.894.89

5.535.53

4.684.68

4.774.77

4.264.26

4.614.61

4.844.84

4.744.74

7.417.41

7.247.24

7.367.36

7.597.59

5.015.01

4.854.85

4.664.66

6.606.60

4.764.76

4.574.57

4.904.90

4.974.97

4.694.69

4.494.49

4.394.39

4.764.76

5.535.53

5.745.74

4.824.82

5.095.09

5.205.20

8.088.08

GasGas

6.36.3

6.36.3

9

.

9

8

9

.

9

8

1

0

.

3

0

1

0

.

3

0

1

0

.

4

7

1

0

.

4

7

1

0

.

5

5

1

0

.

5

5

1

0

.

7

6

1

0

.

7

6

1

0

.

6

6

1

0

.

6

6

1

0

.

3

7

1

0

.

3

7

1

0

.

0

1

1

0

.

0

1

9

.

4

1

9

.

4

1

8

.

4

1

8

.

4

1

7

.

8

3

7

.

8

3

7

.

6

0

7

.

6

0

7

.

2

9

7

.

2

9

7

.

2

2

7

.

2

2

7

.

1

3

7

.

1

3

6

.

9

3

6

.

9

3

6

.

7

1

6

.

7

1

6

.

3

9

6

.

3

9

6

.

5

5

6

.

5

5

6

.

3

3

6

.

3

3

6

.

1

7

6

.

1

7

5

.

7

7

5

.

7

7

GG

AA10AA10

Football PitchFootball Pitch

GrassGrass

GrassGrass

Dense VegetationDense Vegetation

(Unable to Survey)(Unable to Survey)

Dense VegetationDense Vegetation

(Unable to Survey)(Unable to Survey)

Dense VegetationDense Vegetation

(Unable to Survey)(Unable to Survey)

Dense VegetationDense Vegetation

(Unable to Survey)(Unable to Survey)

Dense VegetationDense Vegetation

(Unable to Survey)(Unable to Survey)

Dense VegetationDense Vegetation

(Unable to Survey)(Unable to Survey)

GrassGrass

GrassGrass

PondPond

20022002

R

e

t

a

i

n

i

n

g

 

W

a

l

l

R

e

t

a

i

n

i

n

g

 

W

a

l

l

UTLUTL

Approx (Covered)Approx (Covered)

UTLUTL

UTLUTL

UTLUTL

UTLUTL

BlockedBlocked

Area UnderArea Under

ConstructionConstruction

Area UnderArea Under

ConstructionConstruction

Area UnderArea Under

ConstructionConstruction

Area UnderArea Under

ConstructionConstruction

G

a

b

i

a

n

 

W

a

l

l

G

a

b

i

a

n

 

W

a

l

l

WaterWater

WaterWater

G1#G1#

G2G2

G3G3

H4H4

T5#T5#
G6G6

G7G7

T8T8

G9#G9#

T12#T12#

G10G10
G11G11

T14T14

T16T16
G15G15

T19T19

G18#G18#

G20G20

T21T21

T22T22

T23#T23#

G17G17

G13G13

G24G24

T25#T25#

T27T27

T28T28

G29G29

G26#G26#

T31#T31#

T32T32
G33G33

G34#G34#

G34#G34#

G35G35T39T39

T40T40

T44T44
T45T45

T46T46

G36G36

G37G37

G42G42

G41G41

T30T30

T38#T38#

G43#G43#

Do not scale this drawing (printed or electronic version).Do not scale this drawing (printed or electronic version).

Contractors must check all dimensions from siteContractors must check all dimensions from site

This drawing is copyright and is for use on this site only. This drawing should be read in conjunctionThis drawing is copyright and is for use on this site only. This drawing should be read in conjunction
with all relevant consultants drawings and specialist subcontractors / supply chain drawings andwith all relevant consultants drawings and specialist subcontractors / supply chain drawings and
specifications.specifications.

All works to be carried out in accordance with the latest British Standards / Codes of Practice unlessAll works to be carried out in accordance with the latest British Standards / Codes of Practice unless
specifically directed otherwise in the specification.specifically directed otherwise in the specification.

Responsibility for the reproduction of this drawing in paper form, or issued in electronic format, lies withResponsibility for the reproduction of this drawing in paper form, or issued in electronic format, lies with
the recipient to check that all information has been replicated in full and is correct when comparedtothe recipient to check that all information has been replicated in full and is correct when comparedto
the original paper or electronic image.the original paper or electronic image.

Graphical representations of equipment on this drawing have been co-ordinated, but areGraphical representations of equipment on this drawing have been co-ordinated, but are
approximations only. Please refer to the specifications and / or details for actual sizes and / or specificapproximations only. Please refer to the specifications and / or details for actual sizes and / or specific
contractor construction information.contractor construction information.

Notes:-Notes:-

Project:Project:
UG827UG827

Dwg No:Dwg No:

25/02/2125/02/21
Date:Date:

BXBBXB
LIMITEDLIMITED

Client:Client:

Title:Title:

TREE CONSTRAINTS PLANTREE CONSTRAINTS PLAN

UG_827_ARB_TCP_01UG_827_ARB_TCP_01

Issue:Issue: PLANNINGPLANNING
Drawn:Drawn: Checked:Checked:

EAEAATAT
Approved:Approved:

KOKO

Revision:Revision:
0000

1:5001:500
Scale @ A1:Scale @ A1:

Project:Project:

THORNTON – FLEETWOODTHORNTON – FLEETWOOD
ROAD NORTHROAD NORTH

REV.REV. DATEDATE DESCRIPTIONDESCRIPTION DRAWNDRAWN CHK'DCHK'D

A:   A:   Ground Floor, The Tower,Ground Floor, The Tower,
       Deva City Office Park, Trinity Way,       Deva City Office Park, Trinity Way,
       Manchester M3 7BF       Manchester M3 7BF

T:T:    +44 (0) 161 312 3131    +44 (0) 161 312 3131

weareurbangreen.co.ukweareurbangreen.co.uk

P:\Admin\IT\CAD Standards\2. UG CAD Templates Arboriculture\ARB Templates\Inserts\UG_Logo_Full_Black_CMYK.jpg

Category A tree, group or hedgeCategory A tree, group or hedge

Category B tree, group or hedgeCategory B tree, group or hedge

Category C tree, group or hedgeCategory C tree, group or hedge

Category U tree, group or hedgeCategory U tree, group or hedge

Root Protection Area (RPA)Root Protection Area (RPA)

Position estimated on sitePosition estimated on site##

P
age 95



UG827 Fleetwood Road, Thornton Surveyors: Karen O'Shea and Elizabeth Anderson Survey Date: 19/02/21

N
W E (m)

S

Semi-Mature

4 20-40
4 4

4 C
n/a 3

Semi-Mature

4 20-40
4 4

4 C
n/a 3

Semi-Mature

2 20-40
2 2

2 C
n/a 3

Semi-Mature

1 40+
1 1

1 C
n/a 3

Young

2.5 40+
2.5 2.5

2.5 C
n/a 3

Young

0.5 20-40
0.5 0.5

0.5 C
n/a 3

av

5

1.80

1.92

1.80

0.60

RPA Radius

Fair

Good

Alder (common)

Alnus glutinosa Good
each

av

50

av 1: Area of young trees.

2: Small bark damage on bases of many.
No action required.av

8

av

0.5

Good

Good

G6

Alder (common)

Alnus glutinosa Good

150

1: Relatively young tree.

No action required.

Good
each

av

150

av 1: Mixed group comprising of goat willow and aspen.

2: Multi stemmed at base.
No action required.

T5 7 0.5

Good

Hawthorn

Crataegus monogyna Good

160

1: Unmanaged hedge.

No action required.

H4 0.1

G3
av

5

av

0.1

Reference
T= Tree                                        

G = Group

H = Hedge                 

W = Woodland

Age & Species

C
ro

w
n

 H
t 

(m
)

H
e

ig
h

t 
(m

)

av

6

av

0.5

Mixed

Species

Mixed

Species

D
B

H
 (

m
m

) Life

Expectancy (yrs)

Retention  

Category  

Crown 

Spread (m)
Notes

Structural  

Condition  

Physiological 

Condition
Recommendations

Priority
Inspect

Freq (yrs)

2.40

No action required.

each

G2
av

120

av

Fair

Good

G1
av

5

av

0.5

Willow

Salix sp

av

200

av 1: Multi stemmed at base.

2: Growing on edge or within pond.
No action required.

each

1: 3 aspen and 1 goat willow.

2: Multi stemmed at base.
Good

1.44

P
age 96



UG827 Fleetwood Road, Thornton Surveyors: Karen O'Shea and Elizabeth Anderson Survey Date: 19/02/21

N
W E (m)

S

RPA Radius
Reference

T= Tree                                        

G = Group

H = Hedge                 

W = Woodland

Age & Species

C
ro

w
n

 H
t 

(m
)

H
e

ig
h

t 
(m

)

D
B

H
 (

m
m

) Life

Expectancy (yrs)

Retention  

Category  

Crown 

Spread (m)
Notes

Structural  

Condition  

Physiological 

Condition
Recommendations

Priority
Inspect

Freq (yrs)

Semi-Mature

1.5 40+
1.5 1.5

1.5 C
n/a 3

Semi-Mature

2 20-40
2 2

2 C
n/a 3

Semi-Mature

2.5 40+
2.5 2.5

2.5 C
n/a 3

Semi-Mature

1 40+
1 1

1 C
n/a 3

Semi-Mature

3.5 20-40
3.5 3.5

3.5 C
n/a 3

Semi-Mature

2 20-40
2 2

2 C
n/a 3

Good

1.20
Willow

Salix sp Good
each

Good

1.80

Good

T12 6 0.1 150

1: Exposed roots at base.

2: Stake still at base.
No action required.Alder (common)

Alnus glutinosa

G11
av

5

av

0.1

av

100

av 1: Multi stemmed.

No action required.

2.40

1.56

1.32

G10
av

4

av

0.1

av

100

av 1: Multi stemmed at base.

2: Growing on edge of ditch.
No action required.

Good

1.20
Hawthorn

Crataegus monogyna Good
each

Good

G9
av

5

av

0.1

Good

Good

130

1: Multi stemmed from base.

2: Wound to stem.

3: Growing on edge of ditch.
No action required.

T8 8 2

Crataegus monogyna

Ash 

Fraxinus excelsior

Good

each

av

110

av 1: Multi stemmed at base.

2: Growing on edge of ditch.
No action required.

Mixed

Hawthorn

each

av

200

av 1: Hawthorn and elder.

2: Growing along edge of ditch.

3: Brambles within canopy.G7
av

6

av

0.1

Good

Species Fair

No action required.

P
age 97



UG827 Fleetwood Road, Thornton Surveyors: Karen O'Shea and Elizabeth Anderson Survey Date: 19/02/21

N
W E (m)

S

RPA Radius
Reference

T= Tree                                        

G = Group

H = Hedge                 

W = Woodland

Age & Species

C
ro

w
n

 H
t 

(m
)

H
e

ig
h

t 
(m

)

D
B

H
 (

m
m

) Life

Expectancy (yrs)

Retention  

Category  

Crown 

Spread (m)
Notes

Structural  

Condition  

Physiological 

Condition
Recommendations

Priority
Inspect

Freq (yrs)

Young 

4 20-40
4 4

4 C
n/a 3

Semi-Mature

5 20-40
3 4

3 B
n/a 3

Semi-Mature

4 40+
4 4

4 B
n/a 3

Semi-Mature

3 10-20
3 3

3 C
Low 3

Semi-Mature

2 40+
2 2

2 C
n/a 3

Semi-Mature

3 10-20
3 3

3 C
n/a 3

Fair

3.60
Alder (common)

Alnus glutinosa Fair
each

G17
av

8

av

0.1

G18
av

8

av

0.5

av

300

av 1: 4 trees along ditch.

2: Second from south hollowing with decay and cavities.

3: Northern end tree leaning over ditch.
Monitor.

av

130

av 1: Mixed group comprising of sycamore and hawthorn.

2: Growing on edge of ditch.
No action required.

Fair

3.60
Mixed

Species Fair
each

Good

3.60

Fair

Good

1.56
Mixed

Species Good
each

T16 12 4 300

1: Restricted access to survey.

2: Slight lean to north.

3: Ivy on stem.

4: Possible stem failure as tree significantly moving compared to surrounding 

trees.

Monitor.Willow

Salix spp

G15
av

12

av

3

av

300

av 1: Group comprising of alder and sycamore.

2: Ivy on stems.

3: Restricted access to survey.

4: As a group B, individually C.

No action required.

Fair

3.84
Alder (common)

Alnus glutinosa Fair

G13
av

10

av

0.5

T14 12 2 320

1: Restricted access to survey.

2: Woodpecker holes, possibily indicating decay. 
No action required.

av

150

av 1: Mixed group of willow, sycamore, alder and hawthorn.

2: No access to survey.                                                                                               

3: Growing within waterlogged conditions at time of survey.                                         

4: Willow tall slender form 

No action required.

Fair

3.00
Mixed

Species Fair
each

P
age 98



UG827 Fleetwood Road, Thornton Surveyors: Karen O'Shea and Elizabeth Anderson Survey Date: 19/02/21

N
W E (m)

S

RPA Radius
Reference

T= Tree                                        

G = Group

H = Hedge                 

W = Woodland

Age & Species

C
ro

w
n

 H
t 

(m
)

H
e

ig
h

t 
(m

)

D
B

H
 (

m
m

) Life

Expectancy (yrs)

Retention  

Category  

Crown 

Spread (m)
Notes

Structural  

Condition  

Physiological 

Condition
Recommendations

Priority
Inspect

Freq (yrs)

Semi-Mature

5 10-20
2 4

6 C
Moderate 1

Semi-Mature

5 40+
5 5

5 B
n/a 3

Semi-Mature

2 20-40
5 5

5 C
n/a 3

Semi-Mature

5 40+
5 5

5 B
n/a 3

Semi-Mature

4 20-40
1 4

5 C
n/a 3

Semi-Mature

3 40+
3 3

3 C
n/a 3

Good

3.60
Sycamore

Acer pseudoplatanus Fair

Good

1.80

Fair 

G24
av

7

av

0.1

av

150

av 1: Predominantly hawthorn with some prunus sp.

2: Growing along boundary next to pub car park. 
No action required.Hawthorn

Crataegus monogyna
each

T23 11 0.1 300

1: Growing on eastern side of ditch, out of side of ditch in western direction.

2: Multi stemmed.
No action required.

Good

5.40
Sycamore

Acer pseudoplatanus Good

T21 12 0.1

T22 14 0.1 450

1: Suckering at base.

2: Dead central stem with decay, trying to occlude.

3: Multi stemmed at 3m.
No action required.

270

1: Growing on western side of ditch.

2: Stem lean to south due to neighbouring tree.
No action required.

Fair

7.20
Sycamore

Acer pseudoplatanus Fair

Good

4.80

Good

Good

3.24
Sycamore

Acer pseudoplatanus Good

G20
av

14

av

3

av

400

av 1: Two trees, restricted access to survey.

No action required.Sycamore

Acer pseudoplatanus
each

T19 14 0.1 600

1: Bifurcates at 1.5m.

2: Growing on edge of ditch with decay at base due to water.

3: Holes in trunk, hollowing of stems.

4: Dying at top, in decline.

5: Suckering at base.

Monitor.

P
age 99



UG827 Fleetwood Road, Thornton Surveyors: Karen O'Shea and Elizabeth Anderson Survey Date: 19/02/21

N
W E (m)

S

RPA Radius
Reference

T= Tree                                        

G = Group

H = Hedge                 

W = Woodland

Age & Species

C
ro

w
n

 H
t 

(m
)

H
e

ig
h

t 
(m

)

D
B

H
 (

m
m

) Life

Expectancy (yrs)

Retention  

Category  

Crown 

Spread (m)
Notes

Structural  

Condition  

Physiological 

Condition
Recommendations

Priority
Inspect

Freq (yrs)

Semi-Mature

5 20-40
5 5

5 B
n/a 3

Young

1 20-40
1 1

1 C
n/a 3

Early-Mature

5 20-40
3 6

2 B
n/a 3

Semi-Mature

6 40+
6 6

6 B
n/a 3

Semi-Mature

3 20-40
3 3

3 C
n/a 3

Semi-Mature

2 <10
2 2

2 U
n/a 3

Very Poor

7.80
Wild Pear

Pyrus communis Very Poor

G29
av

10

av

0.1

T30 14 0.1 650

1: Tree in decline.

2: Failed stem.

3: Decay through out stems.
Remove.

av

250

av 1: Mixed group comprising of wild pear, sycamore and elder.

2: Some leaning stems.

3: Some dead trees within group.
No action required.

Good

6.24
Wild Pear

Pyrus communis Good

Good

4.56

Good

Good

3.00
Mixed

Species Fair
each

T28 13 4 380

1: Growing within bramble.

2: No significant defects.
No action required.Sycamore

Acer pseudoplatanus

T27 12 0.5 520

1: Multi stemmed.

2: Minor deadwood.
No action required.

Good

1.20
Willow

Salix spp Fair
each

T25 13 1

G26
av

7

av

0.1

av

100

av 1: Row of dense willow trees.

2: Bark wounds.

3: Enlongated form.
No action required.

280

1: Restricted access to survey.

2: Appears to be in good condition.
No action required.

Fair

3.36
Ash 

Fraxinus excelsior Fair

P
age 100



UG827 Fleetwood Road, Thornton Surveyors: Karen O'Shea and Elizabeth Anderson Survey Date: 19/02/21

N
W E (m)

S

RPA Radius
Reference

T= Tree                                        

G = Group

H = Hedge                 

W = Woodland

Age & Species

C
ro

w
n

 H
t 

(m
)

H
e

ig
h

t 
(m

)

D
B

H
 (

m
m

) Life

Expectancy (yrs)

Retention  

Category  

Crown 

Spread (m)
Notes

Structural  

Condition  

Physiological 

Condition
Recommendations

Priority
Inspect

Freq (yrs)

Semi-Mature

4 20-40
4 4

4 C
n/a 3

Semi-Mature

5 40+
5 5

5 B
n/a 3

Semi-Mature

3 20-40
3 3

3 C
n/a 3

Semi-Mature

2 40+
2 2

2 C
n/a 3

Young

0.5 40+
0.5 0.5

0.5 C
n/a 3

Semi-Mature

6 40+
6 6

6 B
n/a 3

Good

0.84
Mixed

Species Good
each

Good

3.84

Good

G36
av

10

av

1

av

320

av 1: 4 larger stems along boundary with an few smaller trees.

No action required.Sycamore

Acer pseudoplatanus
each

G35
av

4

av

0.1

av

70

av 1: Newly planted shelter belt comprising of hawthorn, oak and holly.

No action required.

Good

0.96
Mixed

Species Good
each

G33
av

7

av

0.1

G34
av

4

av

0.1

av

80

av 1: Scattered group of ash and hawthorn.

No action required.

av

200

av 1: Hawthorn, sycamore and ash.

No action required.

Good

2.64
Sycamore

Acer pseudoplatanus Fair

Good

3.84

Good

Good

2.40
Mixed

Species Fair
each

T32 12 3 320

1: Growing on edge of ditch.

2: Multi stemmed at 4m.
No action required.Sycamore

Acer pseudoplatanus

T31 8 0.1 220

1: Multi stemmed at base.

No action required.

P
age 101



UG827 Fleetwood Road, Thornton Surveyors: Karen O'Shea and Elizabeth Anderson Survey Date: 19/02/21

N
W E (m)

S

RPA Radius
Reference

T= Tree                                        

G = Group

H = Hedge                 

W = Woodland

Age & Species

C
ro

w
n

 H
t 

(m
)

H
e

ig
h

t 
(m

)

D
B

H
 (

m
m

) Life

Expectancy (yrs)

Retention  

Category  

Crown 

Spread (m)
Notes

Structural  

Condition  

Physiological 

Condition
Recommendations

Priority
Inspect

Freq (yrs)

Semi-Mature

2 20-40
2 2

2 C
n/a 3

Semi-Mature

2 40+
2 3

2 C
n/a 3

Semi-Mature

6 40+
6 6

6 B
n/a 3

Semi-Mature

3 10-20
3 3

3 C
n/a 3

Semi-Mature

2.5 20-40
2.5 2.5

2.5 C
n/a 3

Semi-Mature

6 40+
6 6

6 B
n/a 3

Good

3.60
Sycamore

Acer pseudoplatanus Good
each

G41
av

5

av

0.1

G42
av

12

av

1

av

300

av 1: Row of three trees.

2: Restricted access to survey.

3: Minor deadwood.
No action required.

av

150

av 1: Scattered scrubby hawthorn, ash, sycamore and elder.

No action required.

Good

3.60
Sycamore

Acer pseudoplatanus Good

Good

2.40

Fair

Good

1.80
Mixed

Species Good
each

T40 8 1 200

1: Stem lean west.

2: Basal wound to west.

3: Small holes in trunk.

4: Remove if footfall increases.

No action required.Wild Pear

Pyrus communis

T39 11 0.1 300

1: Bifurcates at 3m.

2: Suckering at base.
No action required.

Good

1.44
Sycamore

Acer pseudoplatanus Fair

G37
av

6

av

0.1

T38 6 0.1 120

1: Slight stem lean.

No action required.

av

120

av 1: Sycamore and goat willow.

2: Shrubby form.
No action required.

Good

1.44
Mixed

Species Fair
each

P
age 102



UG827 Fleetwood Road, Thornton Surveyors: Karen O'Shea and Elizabeth Anderson Survey Date: 19/02/21

N
W E (m)

S

RPA Radius
Reference

T= Tree                                        

G = Group

H = Hedge                 

W = Woodland

Age & Species

C
ro

w
n

 H
t 

(m
)

H
e

ig
h

t 
(m

)

D
B

H
 (

m
m

) Life

Expectancy (yrs)

Retention  

Category  

Crown 

Spread (m)
Notes

Structural  

Condition  

Physiological 

Condition
Recommendations

Priority
Inspect

Freq (yrs)

Semi-Mature

3 20-40
3 3

3 C
n/a 3

Semi-Mature

3 40+
8 3

3 B
n/a 3

Semi-Mature

4 20-40
4 4

4 C
n/a 3

Semi-Mature

5 40+
5 5

5 B
n/a 3

Good

2.16
Sycamore

Acer pseudoplatanus Good

T46 7 3 270

1: Part of small wall to south.

No action required.

Good

3.24
Sycamore

Acer pseudoplatanus Good

T45 6 0.1 180

1: 1 main stem with dense suckering at base.

2: Multi stemmed at 3m.

3: Deadwood in canopy.
No action required.

Good

2.40

3.60

av 1: Two groups of sycamore.

2: Multi stemmed.
No action required.Sycamore

Acer pseudoplatanus Fair
each

T44 7 3 300

1: Canopy windswept hence measurements.

2: Minor deadwood.
No action required.

Good

Sycamore

Acer pseudoplatanus Good

G43
av

9

av

0.1

av

200

P
age 103



 

Page 104



Page 105



Page 106



Page 107



Page 108



Page 109



Page 110



Page 111



Page 112



Page 113



Page 114



 

Page 115



TREE EVALUATION METHOD FOR PRESERVATION ORDERS - TEMPO 

SURVEY DATA SHEET & DECISION GUIDE 
 

Date: 02/7/21 Surveyor: EA 
and KO 

 

   

Tree details 
TPO Ref (if applicable): 
No5 of 2021 

  
Tree/Group No: G13 Species: Mixed species  

Owner (if known):  Location: Land to the east of the Iron Horse Public House 

 
REFER TO GUIDANCE NOTE FOR ALL DEFINITIONS 

 

Part 1: Amenity assessment 
a) Condition & suitability for TPO 

 
5) Good Highly suitable 
3) Fair/satisfactory Suitable 
1) Poor Unlikely to be suitable 
0) Dead/dying/dangerous* Unsuitable 
* Relates to existing context and is intended to apply to severe irremediable defects only 

 

b) Retention span (in years) & suitability for TPO 
 

5) 100+ Highly suitable 
4) 40-100 Very suitable 
2) 20-40 Suitable 
1) 10-20 Just suitable 
0) <10* Unsuitable 
*Includes trees which are an existing or near future nuisance, including those clearly outgrowing their context, or which are 
significantly negating the potential of other trees of better quality 

 

c) Relative public visibility & suitability for TPO 
Consider realistic potential for future visibility with changed land use 

 
5) Very large trees with some visibility, or prominent large trees Highly suitable 
4) Large trees, or medium trees clearly visible to the public Suitable 
3) Medium trees, or large trees with limited view only Suitable 
2) Young, small, or medium/large trees visible only with difficulty Barely suitable 
1) Trees not visible to the public, regardless of size Probably unsuitable 

 

d) Other factors 
Trees must have accrued 7 or more points (with no zero score) to qualify 

 
5) Principal components of formal arboricultural features, or veteran trees 
4) Tree groups, or principal members of groups important for their cohesion 
3) Trees with identifiable historic, commemorative or habitat importance 
2) Trees of particularly good form, especially if rare or unusual 
1) Trees with none of the above additional redeeming features (inc. those of indifferent form) 
-1) Trees with poor form or which are generally unsuitable for their location 

Part 2: Expediency assessment 
Trees must have accrued 10 or more points to qualify 

 
5) Immediate threat to tree inc. s.211 Notice 
3) Foreseeable threat to tree 
2) Perceived threat to tree 
1) Precautionary only 

Part 3: Decision guide 
 

Any 0 Do not apply TPO 
1-6 TPO indefensible 
7-11 Does not merit TPO 
12-15 TPO defensible 
16+ Definitely merits TPO 

Decision:  TPO indefensible  Add Scores for Total:  5 

Score & Notes   

Score & Notes    

Score & Notes  2 

Score & Notes  2 

Score & Notes   1 

Page 116



TREE EVALUATION METHOD FOR PRESERVATION ORDERS - TEMPO 

SURVEY DATA SHEET & DECISION GUIDE 
 

Date: 02/7/21 Surveyor: EA 
and KO 

 

   

Tree details 
TPO Ref (if applicable): 
No5 of 2021 

  
Tree/Group No: T14 Species: Alder  

Owner (if known):  Location: Land to the east of the Iron Horse Public House 

 
REFER TO GUIDANCE NOTE FOR ALL DEFINITIONS 

 

Part 1: Amenity assessment 
a) Condition & suitability for TPO 

 
5) Good Highly suitable 
3) Fair/satisfactory Suitable 
1) Poor Unlikely to be suitable 
0) Dead/dying/dangerous* Unsuitable 
* Relates to existing context and is intended to apply to severe irremediable defects only 

 

b) Retention span (in years) & suitability for TPO 
 

5) 100+ Highly suitable 
4) 40-100 Very suitable 
2) 20-40 Suitable 
1) 10-20 Just suitable 
0) <10* Unsuitable 
*Includes trees which are an existing or near future nuisance, including those clearly outgrowing their context, or which are 
significantly negating the potential of other trees of better quality 

 

c) Relative public visibility & suitability for TPO 
Consider realistic potential for future visibility with changed land use 

 
5) Very large trees with some visibility, or prominent large trees Highly suitable 
4) Large trees, or medium trees clearly visible to the public Suitable 
3) Medium trees, or large trees with limited view only Suitable 
2) Young, small, or medium/large trees visible only with difficulty Barely suitable 
1) Trees not visible to the public, regardless of size Probably unsuitable 

 

d) Other factors 
Trees must have accrued 7 or more points (with no zero score) to qualify 

 
5) Principal components of formal arboricultural features, or veteran trees 
4) Tree groups, or principal members of groups important for their cohesion 
3) Trees with identifiable historic, commemorative or habitat importance 
2) Trees of particularly good form, especially if rare or unusual 
1) Trees with none of the above additional redeeming features (inc. those of indifferent form) 
-1) Trees with poor form or which are generally unsuitable for their location 

Part 2: Expediency assessment 
Trees must have accrued 10 or more points to qualify 

 
5) Immediate threat to tree inc. s.211 Notice 
3) Foreseeable threat to tree 
2) Perceived threat to tree 
1) Precautionary only 

Part 3: Decision guide 
 

Any 0 Do not apply TPO 
1-6 TPO indefensible 
7-11 Does not merit TPO 
12-15 TPO defensible 
16+ Definitely merits TPO 

Decision:  TPO indefensible   Add Scores for Total:  5 

Score & Notes  

Score & Notes    

Score & Notes  2 

Score & Notes  2 

Score & Notes   1  

Page 117



TREE EVALUATION METHOD FOR PRESERVATION ORDERS - TEMPO 

SURVEY DATA SHEET & DECISION GUIDE 
 

Date: 02/7/21 Surveyor: EA 
and KO 

 

   

Tree details 
TPO Ref (if applicable): 
No5 of 2021 

  
Tree/Group No: G15 Species: Mixed species  

Owner (if known):  Location: Land to the east of the Iron Horse Public House 

 
REFER TO GUIDANCE NOTE FOR ALL DEFINITIONS 

 

Part 1: Amenity assessment 
a) Condition & suitability for TPO 

 
5) Good Highly suitable 
3) Fair/satisfactory Suitable 
1) Poor Unlikely to be suitable 
0) Dead/dying/dangerous* Unsuitable 
* Relates to existing context and is intended to apply to severe irremediable defects only 

 

b) Retention span (in years) & suitability for TPO 
 

5) 100+ Highly suitable 
4) 40-100 Very suitable 
2) 20-40 Suitable 
1) 10-20 Just suitable 
0) <10* Unsuitable 
*Includes trees which are an existing or near future nuisance, including those clearly outgrowing their context, or which are 
significantly negating the potential of other trees of better quality 

 

c) Relative public visibility & suitability for TPO 
Consider realistic potential for future visibility with changed land use 

 
5) Very large trees with some visibility, or prominent large trees Highly suitable 
4) Large trees, or medium trees clearly visible to the public Suitable 
3) Medium trees, or large trees with limited view only Suitable 
2) Young, small, or medium/large trees visible only with difficulty Barely suitable 
1) Trees not visible to the public, regardless of size Probably unsuitable 

 

d) Other factors 
Trees must have accrued 7 or more points (with no zero score) to qualify 

 
5) Principal components of formal arboricultural features, or veteran trees 
4) Tree groups, or principal members of groups important for their cohesion 
3) Trees with identifiable historic, commemorative or habitat importance 
2) Trees of particularly good form, especially if rare or unusual 
1) Trees with none of the above additional redeeming features (inc. those of indifferent form) 
-1) Trees with poor form or which are generally unsuitable for their location 

Part 2: Expediency assessment 
Trees must have accrued 10 or more points to qualify 

 
5) Immediate threat to tree inc. s.211 Notice 
3) Foreseeable threat to tree 
2) Perceived threat to tree 
1) Precautionary only 

Part 3: Decision guide 
 

Any 0 Do not apply TPO 
1-6 TPO indefensible 
7-11 Does not merit TPO 
12-15 TPO defensible 
16+ Definitely merits TPO 

Decision:  does no merit 
TPO   

Add Scores for Total:  11 

Score & Notes  2 

Score & Notes   1 

Score & Notes  1 

Score & Notes  4 

Score & Notes   3 – restricted access to survey with ivy 
covered stem. Score could be lower value  

Page 118



TREE EVALUATION METHOD FOR PRESERVATION ORDERS - TEMPO 

SURVEY DATA SHEET & DECISION GUIDE 
 

Date: 02/7/21 Surveyor: EA 
and KO 

 

   

Tree details 
TPO Ref (if applicable): 
No5 of 2021 

  
Tree/Group No: T16 Species: Willow  

Owner (if known):  Location: Land to the east of the Iron Horse Public House 

 
REFER TO GUIDANCE NOTE FOR ALL DEFINITIONS 

 

Part 1: Amenity assessment 
a) Condition & suitability for TPO 

 
5) Good Highly suitable 
3) Fair/satisfactory Suitable 
1) Poor Unlikely to be suitable 
0) Dead/dying/dangerous* Unsuitable 
* Relates to existing context and is intended to apply to severe irremediable defects only 

 

b) Retention span (in years) & suitability for TPO 
 

5) 100+ Highly suitable 
4) 40-100 Very suitable 
2) 20-40 Suitable 
1) 10-20 Just suitable 
0) <10* Unsuitable 
*Includes trees which are an existing or near future nuisance, including those clearly outgrowing their context, or which are 
significantly negating the potential of other trees of better quality 

 

c) Relative public visibility & suitability for TPO 
Consider realistic potential for future visibility with changed land use 

 
5) Very large trees with some visibility, or prominent large trees Highly suitable 
4) Large trees, or medium trees clearly visible to the public Suitable 
3) Medium trees, or large trees with limited view only Suitable 
2) Young, small, or medium/large trees visible only with difficulty Barely suitable 
1) Trees not visible to the public, regardless of size Probably unsuitable 

 

d) Other factors 
Trees must have accrued 7 or more points (with no zero score) to qualify 

 
5) Principal components of formal arboricultural features, or veteran trees 
4) Tree groups, or principal members of groups important for their cohesion 
3) Trees with identifiable historic, commemorative or habitat importance 
2) Trees of particularly good form, especially if rare or unusual 
1) Trees with none of the above additional redeeming features (inc. those of indifferent form) 
-1) Trees with poor form or which are generally unsuitable for their location 

Part 2: Expediency assessment 
Trees must have accrued 10 or more points to qualify 

 
5) Immediate threat to tree inc. s.211 Notice 
3) Foreseeable threat to tree 
2) Perceived threat to tree 
1) Precautionary only 

Part 3: Decision guide 
 

Any 0 Do not apply TPO 
1-6 TPO indefensible 
7-11 Does not merit TPO 
12-15 TPO defensible 
16+ Definitely merits TPO 

Decision:  TPO indefensible   Add Scores for Total:  4 

Score & Notes   

Score & Notes    

Score & Notes  2 

Score & Notes  1 

Score & Notes   1 – Possible stem failure, tree appeared to be 
moving in wind more compared to rest within group  

 

Page 119



TREE EVALUATION METHOD FOR PRESERVATION ORDERS - TEMPO 

SURVEY DATA SHEET & DECISION GUIDE 
 

Date: 02/7/21 Surveyor: EA 
and KO 

 

   

Tree details 
TPO Ref (if applicable): 
No5 of 2021 

  
Tree/Group No: G18 Species: Alder 

Owner (if known):  Location: Land to the east of the Iron Horse Public House 

 
REFER TO GUIDANCE NOTE FOR ALL DEFINITIONS 

 

Part 1: Amenity assessment 
a) Condition & suitability for TPO 

 
5) Good Highly suitable 
3) Fair/satisfactory Suitable 
1) Poor Unlikely to be suitable 
0) Dead/dying/dangerous* Unsuitable 
* Relates to existing context and is intended to apply to severe irremediable defects only 

 

b) Retention span (in years) & suitability for TPO 
 

5) 100+ Highly suitable 
4) 40-100 Very suitable 
2) 20-40 Suitable 
1) 10-20 Just suitable 
0) <10* Unsuitable 
*Includes trees which are an existing or near future nuisance, including those clearly outgrowing their context, or which are 
significantly negating the potential of other trees of better quality 

 

c) Relative public visibility & suitability for TPO 
Consider realistic potential for future visibility with changed land use 

 
5) Very large trees with some visibility, or prominent large trees Highly suitable 
4) Large trees, or medium trees clearly visible to the public Suitable 
3) Medium trees, or large trees with limited view only Suitable 
2) Young, small, or medium/large trees visible only with difficulty Barely suitable 
1) Trees not visible to the public, regardless of size Probably unsuitable 

 

d) Other factors 
Trees must have accrued 7 or more points (with no zero score) to qualify 

 
5) Principal components of formal arboricultural features, or veteran trees 
4) Tree groups, or principal members of groups important for their cohesion 
3) Trees with identifiable historic, commemorative or habitat importance 
2) Trees of particularly good form, especially if rare or unusual 
1) Trees with none of the above additional redeeming features (inc. those of indifferent form) 
-1) Trees with poor form or which are generally unsuitable for their location 

Part 2: Expediency assessment 
Trees must have accrued 10 or more points to qualify 

 
5) Immediate threat to tree inc. s.211 Notice 
3) Foreseeable threat to tree 
2) Perceived threat to tree 
1) Precautionary only 

Part 3: Decision guide 
 

Any 0 Do not apply TPO 
1-6 TPO indefensible 
7-11 Does not merit TPO 
12-15 TPO defensible 
16+ Definitely merits TPO 

Decision:  TPO indefensible   Add Scores for Total:  5 

Score & Notes   

Score & Notes    

Score & Notes  3 

Score & Notes  1 

Score & Notes   1 – Hollowing stems with cavities  

 

Page 120



TREE EVALUATION METHOD FOR PRESERVATION ORDERS - TEMPO 

SURVEY DATA SHEET & DECISION GUIDE 
 

Date: 02/7/21 Surveyor: EA 
and KO 

 

   

Tree details 
TPO Ref (if applicable): 
No5 of 2021 

  
Tree/Group No: Part of G24 Species: Hawthorn  

Owner (if known):  Location: Land to the east of the Iron Horse Public House 

 
REFER TO GUIDANCE NOTE FOR ALL DEFINITIONS 

 

Part 1: Amenity assessment 
a) Condition & suitability for TPO 

 
5) Good Highly suitable 
3) Fair/satisfactory Suitable 
1) Poor Unlikely to be suitable 
0) Dead/dying/dangerous* Unsuitable 
* Relates to existing context and is intended to apply to severe irremediable defects only 

 

b) Retention span (in years) & suitability for TPO 
 

5) 100+ Highly suitable 
4) 40-100 Very suitable 
2) 20-40 Suitable 
1) 10-20 Just suitable 
0) <10* Unsuitable 
*Includes trees which are an existing or near future nuisance, including those clearly outgrowing their context, or which are 
significantly negating the potential of other trees of better quality 

 

c) Relative public visibility & suitability for TPO 
Consider realistic potential for future visibility with changed land use 

 
5) Very large trees with some visibility, or prominent large trees Highly suitable 
4) Large trees, or medium trees clearly visible to the public Suitable 
3) Medium trees, or large trees with limited view only Suitable 
2) Young, small, or medium/large trees visible only with difficulty Barely suitable 
1) Trees not visible to the public, regardless of size Probably unsuitable 

 

d) Other factors 
Trees must have accrued 7 or more points (with no zero score) to qualify 

 
5) Principal components of formal arboricultural features, or veteran trees 
4) Tree groups, or principal members of groups important for their cohesion 
3) Trees with identifiable historic, commemorative or habitat importance 
2) Trees of particularly good form, especially if rare or unusual 
1) Trees with none of the above additional redeeming features (inc. those of indifferent form) 
-1) Trees with poor form or which are generally unsuitable for their location 

Part 2: Expediency assessment 
Trees must have accrued 10 or more points to qualify 

 
5) Immediate threat to tree inc. s.211 Notice 
3) Foreseeable threat to tree 
2) Perceived threat to tree 
1) Precautionary only 

Part 3: Decision guide 
 

Any 0 Do not apply TPO 
1-6 TPO indefensible 
7-11 Does not merit TPO 
12-15 TPO defensible 
16+ Definitely merits TPO 

Decision:  TPO defensible    Add Scores for Total:  13 

Score & Notes  2 

Score & Notes   1 

Score & Notes  3 

Score & Notes  4 

Score & Notes   3 

 

Page 121



TREE EVALUATION METHOD FOR PRESERVATION ORDERS - TEMPO 

SURVEY DATA SHEET & DECISION GUIDE 
 

Date: 02/7/21 Surveyor: EA 
and KO 

 

   

Tree details 
TPO Ref (if applicable): 
No5 of 2021 

  
Tree/Group No: T25 Species: Ash 

Owner (if known):  Location: Land to the east of the Iron Horse Public House 

 
REFER TO GUIDANCE NOTE FOR ALL DEFINITIONS 

 

Part 1: Amenity assessment 
a) Condition & suitability for TPO 

 
5) Good Highly suitable 
3) Fair/satisfactory Suitable 
1) Poor Unlikely to be suitable 
0) Dead/dying/dangerous* Unsuitable 
* Relates to existing context and is intended to apply to severe irremediable defects only 

 

b) Retention span (in years) & suitability for TPO 
 

5) 100+ Highly suitable 
4) 40-100 Very suitable 
2) 20-40 Suitable 
1) 10-20 Just suitable 
0) <10* Unsuitable 
*Includes trees which are an existing or near future nuisance, including those clearly outgrowing their context, or which are 
significantly negating the potential of other trees of better quality 

 

c) Relative public visibility & suitability for TPO 
Consider realistic potential for future visibility with changed land use 

 
5) Very large trees with some visibility, or prominent large trees Highly suitable 
4) Large trees, or medium trees clearly visible to the public Suitable 
3) Medium trees, or large trees with limited view only Suitable 
2) Young, small, or medium/large trees visible only with difficulty Barely suitable 
1) Trees not visible to the public, regardless of size Probably unsuitable 

 

d) Other factors 
Trees must have accrued 7 or more points (with no zero score) to qualify 

 
5) Principal components of formal arboricultural features, or veteran trees 
4) Tree groups, or principal members of groups important for their cohesion 
3) Trees with identifiable historic, commemorative or habitat importance 
2) Trees of particularly good form, especially if rare or unusual 
1) Trees with none of the above additional redeeming features (inc. those of indifferent form) 
-1) Trees with poor form or which are generally unsuitable for their location 

Part 2: Expediency assessment 
Trees must have accrued 10 or more points to qualify 

 
5) Immediate threat to tree inc. s.211 Notice 
3) Foreseeable threat to tree 
2) Perceived threat to tree 
1) Precautionary only 

Part 3: Decision guide 
 

Any 0 Do not apply TPO 
1-6 TPO indefensible 
7-11 Does not merit TPO 
12-15 TPO defensible 
16+ Definitely merits TPO 

Decision:  TPO indefensible   Add Scores for Total:  6 

Score & Notes   

Score & Notes    

Score & Notes  1 

Score & Notes  2 

Score & Notes   3 – not fully accessed due to access. Could not 
assess presence of ash dieback. Score could be lower 

 

Page 122



TREE EVALUATION METHOD FOR PRESERVATION ORDERS - TEMPO 

SURVEY DATA SHEET & DECISION GUIDE 
 

Date: 02/7/21 Surveyor: EA 
and KO 

 

   

Tree details 
TPO Ref (if applicable): 
No5 of 2021 

  
Tree/Group No: G26 Species: Willow 

Owner (if known):  Location: Land to the east of the Iron Horse Public House 

 
REFER TO GUIDANCE NOTE FOR ALL DEFINITIONS 

 

Part 1: Amenity assessment 
a) Condition & suitability for TPO 

 
5) Good Highly suitable 
3) Fair/satisfactory Suitable 
1) Poor Unlikely to be suitable 
0) Dead/dying/dangerous* Unsuitable 
* Relates to existing context and is intended to apply to severe irremediable defects only 

 

b) Retention span (in years) & suitability for TPO 
 

5) 100+ Highly suitable 
4) 40-100 Very suitable 
2) 20-40 Suitable 
1) 10-20 Just suitable 
0) <10* Unsuitable 
*Includes trees which are an existing or near future nuisance, including those clearly outgrowing their context, or which are 
significantly negating the potential of other trees of better quality 

 

c) Relative public visibility & suitability for TPO 
Consider realistic potential for future visibility with changed land use 

 
5) Very large trees with some visibility, or prominent large trees Highly suitable 
4) Large trees, or medium trees clearly visible to the public Suitable 
3) Medium trees, or large trees with limited view only Suitable 
2) Young, small, or medium/large trees visible only with difficulty Barely suitable 
1) Trees not visible to the public, regardless of size Probably unsuitable 

 

d) Other factors 
Trees must have accrued 7 or more points (with no zero score) to qualify 

 
5) Principal components of formal arboricultural features, or veteran trees 
4) Tree groups, or principal members of groups important for their cohesion 
3) Trees with identifiable historic, commemorative or habitat importance 
2) Trees of particularly good form, especially if rare or unusual 
1) Trees with none of the above additional redeeming features (inc. those of indifferent form) 
-1) Trees with poor form or which are generally unsuitable for their location 

Part 2: Expediency assessment 
Trees must have accrued 10 or more points to qualify 

 
5) Immediate threat to tree inc. s.211 Notice 
3) Foreseeable threat to tree 
2) Perceived threat to tree 
1) Precautionary only 

Part 3: Decision guide 
 

Any 0 Do not apply TPO 
1-6 TPO indefensible 
7-11 Does not merit TPO 
12-15 TPO defensible 
16+ Definitely merits TPO 

Decision:  TPO indefensible   Add Scores for Total:  5 

Score & Notes   

Score & Notes    

Score & Notes  2 

Score & Notes  2 

Score & Notes   1 

 

Page 123



TREE EVALUATION METHOD FOR PRESERVATION ORDERS - TEMPO 

SURVEY DATA SHEET & DECISION GUIDE 
 

Date: 02/7/21 Surveyor: EA 
and KO 

 

   

Tree details 
TPO Ref (if applicable): 
No5 of 2021 

  
Tree/Group No: T27 Species: Pear 

Owner (if known):  Location: Land to the east of the Iron Horse Public House 

 
REFER TO GUIDANCE NOTE FOR ALL DEFINITIONS 

 

Part 1: Amenity assessment 
a) Condition & suitability for TPO 

 
5) Good Highly suitable 
3) Fair/satisfactory Suitable 
1) Poor Unlikely to be suitable 
0) Dead/dying/dangerous* Unsuitable 
* Relates to existing context and is intended to apply to severe irremediable defects only 

 

b) Retention span (in years) & suitability for TPO 
 

5) 100+ Highly suitable 
4) 40-100 Very suitable 
2) 20-40 Suitable 
1) 10-20 Just suitable 
0) <10* Unsuitable 
*Includes trees which are an existing or near future nuisance, including those clearly outgrowing their context, or which are 
significantly negating the potential of other trees of better quality 

 

c) Relative public visibility & suitability for TPO 
Consider realistic potential for future visibility with changed land use 

 
5) Very large trees with some visibility, or prominent large trees Highly suitable 
4) Large trees, or medium trees clearly visible to the public Suitable 
3) Medium trees, or large trees with limited view only Suitable 
2) Young, small, or medium/large trees visible only with difficulty Barely suitable 
1) Trees not visible to the public, regardless of size Probably unsuitable 

 

d) Other factors 
Trees must have accrued 7 or more points (with no zero score) to qualify 

 
5) Principal components of formal arboricultural features, or veteran trees 
4) Tree groups, or principal members of groups important for their cohesion 
3) Trees with identifiable historic, commemorative or habitat importance 
2) Trees of particularly good form, especially if rare or unusual 
1) Trees with none of the above additional redeeming features (inc. those of indifferent form) 
-1) Trees with poor form or which are generally unsuitable for their location 

Part 2: Expediency assessment 
Trees must have accrued 10 or more points to qualify 

 
5) Immediate threat to tree inc. s.211 Notice 
3) Foreseeable threat to tree 
2) Perceived threat to tree 
1) Precautionary only 

Part 3: Decision guide 
 

Any 0 Do not apply TPO 
1-6 TPO indefensible 
7-11 Does not merit TPO 
12-15 TPO defensible 
16+ Definitely merits TPO 

Decision: Does not merit 
TPO   

Add Scores for Total:  8 

Score & Notes   

Score & Notes   1 

Score & Notes  2 

Score & Notes  2 

Score & Notes   3 

 

Page 124



TREE EVALUATION METHOD FOR PRESERVATION ORDERS - TEMPO 

SURVEY DATA SHEET & DECISION GUIDE 
 

Date: 02/7/21 Surveyor: EA 
and KO 

 

   

Tree details 
TPO Ref (if applicable): 
No5 of 2021 

  
Tree/Group No: T28 Species: Sycamore 

Owner (if known):  Location: Land to the east of the Iron Horse Public House 

 
REFER TO GUIDANCE NOTE FOR ALL DEFINITIONS 

 

Part 1: Amenity assessment 
a) Condition & suitability for TPO 

 
5) Good Highly suitable 
3) Fair/satisfactory Suitable 
1) Poor Unlikely to be suitable 
0) Dead/dying/dangerous* Unsuitable 
* Relates to existing context and is intended to apply to severe irremediable defects only 

 

b) Retention span (in years) & suitability for TPO 
 

5) 100+ Highly suitable 
4) 40-100 Very suitable 
2) 20-40 Suitable 
1) 10-20 Just suitable 
0) <10* Unsuitable 
*Includes trees which are an existing or near future nuisance, including those clearly outgrowing their context, or which are 
significantly negating the potential of other trees of better quality 

 

c) Relative public visibility & suitability for TPO 
Consider realistic potential for future visibility with changed land use 

 
5) Very large trees with some visibility, or prominent large trees Highly suitable 
4) Large trees, or medium trees clearly visible to the public Suitable 
3) Medium trees, or large trees with limited view only Suitable 
2) Young, small, or medium/large trees visible only with difficulty Barely suitable 
1) Trees not visible to the public, regardless of size Probably unsuitable 

 

d) Other factors 
Trees must have accrued 7 or more points (with no zero score) to qualify 

 
5) Principal components of formal arboricultural features, or veteran trees 
4) Tree groups, or principal members of groups important for their cohesion 
3) Trees with identifiable historic, commemorative or habitat importance 
2) Trees of particularly good form, especially if rare or unusual 
1) Trees with none of the above additional redeeming features (inc. those of indifferent form) 
-1) Trees with poor form or which are generally unsuitable for their location 

Part 2: Expediency assessment 
Trees must have accrued 10 or more points to qualify 

 
5) Immediate threat to tree inc. s.211 Notice 
3) Foreseeable threat to tree 
2) Perceived threat to tree 
1) Precautionary only 

Part 3: Decision guide 
 

Any 0 Do not apply TPO 
1-6 TPO indefensible 
7-11 Does not merit TPO 
12-15 TPO defensible 
16+ Definitely merits TPO 

Decision: TPO defensible Add Scores for Total:  12 

Score & Notes  2 

Score & Notes   1 

Score & Notes  2 

Score & Notes  4 

Score & Notes   3 

 

Page 125



TREE EVALUATION METHOD FOR PRESERVATION ORDERS - TEMPO 

SURVEY DATA SHEET & DECISION GUIDE 
 

Date: 02/7/21 Surveyor: EA 
and KO 

 

   

Tree details 
TPO Ref (if applicable): 
No5 of 2021 

  
Tree/Group No: G29 Species: Mixed species  

Owner (if known):  Location: Land to the east of the Iron Horse Public House 

 
REFER TO GUIDANCE NOTE FOR ALL DEFINITIONS 

 

Part 1: Amenity assessment 
a) Condition & suitability for TPO 

 
5) Good Highly suitable 
3) Fair/satisfactory Suitable 
1) Poor Unlikely to be suitable 
0) Dead/dying/dangerous* Unsuitable 
* Relates to existing context and is intended to apply to severe irremediable defects only 

 

b) Retention span (in years) & suitability for TPO 
 

5) 100+ Highly suitable 
4) 40-100 Very suitable 
2) 20-40 Suitable 
1) 10-20 Just suitable 
0) <10* Unsuitable 
*Includes trees which are an existing or near future nuisance, including those clearly outgrowing their context, or which are 
significantly negating the potential of other trees of better quality 

 

c) Relative public visibility & suitability for TPO 
Consider realistic potential for future visibility with changed land use 

 
5) Very large trees with some visibility, or prominent large trees Highly suitable 
4) Large trees, or medium trees clearly visible to the public Suitable 
3) Medium trees, or large trees with limited view only Suitable 
2) Young, small, or medium/large trees visible only with difficulty Barely suitable 
1) Trees not visible to the public, regardless of size Probably unsuitable 

 

d) Other factors 
Trees must have accrued 7 or more points (with no zero score) to qualify 

 
5) Principal components of formal arboricultural features, or veteran trees 
4) Tree groups, or principal members of groups important for their cohesion 
3) Trees with identifiable historic, commemorative or habitat importance 
2) Trees of particularly good form, especially if rare or unusual 
1) Trees with none of the above additional redeeming features (inc. those of indifferent form) 
-1) Trees with poor form or which are generally unsuitable for their location 

Part 2: Expediency assessment 
Trees must have accrued 10 or more points to qualify 

 
5) Immediate threat to tree inc. s.211 Notice 
3) Foreseeable threat to tree 
2) Perceived threat to tree 
1) Precautionary only 

Part 3: Decision guide 
 

Any 0 Do not apply TPO 
1-6 TPO indefensible 
7-11 Does not merit TPO 
12-15 TPO defensible 
16+ Definitely merits TPO 

Decision: TPO indefensible Add Scores for Total:  5 

Score & Notes   

Score & Notes    

Score & Notes  2 

Score & Notes  2 

Score & Notes   1 

Page 126


	Agenda
	4 Appeals
	Appeal Decision 3275141
	Appeal Decision 3275045
	Costs Appeal Decision 3275045

	5a Application A - Former Movern Care Home Centre (21/00502/FULMAJ)
	Plan - Item 1

	5b Application B - 34-37 High Street Garstang (21/00940/FUL)
	Plan - Item 2

	5c Application C - 43 Hathaway Road Fleetwood (21/00881/FUL)
	Plan - Item 3

	6 Tree Preservation Order
	UG_827_ARB_TPO Objection Report_01_Rev_01.final




